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    This book is dedicated to the military men and women of the wars of my lifetime and the wars to come – ordinary heroes called upon to do things no person on earth should have to do. 
 
    


 
   
 
  

   
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
     “No one won the last war, and no one will win the next war.” 
― Eleanor Roosevelt 
 
    


 
  
 
  


 FOREWORD 
Some people who read this book will say that it is “leftist.”  I choose not to put a label on things, because, in my opinion, nothing is ever black or white; only shades of grey.  Some will say it is anti-war, which it admittedly is.  But this book is really just a fictional story that has been weaved around real facts, all of which are available to anyone with Internet access.  It is based upon leaked documents, news stories, and consultations with persons who were actually involved in war, as I have never been.

   To those who will say it is anti-military, and there will be some, I can assure you that it is not.  The military is an important institution which may be critical in protecting our homeland.  However, the war in Iraq, which forms the setting for this story, was not about protecting the homeland.  It was a war based upon false pretenses and was all about profiteering.  Billions were made by the elite from the trillions spent by the taxpayers.  Thousands of American military men and women’s lives were lost and approximately one million Iraqis died.  It was a war that was sold to the American public by the use of propaganda and the abuse of patriotism.  

   Finally, to those who will claim that it is against our troops, and they will, it is most definitely pro-military, and tells the hypothetical story of one soldier’s life before, during, and after the war.  I hope that you will enjoy it and that it will spark questions of debate in your mind.





 
  


 PROLOGUE 
“You get numb to it.  That’s all I can say.  Numb to death, killing.  You get desensitized to the awful things that happen in war, but you can never forget them.  They come back in your dreams after you finally get back home and they never leave.”

   Slap!

   Pull! 

  Observe! 

   Release! 

   Tap! 

   Squeeze!

   “’SPORTS’ – It’s called the immediate action drill.  Helps remind you what to do if your rifle malfunctions.  It’s drilled into your head in training.  You’re breaking that rifle down and putting it together two hundred times a day and by the time you get over there, you’re doing it like a machine on autopilot.  All the war planning in the world goes out the window when the first shot’s fired in combat.  That adrenaline kicks in, lights you up like a firebomb. But you remember SPORTS because it comes to you automatically, and that rifle’s the most important possession you’ve got.  You’re only alive as long as it’s in your hands.”

   ‘Never surrender as long as there’s a means to resist.’  It’s in the Military Code of Conduct.  But the manta we live by as soldiers is: ‘Never leave any man behind.’  The Soldier’s Creed.  It’s not something you can learn in a book; not a reflex they drill into your heads like SPORTS.  No, it’s a way of life.  Your buddies become your family. 

   “General Smedley Butler said: ‘War is a racket.  It is possibly the oldest, easily the most profitable, surely the most vicious.  It’s the only one in which the profits are reckoned in dollars and the losses in lives.’  Well, I know war.  Probably better than I know anything.  You see in the movies all their charts and maps and plans.  But when you hit the ground it’s pure fucking chaos.  The loud thumping of mortar rounds, helicopters buzzing around, rockets exploding, the rat-a-tat-tat of gunfire.  Guys getting hit.  People screaming, calling out, ‘Medic! Medic!’  Pieces of flaming hot metal flying.  Sweating like shit under all that gear, the fucking smoke.  The blood, the flies, the bodies swelling up in the killing heat, and the smell.  That smell that haunts you the rest of your life.”

   “Get small in your foxholes!  Air support on the way!”

   “They tell us we don’t have to obey any order that’s illegal.  Then they say if we don’t obey orders, we’ll go to jail.  Orders come down from the colonel and I’ve got to give them to my company.  A hundred or more lives under my charge.  What I do on a daily basis decides whether they live or die.  

   “You have to distinguish between the civilians and parties to the conflict at all times.  But, make a mistake and you’ve either killed innocents or you get a whole patrol barraged by rocket propelled grenades and machine gunfire.

   “Rules of engagement say you can use deadly force to protect your life.  I’ve had to make split-second decisions on who to shoot and who not to shoot.  We all have.  Some guys have lit up people carrying bags of groceries heading toward them because they thought they were insurgents coming to blow them up.”

   Better to be judged by 12 than carried by six.

   “I enlisted on a scholarship – a higher education.  I got it alright, but my real education started after the first deployment.  It was then I realized that we weren’t playing by the rules.  We weren’t fighting for honor, for freedom.  That was all a lie.  But we fought.  We fought for our own survival.  We fought for each other.  For the guy to our left and the guy to our right.  I fought for the survival of the entire company.  To go home – that was our only goal.

   “I’ve given orders to guys older than me, who’ve seen more action than I have.  To sergeants who know more about what goes on outside the wire than I do.  I’ve sent the guys out on casualty collection – you’d be talking to your buddy one day, and the next day, you’re picking up pieces of him after he’s been blown to bits by an IED.   Some guys have had to shoot dogs that picked up an arm or a leg and wouldn’t let go of it.  But it’s natural, right?  A dog holding onto a bone?  Why’d a poor dog have to get shot for doing something that comes natural?  But you do what you’ve got to do because everybody comes home.  Dead or alive.  We don’t leave anyone behind.”

   Captain Ryan Bennington suppressed the tears as the unwanted souvenirs that had been muffled and restrained ascended out of the depth of his memory and flooded his brain as he faced his accusers in the courtroom – men who had earned the ranks that he respected.  The Major, pointing an accusatory finger at him and calling him a murderer.  The judge, a Colonel, not unlike the one who had given him the orders that got him into this mess, looking down at him with shame and disdain.  He was at the top of his graduating class at West Point.  Ambitious and anxious to serve his country, at twenty-six years old and with nothing ahead of him but a great future. Then, just two years after commencement, he was carrying the bloody body of an 8-year-old girl as she died in his arms.








 
  


 CHAPTER ONE 
Ryan had tucked the twins in early that evening so he and Maya could have some private time together.  Not easy with two twin girls, but in the days ahead visions of sugar plums would be dancing in their heads and it would be next to impossible to get them to bed.  Alexandra and Kristina had already made their Christmas lists for Santa Claus and couldn’t wait for his arrival.  But there was so much to catch up on. Maya, exhausted had fallen asleep on his shoulder right in the middle of their talk.  He kissed her silky, soft cheek and buried his nose in her freshly washed hair.

 That’s what you call parental romance.

   When Ryan came back from the service, it hadn’t been easy for him to adjust to civilian life.  Although his resume showed him as a graduate from West Point with honors, four tours in the Middle East didn’t do much to fill out his curriculum vitae.  Combat was just not relevant work experience, and there were younger applicants than he with more experience competing for the same jobs.  Sweeping floors or flipping burgers just wasn’t Ryan’s idea of being all he could be.  It was not until he had found his niche in sportswear that he was able to make his way living stateside.  

An all-star basketball player in high school, when Ryan found himself at the crossroads of what to do in his life, he could beat almost anyone on the court, but it still wasn’t good enough for a scholarship, and he couldn’t pay for a higher education.  The Army seemed to be his only way to get there.

   Still, despite his battles with post-traumatic stress disorder, which was now pretty well regulated by anti-anxiety meds, because he’d never wanted to alter his brain with anti-depressants, he was able to come up with a new and innovative basketball shoe that he had sold to Nike.  Ryan used the profits from that sale to build a successful sporting apparel company.  Online sales had just begun to explode, and Ryan felt, for the first time, that he had made it.

   As his eyelids became heavier, he gazed at his sweet Maya in her slumber and thought how fortunate he was to have this life.  Some other guys he knew were not so lucky.  There were ones who didn’t make it back.  There were ones who made it back, but in body only.  Their minds would always be on the battlefield.  And there were the ones who made it back and decided to put an end to the demons that haunted them by taking their own lives.  

***

At six in the morning, their sleep was interrupted by a loud banging at the front door.  Maya stirred and raised her head.

   “I’ll go see what that’s about, you stay in bed.”

   Maya’s head hit the pillow again amid another round of pounding.

   “I’m coming!  I’m coming!”

   Ryan threw the terry cloth robe around his body, hastily tying it in front and ran down the stairs to the door as quickly and as quietly as he could, so as to prevent the girls from waking up.  He opened it to two men in military uniforms.

   “Captain Ryan Bennington?”

   “Yes.”

   “I’m Special Agent Nixon and this is Special Agent McCafferty from CID.  We have an order here for your reinstatement to active duty and apprehension.”

   Ryan blinked his eyes.  He shook his head, not sure if he had heard them correctly.  Was he being arrested?  “Can I see it?”

   Nixon handed over a piece of paper.  Ryan held it in his unsteady hands as he read it.  He looked up at them.

   “Charges are being preferred by your Command for a general court-martial.”

   He looked back down at the paper in disbelief, trying to process the information.  

    “This says I’m suspected of murder.”

   “Yes, sir.  The order requires pretrial confinement pending an Article 32 hearing and general court-martial.  We have to bring you in.  We are required to advise you that you have the right to remain silent and that any statement made may be used against you; that you have the right to retain civilian counsel at your own expense, and the right to request assignment of military counsel; and that the procedures by which pretrial confinement will be reviewed within 72 hours by the officer who issued the order and within seven days by a neutral and detached officer appointed in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Army.”

   Ryan shook his head.  “Wait a minute, I…”

   “You’ll have to come with us, Captain Bennington.”

   “Just let me get dressed and talk to my wife.”

   “You’ve got ten minutes.”

***

Lawyer Brent Marks was back in his element, the historic Santa Barbara Courthouse, going over the points of his argument in his head for the rights of a homeowner against his mortgage company.  As he waited for his turn at the podium, thoughts of all the legal arguments that had been made before him in the almost 90-year-old building flooded his head.  The walls seemed to swell with the contents of the precedents they had absorbed, like the worn cover of an old book in the law library.  His case to stop a wrongful foreclosure was hanging on the edge of losing.  This argument would make it or break it.  He stepped up to address the court, staying focused as his turn was called.

   “Your Honor, after the briefing in this case, on February 18, 2016, the California Supreme Court issued an opinion in Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corporation, which held that, in a non-judicial foreclosure, an allegation that the assignment of the deed of trust was void will support an action for wrongful foreclosure, even if the mortgage holder was in default at the time or not a party to the challenged assignment.

   “In so holding, the Supreme Court ruled that the Court of Appeals erred when it relied on Jenkins v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, which held that the trustor had no standing to enforce the terms of the pooling agreements allegedly violated.

   “This is no different than the case before you, Your Honor.  My client is the owner and trustor in a foreclosure proceeding, who claims that the assignment of his mortgage was a violation of the pooling agreement and is void.  Therefore, he has standing to challenge that assignment.”

   “Thank you, Mr. Marks.  Mr. Levin?”

   Harvey Levin, fat cat lawyer from the Los Angeles firm of Levin, Starwood and Blandt on Flower Avenue in downtown LA, confidently rose and took Brent’s place in front of the judge.  His rich belly swelled against the vest of his three-piece suit, and it looked as if the buttons on it were about to pop open.

   “Your Honor, Mr. Marks is in error.  The Yvanova case does not apply here.  Yvanova only addressed the question of the borrower’s post-foreclosure standing challenging the assignment of the mortgage to another lender.  In this case, there has been no foreclosure yet.  It doesn’t allow a pre-emptive suit to stop a foreclosure.

   “Secondly, Your Honor, Yvanova does not grant a borrower standing to challenge a defective assignment that rendered the assignment voidable.  It only addresses a void assignment.  For all these reasons, the dismissal of the case should stand.”

   Judge Henley glanced back at Brent, who had the last word because he represented the moving party.  “Mr. Marks?”

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  What Mr. Levin proposes is that we would have standing to challenge a void assignment of the mortgage only after my client loses his home to foreclosure, and not before.  That doesn’t make any sense and is not the way I read the case.  That’s like saying that you have to wait for an autopsy to find out whether a patient’s having a heart attack instead of taking emergency measures to revive him.”

   The judge frowned.  You could almost hear him thinking.  “The court will take the matter under submission.  You’ll get my ruling in the mail.”

   Brent’s client, Christopher George, looked like he was about to burst from a combination of curiosity and frustration as Brent led him out of the courtroom.  

  “What does it mean?”

   “It means that the judge either wants to think about it or he doesn’t want to announce his decision in court.  Bottom line is we have to wait.”

   Brent’s cell phone let out an electronic fart.  Can’t these things just ring like regular phones?  He pulled it out of his pocket.  “Excuse me, Chris.”  He put the phone to his ear.  “Brent Marks.”

 “Brent, it’s Melinda, when are you due back?”

 “About five minutes, why?”

 “Because the mother of all cases just walked into your office.”      

 





 
  


 CHAPTER TWO 
Brent’s State Street office was walking distance from the Santa Barbara Courthouse.  He had chosen that location not only because it was in the heart of old Santa Barbara, but because he loved to be able to walk to and from court.  His curiosity piqued, Brent quickened his pace through the quaint streets of the little town he had come to love, turning left on State Street, once a dirt trail where he imagined the Wells Fargo stagecoach rumbling by in the 1800s.

   Upon entering his office, Brent handed his cell phone to his secretary, Melinda Powers.  “Hi, Mimi, could you make this thing ring like a real phone please?”

   She looked up at him with stunning blue eyes and flicked a few strands of her blonde hair out of them.  She took the phone in her hand.  “Oh, Boss, you’re so old-fashioned.  All you have to do is scroll through the ring options and pick the one you like the best.”

   One could be tempted, at first glance, to label Melinda as a dumb blonde, but it would be a mistake to challenge her to a chess game.  She was an intelligent, savvy legal assistant and Brent was lucky to have her, the good looks being an extra bonus as well as a distraction.

   “I don’t have the patience for that.  Now, what is this you were saying about the mother of all cases?”

   “Maya Bennington is waiting in your office.  Her husband is a retired captain in the Army who was just arrested.  He’s facing murder charges in a military court-martial.”

   Brent’s brows raised.  

“You’re getting that gleam in your eyes, Boss.”  

He smiled and turned to go into his office.

   As he entered, a lovely young woman with tan skin looked up at Brent with sad eyes the color of rich amber.  Brent offered his hand.

   “Brent Marks.”

   The lady took his hand and smiled, wearily.  “Maya Bennington.”

   Brent took a seat behind his desk.  “How can I help you, Mrs. Bennington?”

   “I was recommended to you by Catherine Khury, for the work you did on her husband, Ahmed’s case.”

  Brent nodded.   “A wonderful lady.  How is Catherine?”

   “She’s doing well as can be expected under the circumstances.  She said that without you, her life and her children’s lives would be a disaster.”

   Brent felt a twinge of satisfaction.  He liked to hear when his efforts had not only been appreciated, but had ameliorated the lives of his clients.  

“Let’s talk about your case.  Tell me from the beginning.”

   Maya took a deep breath of courage.  

“My husband, Ryan, graduated from West Point on a scholarship when he was very young.  Almost right after graduation, he made captain and was deployed to Iraq and did four tours there.  He got out of the Army in 2008, but now they’ve reinstated him to active duty and are prosecuting him for murder.”  

Tears began to well up in little pools under her eyes.

   “Do you know any circumstances of the charges?”

   She shook her head.  

“No.  Ryan never talks about the war.  At least not to me.”  

The tears streaked down her cheeks as she reached for a Kleenex from the box Brent had placed on his desk, a remnant of the divorce consultations that he didn’t do anymore.  She dabbed it under her eyes.

   “I’m sorry.  I…”

   “Don’t be sorry.  Tell me everything that you do know.”

   Maya regained her composure, took another gulp of air, and continued.  

“Ryan and I were married in 2006, but soon after, he was deployed again.  When he came back from the war in 2008, he was pretty messed up.  The doctors were able to give him medication to help him with his PTSD and I thought that our lives had gone back to normal.  He built a successful sporting wear business and I stayed home to raise our two children.  We were happy.”  Maya sobbed and reached for another Kleenex.  

   “Take your time.”

   “Ryan has an appointed JAG counsel, but he’s also allowed a civilian lawyer.  Would you please go talk to him?  He’s being held at the naval brig in Miramar.  We’d like you to consider handling his case.”

   “Don’t worry, Mrs. Bennington.  I’ll talk to him.  But I don’t any military law experience.”

   “Mr. Marks, we’re not rich, but I want the best for my husband.  And I’ve heard that you’re the best.”

She broke down again.  “I’m sorry for crying.  It all seems so hopeless.”

   Brent smiled and rose from his seat.  “Things are never hopeless.  As long as we’re alive there is always hope.”  

   It always seemed to Brent like a client dumped a load of heavy baggage off their shoulders on a first consultation.  Maya still looked worried, but he sensed she felt better already knowing that he would consider the case.  Brent relished these “David and Goliath” cases against the government.  A staunch supporter of constitutional guarantees of freedom, he was constantly on the lookout for civil rights cases.  He was intrigued by this one, and had a hunch that it may have more to it than what could be seen on the surface.  

***

A deafening blast rocked the inside of the Humvee as the road buckled and erupted like a volcano right under the M1151 in front of them, breaking apart its mine detector and sending it flying like a kid’s toy.  Pieces of rocks and asphalt flew everywhere and smacked and cracked against their windshield as the blown up truck’s engine literally flew out of it and landed on the sand in a burst of smoke and dust.  Specialist Albert Knowles stopped the Humvee immediately.

   Ryan activated the microphone on his Commo set.  “Hold your positions!  Sergeant, send the medics out to the M1151.”

   “Yes, sir.”

   Sergeant Bill Keenes was two days shy of being 34, and on the last two months of his second tour in Iraq.  Still, he was the best counter-IED man Ryan had.  It was going to be tough to replace him after he went home.

   Keenes suited up quickly, grabbed a string of grenades and his kit and left the Humvee.  As the two medics fell in behind him, another fiery explosion sent Keenes flying.

   “Oh, my God!  What the fuck!”

   Ryan opened the door and jumped out.

   “Captain, sir, do you need our help?”

   “Stay put, Specialist, I’ve got this.”

   Ryan coughed through the cloud of dust into which Keenes had simply disappeared.  He wiped the gritty sand from his eyes and saw that the two medics had already found Keenes, or what was left of him – a bloody torso with a lifeless head attached.  Ryan felt the urge to heave coming from deep inside.

   Ryan screamed.  His eyes opened to the grey ceiling of his cell.  He was covered in sweat.  








 
  


 CHAPTER THREE 
Brent was issued a pass at the west gate of the Marine Corps Air Station at Miramar.  He drove along a tree-lined golf course until he saw the massive cluster of light grey buildings and pulled into the visitor’s parking lot.  The outside of the building looked like the front of a school or a post office, with a solitary American flag flying in front of it.  Brent walked in and showed his pass to the receptionist.  

   “Yes, sir, Mr. Marks.  Please have a seat, sir.  Captain Brody from the JAG Corps will be joining you for the visit.”

   Brent took a seat in the bland waiting area and, after about five minutes, a tall man in a crisp Army officer’s uniform entered.  He smiled at Brent.

   “Mr. Marks?”

   Brent rose.  “Yes?”

   “I’m Jeff Brody, Ryan’s appointed counsel.”

   Brody had a Southern American twang in his voice.  He extended his hand and Brent took it in his.  He had a firm, friendly handshake.

   “Pleased to meet you, captain.”

   Brody had friendly, hazel eyes.  He was young enough to be right out of law school, and looked so green around the gills Brent doubted he had seen much action inside of a courtroom, let alone combat.

   “Call me Jeff.  Between lawyers we can dispense with formalities, can’t we?  I thought it would be easier for you to interview Ryan if I was here to show you the way.”

   “That was very considerate of you.”

   Brody motioned for Brent to follow. “We’re usually pretty swamped, but it always makes a case more interesting with civilian counsel.  Different perspective.”

   “Right.”

   Brent didn’t know how to take Brody’s comment, but he treated in on face value.  He followed Brody as he led the way to the visiting room, returning the salutes of guards and they moved along.

   “Here’s the visiting room.  Would you like to meet with him alone?”

   “No, no, that’s okay.  You can sit in.”

   Brody’s ear to ear smile was like a boy who had been promised an ice cream.  A Marine guard unlocked the steel door and they went in.  Ryan was already seated on the stool, which was attached to a small metal table.  

   “Captain Bennington, this is Brent Marks.”

   Ryan rose, and smiled showing no teeth like he was reluctantly posing for an elementary school headshot.  “Mr. Marks.” He extended his hand and shook Brent’s and Brody’s, and they all sat on their respective stools.

   “So, where do I start?”  Ryan looked up at them, his forehead showing lines that were beyond his age.

   “Tell us why the Army thinks you’re guilty of murder.”

   Ryan frowned.  “Have you seen any combat action, Mr. Marks?”

   Brent shook his head.  “No, was never in the service.”

   “Then you may not understand when I say that charging a soldier with murder in a war is like charging someone for rape in a consensual orgy.”

   “They’re saying you ordered civilians killed.”

   Ryan shook his head.  “Civilians were always getting killed, right and left.  Getting blown up by IEDs, blowing themselves up.  You’ve got someone coming at you, sometimes you didn’t know if he was a civilian or insurgent until he was dead and you’re looking down at his body.  Sometimes not even then.  I’m telling you, they don’t want to hear my whole story.”

   “Why not?”

   “Because they’re not playing by the rules out there.  The orders come down from Command.  Sometimes they sound bizarre, but they’re given a clean bill of health by guys like him.”  Ryan motioned with a head nod toward Brody.

   “JAG officers?”

   “Yeah, they advise Command on every order, and don’t think they don’t do it.  They tell us in basic training you have to obey an order or they’ll lock you up in a place like this.  Unless the order is obviously illegal to anyone on its face.  But what if they say that Intel has confirmed a group of high level Al-Qaeda terrorists is holding out in a village and order you to go in, kill them, and capture their weapons cache?  What do you do then?”

 Brent nodded.  “Go on.”

   “They were always changing the rules of engagement.  Insurgents don’t wear uniforms.  Sometimes you can’t tell who they are until it’s too late.  We were supposed to fire if our lives were threatened.  Just shoot and the commanders will back us up.  Once they told us to fire on all taxis, because of Intel they had that insurgents were using taxis to get around.  It was crazy.”

   Ryan looked hurt, depressed.  “I mean, when it’s fucking chaos and there’s someone behind every corner with a gun or a bomb ready to nail your ass, what do you do in a situation where the fucking brass tells you you’re headed right into the snake pit to take out the enemy?  You’re a 26-year-old officer in command of a bunch of troopers.  What do you do?”

   “That’s a good question, Ryan, but I assume it’s not a hypothetical.  What did you do?”

   “What did I do?  What every other combat officer in the field does.  I studied the Intel that came in, confirmed the hostiles that were targeted, and gave the order to my men to take them out.  They gave us Level B LOAC training, but we’re not lawyers, man.”

   Brody chimed in, “Law of Armed Conflict training.”

   “Everything looked legit and they’re the fucking brass.  This order came from all the way up, and now they’ve been caught with their pants down and they’re looking at the bottom for a goat.”

   “What happened, Ryan?”

   Ryan put his face in his hands, sighed, and looked up with heavy eyes.

   “Man, we were set up!  I’m telling you, civilians get hit all the time!  If they turn out to be unarmed, Command tells us to put drop weapons on their bodies.”

   “Drop weapons?”

   “Yeah, like a shovel or a knife or something that makes it look like they were armed.”

   “What did your Command tell you about the ROE on your mission?”  

   Ryan looked at Brody curiously.

   “What?”

   “Did your Command authorize deadly force?”

   “Of course, man!  We were supposed to kill everybody and recover their weapons.  Intelligence and combat support marked each house.  We were ordered to go in at night under cover of darkness, knock down the doors and shoot any military age male who didn’t surrender.  You’ve heard of ‘one false move and you’re dead?’  That was it.” 

   Ryan’s head fell back down in his hands.  Brent prodded him.

   “Go on, Ryan.”

   “Man, I went through years of therapy to get these images out of my head.  Now you want me to bring them all back?”

   “We can’t help you unless you tell us.”

   “You can’t help me, man.  This shit is bigger than all of us.  There were no Al-Qaeda terrorists in that village and no weapons just like there were never any WMDs in the whole fucking country.  It was all a big lie.  So I guess that makes everyone in boots on the ground a murderer, huh?”








 
  


 CHAPTER FOUR 
“Our mission was to terminate the Al-Qaeda spies that had been identified by Army Intelligence who were not actively surrendering to us and to confiscate their weapons.  I was told by my CO that the order came from ‘high up’ and that it was a very important mission.  My orders were classified.

   “They told us they were giving the Iraqi police the credit for this mission.  But that’s not what happened.”

   “What happened?”

   “After the mission was over, the newspapers reported that it was a slaughter of civilians by Al-Qaeda.”

   “Why do you suppose they did that?”

   “It was planted, man.  It’s called perception management.  They used us as pawns to stir up evidence that their dumb ass war was justified.  It had CIA written all over it.  Think about it.  I have for years.  We went in there to find weapons of mass destruction and what do we find?  Nothing, that’s what.  Then we go in to free the Iraqis.  Well, we freed them alright.  Do you know there was over a million Iraqis killed?  A million, man, that’s four percent of their entire population!  And thousands of us getting blown up, but they don’t care.  Now you tell me what we were doing there, besides making money for Cheney and Bush and all their goddamn cronies.”

   “You still haven’t told us what happened.”

   “We followed our orders, that’s what happened.  I assigned a team to each marked house.  We broke down the doors and killed all the men inside.”

   “So you were told that military intelligence identified the men in these houses as spies and they were sitting on a stockpile of weapons?”

   “Yes.”

   “And you killed them, as you were ordered, is that correct?”

   “Yes.  We were prepared for the worst.  They told us that these guys would be heavily armed and they told us to go in hot, which basically means guns blazing.”

   “Were they armed?”

   “No, man, they weren’t, but we didn’t know that until it was all over.  We busted down the doors.  There were whole families in there.  Some of the men had guns, but no AK-47s or anything.  Everyone was screaming.  It was pure chaos.  We shot them all before they knew what was going on.  My guys were coming out of the houses, throwing up.  But they did what they were told to do, just like Command knew they would.”

   “Then what happened?”

   “My orders were to execute the mission, then get out of there.  That’s what we did.  We shot everyone except a few that did surrender and went back to the FOB and turned in our prisoners.”

   “And that was that?”

   “That was that.”

   “Your CO didn’t discipline you?”

   “He didn’t even talk to me about it.  Just said ‘good job’ and I filed my report.”

   “Do you have any witnesses who can corroborate your story?”

   “Man, this is military law.  Brody here will tell you that the buck stops with me.  I’m the captain, I gave the order.  It doesn’t go any farther than that.”

   Brody nodded in validation.

   “The soldiers will tell the truth – whichever way it goes for me.  What you see is what you get with them.”  

   “Would any one of them know that you were given the wrong intelligence – that you were set up?”

   “Well, there was one guy who was tapped out by Special Ops.  Freaky CIA shit.  After that I never saw him again.”

   “Tell me about him.”

   “Name’s Sergeant First Class Jamal Abama.  Spoke perfect Arabic.  But I’m not sure if he’ll talk about anything.”

   “Where can we find him?”

   “Don’t know where he is now, but he came from the suburbs of Detroit – Sterling something.  There’s a big Arabic American community out there.”  Ryan paused and looked at Brent with hopeful eyes.  “So, are you going to take my case?”

   “I don’t have a lot of military law experience, Ryan.  I had an office near Hueneme and Point Mugu for a few years, but never had a capital case.  But, if you agree, I’ll represent you.”

   “And Captain Brody?”

   “You’re stuck with me, if you want me.”

   “I think Captain Brody would be extremely helpful to us, Ryan.”

   “Okay, then.  Let’s do it.  What about getting me out of this hell hole?  I’ve got a business to run and my wife’s going crazy without me at home.”

   Brody answered, “I’m trying to convince your Command that a less restrictive form of restraint is warranted.”

   “Good.  Brody, you stay on that and I’ll start working on marshaling our evidence.  If they don’t release Ryan, we may have to seek a writ.”

***

After Brent left Miramar, he did what was his custom on any new case.  He called up his friend and investigator, Jack Ruder.  Jack was an ex-FBI agent who couldn’t stand the boredom of retirement, so he had hung up a shingle as a private investigator.  

   “Hey, Jack, it’s Brent.”

 “Yo, Brent.  What’s up?”

   “I’ve got a case you might be interested in.  It’s a military court-martial for murder.”

   “The M-word, huh?  When do you want to get together and talk about it?”

   “Well, I’m leaving Miramar now and should be back in a little less than four hours.”

   “Sounds like you’ll be just in time for a beer and a burger.”

   “I was thinking more like a beer and a taco, actually.”

   “Los Agaves?”

   “Sounds good.  I’ll call you when I’m about half an hour away.”

   Brent disconnected, checked with Melinda for messages, and drove out of the base, fixing his eyes on the road and his mind on the case.  Long drives were a good opportunity to organize random thoughts.  He’d never been in the service, didn’t know anything about combat, but he had seen what the government could do to people.  Soldiers were its indentured servants, a step away from being a slave, thrown into perilous situations where risk of death was a daily given.  The system was a loaded deck of cards, with the politicians calling the shots, the defense contractors pulling out their wallets to support their campaigns, and the boys and girls at the bottom doing the fighting and the dying in the name of God and country.

   The flashing white lines on the grey road faded as the sun went down, and then they turned into glowing lights from their reflectors.  The time seemed to melt away as Brent contemplated the case.

   Usually, the call to arms was laced with ample flag waving and a strong dose of patriotism.  With the Iraq War, there had been hardly any attention paid to pretense.  What had before been an effort to eloquently craft a coalition of willing allied nations’ support and a UN resolution, such as the one marshaled by George Bush, Sr., for the invasion of Kuwait in 1990 had turned into the United States’ unilateral decision to invade Iraq in 2003, with only Great Britain, Australia, Spain and Poland by its side and no authority from the United Nations.  That war was supposedly an effort to “disarm” Saddam Hussein, but no weapons of mass destruction were ever found.  Of course, there was always doubt and Brent didn’t know Ryan, but he seemed sincere.  Could the massive fraud which permeated this war have trickled down to Ryan’s situation?  This was the question burning a hole in Brent’s head.

 


 
  


 CHAPTER FIVE 
Brent rolled into the parking lot of Los Agaves on Milpitas Street in Santa Barbara around 7:30, stopped, opened the door and swung his stiff legs out.  When he entered the restaurant to the sizzling steam of fajitas and the churning of Margarita blenders, he saw Jack Ruder at the corner table, his favorite.  Brent approached Jack and greeted him with a warm handshake.

   “Tough trip?”

   “Not as tough as being there.”

   Brent took a seat across from Jack as the waitress approached them and took their orders.  Brent made his in his first language – Spanish.  He was born in the States but his father was from Spain.  It was always a pleasure for him to speak the language, and living in Santa Barbara gave him plenty of opportunities.  She took their orders from memory, with a smile, and strutted off to fill them.

   “I heard a good one today, wanna hear it?”

   Brent rolled his eyes.  “If you must.”

   “What do you call a clairvoyant dwarf who just escaped from prison?”

   Brent rested his head on his fist.  “I give up.”

   “A small medium at large.”  Jack burst out in laughter.  Brent smiled.

   “That’s a joke, right?  Because with that straight-laced cop look, I never know if you’re joking or being serious.”

   Jack frowned.  His years in the LAPD and the FBI had branded him with that Joe Friday “cop look.”  It was a real impediment to undercover work, not to mention joke-telling.

   “Very funny.”

   “My sentiments exactly.  No really, Jack.  It’s a dopey joke – kind of like ‘Why was six afraid of seven?’”

   “I’ve never heard that one.”

   “Because seven ate nine.”

   Jack laughed again.  “But that’s funny.”

   “Not for the hundredth time it isn’t.”

   The waitress set down two cold bottles of Corona with slices of lime protruding from the necks, a plate of menudo for Brent and beef fajitas for Jack.  As they ate, Brent filled him in on his interview with Ryan Bennington.

   “So you’re thinking we should start in Michigan, right?”

   “Good guess.  You may not be able to tell a joke but you’re the best detective I’ve ever met.”

   “I’ll need somewhere to start.  Can you get a list of everyone who was under his command?”

   Brent grinned.  “Already got that from a very efficient JAG lawyer named Jeff Brody, my co-counsel.”

   Brent reached into his briefcase, withdrew the list and slid it across the table to Jack.  “It also has the name of his CO, Colonel Lewis Parker.  Retired, lives in Austin.”

   Jack laughed and did the best Elvis imitation that an ex-FBI agent could be expected to do, and in his best Elvis voice he said, “Colonel Parker, huh?”

   Brent gave him a dead pan look.  

   “Not funny either?”

   Brent shook his head.  “Stick to investigative work, Jack.  We’ve got an Article 32 hearing coming up in less than a month so it would be good if we could identify any witnesses in our favor before that.”

   “What’s an Article 32 hearing?”

   “It’s kind of like a combination between an indictment and a preliminary hearing, before the actual court-martial.  With a little luck, we may be able to talk them out of pressing charges.”

   As was their usual practice, they divided up the investigation workload.  Brent would pay a visit to Colonel Parker, who was expected to be about as open as a Pismo clam, and Jack would do a full background check on all the soldiers on the list, then proceed to interview each one to shake out possible witnesses or questions for Brent to use on cross-examination at the Article 32 hearing.  Little did they know that this would be no ordinary investigation.








 
  


 CHAPTER SIX 
Brent walked into the office the next morning to Rebecca Bekker sitting in the waiting room.  Rebecca’s father, Allen, was a former client who had been murdered by a group of cyber stalkers who had hired a contract killer to do their deadly bidding.  Young and stunning, with hauntingly exquisite dark eyes, Rebecca had matured well beyond her young years and had an air of sophistication that no amount of money could ever buy.  She beamed when Brent entered and stood to greet him.

   “Ms. Bekker, what a pleasant surprise!”

   She extended a slender hand, which Brent took in his.  Her grip was warm, friendly and feminine.  She smelled like a combination of fresh soap and lightly flowered perfume.

   “Didn’t I ask you to call me Rebecca?”

   Brent smiled.  “You did and I will if you’ll call me Brent.  Please come in.”  

   Brent motioned to his private office, the wood paneled inner sanctum where many a client had revealed his or her deepest confidences, and the strategies for countless courtroom battles had been devised.  Rebecca entered and eased her slender form into one of two wooden client chairs before Brent’s desk.  The wooden chairs and the imposing desk were no accident.  Brent had purposely selected them to put a barrier between himself and the client, which was just the opposite of what he had learned in law school.  When interviewing clients, they had taught him, you must eliminate all barriers – make it personal.  But he learned later on that, in practice, you had to maintain some kind of space or else you’d lose your authority position.  You wanted your client to trust you, but not to think you’d become their best buddy.  At this moment, Brent was glad those barriers were in place.  Rebecca was an attractive young woman and he was so attracted to her, he had to keep himself, and his libido, in check.  Ethics and common courtesy demanded nothing less, but his eyes seemed to be enslaved by her beauty, drawn to her exquisite face.

   “How can I help you today, Rebecca?”

   Rebecca looked down, then back at Brent with her enticing smoky eyes.  There was always a strength, as well as a sadness, in them.  “I’m tired of fighting.  I want this case to come to an end.”

   When Rebecca’s father was murdered, her first priority was to find his killer.  For that, she had hired Jack Ruder.  But she subsequently ran into a wall of litigation from the government, who had suspected her father of securities fraud and wanted to stick their hands into the pie.  Unfortunately for the government, Allan Bekker had died before it could indict him, but it still pressed on with its forfeiture claim, which allowed them to seize property they believed was gained with the proceeds from criminal activity.  

   “You mean the civil forfeiture case?”

   Rebecca nodded.  “I want to move on.  All this pressure and uncertainty, I don’t know, it just prevents closure.  And I need to put it behind me.  Besides, if Daddy really got all these things by nefarious means, I don’t want them.”

 Brent shook his head.

   “Well, that’s exactly what the government has to prove to take them away from you.  And I don’t think they can.”

   “But there’s a risk, isn’t there?”

   “There’s always a risk in every case.”

   “I’d like to settle.  They can have the boat, the cars, the plane.  I just want to keep the house.”

   Brent held his hand up in a restraining gesture.  “Whoa, wait a minute.  Let’s not give away the farm.  How does this sound?  I’ll feel them out; see what they may be willing to do.”

   Rebecca looked at him curiously.  “How can you do that?”

   “It’s easy.  In any negotiation, the one who first gives a number is the loser.  I’ll simply beat around the bush and wait for them to give me a number, and we’ll work it down from there.”

   “That sounds good to me.  As long as I can close the book on this.  I don’t want to go to trial.”

   “We can never let them know that, Rebecca.  The government’s lawyers want to look good.  If they can get some money, it’ll put a feather in their caps, and they can move on to the next victim.  But we must always be willing to fight to the bitter end.  If they catch wind of your change of heart, you’ll be at a serious disadvantage.”

   “You know best.  But won’t they suspect that they’ve worn me down if you ask about a settlement?”

   “We have a mediation coming up and the judge will expect me to make a good faith effort to settle the case.  The government knows that.  If I put our position in financial terms, reduce everything to dollars and cents, it won’t look like a sign of weakness.  A trial is going to cost you a lot of money, not to mention the time you’ll waste when you could be engaged in other pursuits.  I’ll open up with the fact that you may be willing to discuss settlement to save the money you’re already prepared to spend on a trial.”

   Rebecca’s perfect lips curled into a warm smile of satisfaction.  Brent remained fixed on her face until a buzz from Melinda snapped him out of it.  He picked up the phone.

   “Yes?”

 “Mrs. Bennington is here for her 11 a.m. appointment.”

 Brent cupped his hand over the phone.  “I’ve got another client, sorry.”

   Rebecca nodded, and waved her hand in compliance as Brent terminated the call.  “Tell her to wait, we’re just finishing up.”

   As much as Brent had enjoyed seeing Rebecca, even for an unscheduled appointment, he bade her farewell and walked her to the door, where he also greeted Maya Bennington.  Maya’s foray into the legal process was just beginning.

 





 
  


 CHAPTER SEVEN 
Malik Abdul raised the huge scimitar and the gleam from the thin strip of moonlight bounced off its blade in a blinding flash.  He slammed it down forcefully, slicing through skin and bone, sheathed it, then bent down and picked up the object of his labor – a human head.  He held the head up and suddenly, its eyes opened and it glared at Malik.  Then, the bloody mouth started to laugh.

   Robert Garcia sat straight up in his bed and gasped for air.  It was always the same recurring nightmare.  But the real problem for him was that it was not a dream.  It was a memory.  At first he didn’t recognize where he was.  It was always that way.  He was hyperventilating.  He was naked, soaked in his own sweat.  Finding himself not restrained in any way, he hopped off the bed, standing at ready position, with his feet shoulder length apart and knees flexed.  As his eyes adjusted to the darkness, he quickly looked around the room for anything that could be used as a weapon.  It was then that he realized he was not in the Middle East, and that he was no longer Malik Abdul.








 
  


 CHAPTER EIGHT 
Jack slouched over the table.  He pushed his cup of coffee out of the way and went over the list again of the names of the soldiers who were still living.  They were scattered all over the US, which would make it difficult to get them into court as witnesses.  Maya Bennington had leveraged Ryan’s retirement plan and some store assets to pay for his defense, but the budget wasn’t unlimited, so Jack had to plan his field investigation very carefully.  However, since Ryan’s freedom was priceless, the primary objective was to locate credible witnesses who could help to extricate him, and all the skimping would be done on expenses which meant Southwest Airlines instead of first class and Motel 6 instead of five stars.  

 Jack decided to start with his lead on the witness who had been mentioned by Ryan – Jamul Abama.  Jack’s research had hit a dead end right after Abama’s military record.  It was like he had died or had disappeared off the face of the earth.  The only photograph he could find of Abama was from the military archives and was at least ten years old.  He set out on the red-eye for Detroit – Abama had once called the suburbs of the Motor City his home – and that was the only logical beginning point.  

***

Brent divided his time between preparing for Ryan’s Article 32 hearing and Rebecca’s mediation.  As the day came to a close, he put the finishing touches on his mediation brief and sent the dictation to Melinda by email.  After the mediation tomorrow, Brent would head for the airport for a flight to Austin to interview Colonel Parker.  

***

When Jack drifted into Sterling Heights, he cruised around to get a feel for the place.  It seemed to be picture-perfect suburbia, with green lawn carpets, malls and mega movie theaters.  Everywhere he looked, everyone seemed to be Caucasian.  

 They should have named this place Sterling Whites.

   He headed for what was known as the “Arab” part of town and took a motel on 15 Mile Road.  After dumping off his overnight bag and pausing for a quick shower and a shave, Jack hit the neighborhood with the photo of Abama and a handful of questions.

   He worked the area in grids, talking to the managers of the flower shops, drug stores, eateries, and even the local Walmart but, after three hours of pounding the pavement, he ended up with nothing.  He felt like a magazine salesman with no subscriptions.

   Finally, Jack went into a liquor store that had signs in Arabic and English.  He showed the photo to an aging Lebanese man at the cash register.  The man looked down at the photograph, then back up at Jack inquisitively.  Every line on the man’s face seemed to hold a story of his years, like the rings of a tree trunk.  The man ran his fingers through his furry grey mustache, reflectively.

   “What is your interest in this man?”

   “I’m a private investigator trying to locate witnesses to help my client in a court-martial case.”  

Jack showed his ID and PI license to the man, who looked at them and nodded.

   “He looks a lot like one of our customers.”

   “Do you know his name?”

   The old man reached under his counter and put on a pair of wire-rimmed spectacles.  He examined the picture and stubbed his finger at the face in it.

   “Yes, I think this could be him.  This looks like Ramul.  He looks a lot older now.”

   Jack frowned.  Ramul was not the answer he was looking for.  “Are you sure his name is Ramul?”

   “Yes, yes, I’m sure.  I saw him just the other day.”

   “Do you know where he lives?  Where he works?”

   The old man shook his head.  “Must live around here somewhere.  Most of our customers live nearby.  As for work, I couldn’t say.  He comes around in the day and at night.  Doesn’t seem to me like a 9 to 5 worker, you know?”

   Jack thanked the man, and left.  He honed in his search around this particular grid, covering every establishment and even talking to people on the street.  It had been a long day and Jack had still not uncovered any leads, but the stubborn sleuth vowed to himself not to quit until he had uncovered some trace of a clue to follow to solve this conundrum.  








 
  


 CHAPTER NINE 
As night began to fall, Jack wandered into an oddly named bar for this area – Jerry’s Bar and Grill.  He took a stool at the bar, which smelled like wet wood and stale beer, and chatted with the bartender, sipping on a beer as he waited for a burger and fries.  The bar wasn’t very crowded but the bartender was still busy cleaning and drying glasses and getting ready for the next shift.  He was white, with a strong build and looked like he could have a name like “Jethro.”  After a few minutes of small talk, Jack put the photo on the counter and asked the man about it.  Jethro leaned in to take a closer look.

   “Yeah, I know him.  I know all the alcoholics in this part of town.”

   “He’s an alcoholic?”

   “And a junkie.  Meth, I think.  He does odd jobs, like painting and home repairs, when he shows up for work.”

   “What’s his name?”

   “He goes by Ramul.  Claims to be American, but then so do a lot of them around here.”

   “You mean the Arabs?”

   “Yeah, people are starting to get nervous about them, what with what’s on TV about suicide bombings and such.  Up to me, I’d ship ‘em all over to Dearborn.  That’s where they all live.  Sterling Heights is a middle-class town.”

   “Do you know where he lives?”

   “No, but if he has any money, chances are he’ll show up here sometime tonight.”

   That was all Jack needed to hear.  He held out a hundred dollar bill, told Jethro he could earn it simply by asking Ramul if he was looking for any handyman work and recommending Jack as a potential employer.  Jethro agreed.

   When he had finished his meal, Jack headed to the motel to pick up the rental car, then back to the bar where he parked in a non-obvious vantage point on the opposite side of the street and waited.  Jack was used to this type of detective work, which was mostly boring, but, just like semi-annual dental checkups, it had to be done.  

   After a few hours, the waiting paid off.  Ramul aka Jamal walked into Jerry’s Bar and Grill.  Jack waited a couple of minutes, and then went in himself.  Ramul was seated at the bar, being reluctantly served by Jethro.  There were two vacant stools to the left of him, so Jack slid onto the far stool, leaving the empty one between them, and ordered a draught.

   Ramul glanced nervously at Jack as he sipped on his beer.  Jack was afraid it may be because of his “cop” look, which he never seemed to be able to wash off.  If Ramul was a junkie, he was probably always nervous about being watched by the police.  In this case, he would be exactly right.  Nevertheless, Jack continued with his plan.  When the bartender came to ask Jack if he wanted another beer, Jack asked him if he knew anyone who could do some handyman work on his house.  

   “You’re in luck tonight, sir.”  Jethro sounded a little stiff and scripted like a B-actor, which caused Jack some concern.  “Ramul here is a handyman.  Ramul, this gentleman is looking for someone to do some work at his home.”

   Ramul half nodded, reluctantly acknowledging Jack, then turned back into his solitude.  “I’m kind of busy with a job right now, so…”  He left the sentence unfinished, and went back to chugging on his beer, signaling that the conversation was over.

   Jack sensed the trepidation on Ramul’s part.  “No worries.  Do you have a card?  I’ll give you a call.”

   Ramul made a sour face as he slammed down his beer mug.  “No, man I don’t have a card.  I said I was busy.”  Ramul raised the mug again, downed the last of his beer in one long guttural gulp, and set down the mug.  He fished into the pocket of his jeans and withdrew some crumpled bills, settled his bar tab with them, slid off the stool and headed for the door.  Jethro shrugged his shoulders at Jack, who threw some cash on the bar and headed out after Ramul.  

   Once on the street, he saw Ramul swiftly walking away.  Jack paced himself to catch up and called out to him when he was a few steps away.  “Ramul, I…”

   Ramul broke into a run and Jack pursued him.  Jack’s cop-look, coupled with his persistence, must have spooked him.  Brent always told him, “You can leave the Bureau, but the Bureau never leaves you.”  Maybe he was right.  Ramul ran frantically down the street, looking back over his shoulder to see if Jack was still on him.  

   “I just want to talk to you!”

   Ramul stepped up his speed and ducked into an alley on his right.  When Jack reached the alley, Ramul had been out of his sight for at least ten seconds.   He looked to his left and to his right, defensively.

 He could be anywhere.

 Jack entered the alley in a trot, exhaling steam in the cold night air and looked all around him as his eyes adjusted to the darkness.  If he had been pursuing a suspect, he would have unsnapped his gun and had his right hand on it.  But this was a potential witness, not a suspect, and Jack was unarmed.  Running through this dark alley after an ex-special operations commando made Jack wish he weren’t.  With those guys, there was usually only one move to make – kill or be killed.

   In an instant, the wall reached out and grabbed Jack and lifted him off the ground.  He couldn’t breathe.  Ramul had him in a choke hold.  Jack felt as if he would lose consciousness at any second.  For the first time in his life, he had encountered an opponent against whom he had no defense.

 





 
  


 CHAPTER TEN 
Brent returned home late to nothing but complaints from his orange and white cat, Calico.  He could hear her mewing before he opened the front door.  Upon opening it, instead of purring and rubbing against his leg as was her usual routine, she meowed louder and ran into the kitchen, tail swishing the air.

   “Hello to you, too.”

   The cat continued her wailing until Brent filled her bowl, and then transgressed to purring and crunching.  After gaining his freedom, Brent showered off the day’s work, changed and grabbed some leftovers from the refrigerator for dinner.  After he had finished, he pulled out the mediation file on the Bekker case to review and his cell phone began to vibrate on the coffee table.

 The damn phone again.

   Brent hated the phone.  It was always interrupting his thoughts and whenever he answered it, it was just like opening the mailbox – always bad news.  He never could understand how women could spend so much time chatting on it.  It seemed like such a waste of time.  He reluctantly picked up the phone and forced a cheery voice.  “Brent Marks.”

   “Brent, hi, it’s Rebecca.  Am I bothering you?”

   Brent’s attitude instantly changed.  “No, no, not at all.  What can I do for you?”

   “I’m just a little nervous about tomorrow.”

   “There’s really nothing to be nervous about.  Like I told you the other day, it’s going to be mostly boring for you.  Just a lot of sitting around.”

   “I know.  I guess I can’t help it.  Can we meet?”

   “Tonight?”

   “If it’s no trouble.”  She paused.  “I am bothering you, I can tell.”

   “No, no, that’s fine.  Where should I meet you?”

 “Do you know The French Press?  On State Street?”

   “Sure.”

 “Half an hour?”

   “I’ll meet you there.”

   Brent clicked off the phone and Calico jumped into his lap, purring, licking her chops and kneading his leg with her claws.  He looked down at her. “You can’t come, so don’t even ask.”

***

The man’s grip on Jack’s throat tightened.  He was completely immobilized.  He tried to stomp Ramul’s foot, but his feet were too far apart.  He couldn’t muster any strength to counter the hold or get his chin under Ramul’s elbow so he could breathe.  

   “What do you want from me, man?”

   Jack couldn’t speak to answer.  He was only able to make a choking sound, and he sensed there was no escape from the death grip he was in.  Ramul eased up on Jack’s throat.  He coughed, and then was able to squeeze out a few words.

   “I just wanted to talk to you.”

   “You a fed?”  He tightened his grip around Jack’s throat again, just to remind him who was in charge, then relaxed it a bit.  Jack grunted.

   “No.  I’m a private investigator, trying to help out Captain Bennington.”

   Ramul flipped Jack around so he was facing the wall of the alley.

   “Put your hands against the wall.”

   Jack complied and Ramul smashed his face into the musty alley wall.  While still maintaining pressure on his throat with his right arm, he frisked him with his left hand, and then released the hold.  When Jack turned around, Ramul was still on full alert, with his feet spread apart and hands raised at his sides.

   “You’re lucky I didn’t kill you.”

  Jack clutched his throat.  “Thank you for that.  Can we go somewhere and talk?”

   “Nothing to talk about, man.  That was another life ago.”

   “Aren’t you curious about Captain Bennington?  They’re court-martialing him.”

   Ramul’s eyes widened in surprise.  “Captain’s a good man.  They’ve got no reason to do that.”

   “They think he’s guilty of murder.”

   “If he is, we all are.”

   Jack thought about what would entice Ramul into a conversation, short of a lead pipe or a sawed-off shotgun.

   “Buy you a drink?”

Ramul did not object to Jack’s suggestion, so they headed back to Jethro’s.  

***

Brent slipped into some dress jeans and riffled through his closet for a shirt that didn’t need ironing.  What he really needed was his mom.  She had always made sure all his shirts were ironed when he lived at home.  But she and dad lived in Phoenix now.  Not the greatest place to visit and even a worse place to live.  Dad said it was to save money in their retirement.  Despite the short flight, Brent rarely saw them.  He found a decent blue shirt with sleeves.  With his hazel eyes, blue was a pretty good match – made them appear to be green. 

 But why am I stressing out over what to wear?

 He slipped on the shirt, sprayed some cologne, and made for the door.  Calico followed him curiously, her tail swishing back and forth.

   “Sorry, girl, you’re not invited this time.”

   When Brent arrived at the French Press, he looked through the window and saw Rebecca seated inside, patiently waiting.  He entered and she smiled as he approached.  Brent returned her smile.  He couldn’t shake the feeling that he was on a date, but of course, that would be taboo – Rebecca was a client and Brent didn’t date clients.  After greeting her, he took her drink “order” and went to the counter to get a Cappuccino for her and an Americano for himself.  He watched her fiddle with her iPhone 6S as he waited for the coffee.  

   Brent brought the two steaming cups to the table and sat down across from Rebecca.  “Your coffee, Miss.”  He couldn’t think of what else to say.  She set down her phone and took the Cappuccino with both hands.

   “Thank you.”

   They sipped in silence for a moment, then Brent broke it.  “What did you want to talk about?”

   Rebecca’s eyes twinkled and two dimples appeared in her cheeks.  “I guess I just needed your reassurance.”

   For the next half hour, Brent reviewed the procedure with Rebecca and somehow, after that, the conversation turned to animals.  What that had to do with mediations Brent didn’t know.  Rebecca had a small Pomeranian which she took with her almost everywhere she went.  She had dozens of pictures of the dog on her phone.  Brent, of course, had plenty of cat stories to share, but only one picture, which he used as the screen saver for his iPhone 4.

***

Back at the bar, Jack explained how badly Ryan needed Ramul’s help.

   “I’d like to help him man, but I’d be walking straight into a shit storm.”

   “What do you mean?”

   “What do I mean?  I mean I was with Special Forces.  You heard how we were helping train the Iraqi police?”

   “Yes.”

   “They picked us because we spoke Arabic.  We got special training in hand-to-hand combat and foreign weapons.  We were to totally assimilate into the landscape.  Speak Arabic, wear indigenous clothing, and use foreign weapons.  Walk the walk and talk the talk.  We all had Muslim names.  But we didn’t train anybody over there.”

   “No?”

   “No.  Ask any other soldier if he can break down an AK-47.  Regular army ain’t allowed to use ‘em so they can’t.  Well, I can.  And I can use just about anything to kill somebody.  Even nothing.”

   “I noticed that.”

   “So, you see?  I’m an assassin, trained and managed by Uncle Sam.  I could never testify.  They don’t even know where I am now.  I’m off the grid, man.  I testify, I’m dead.”

   “If I was able to find you, they surely can.”

   “And what if I agree?  I come to California to testify and I die in a mysterious accident on the way there or back?  I’ve already gotten my welcome home package when I got back here – nothin’.  About the best job that was offered to me was sweeping the floor and taking out someone else’s garbage.  And now there’s all this anti-Muslim hate going on here.  I’m not even Muslim, but you should see the way they look at me.”

   “What if we could offer you protection?”

   “Man, you know what they called us in Special Forces?  Death, that’s what.  And they’re the curators of it – the masters.  There’s no way you or anyone could protect me from them.  You need to talk to someone who doesn’t care if he lives or dies.”

 Jack pondered the thought for a moment.  It didn’t sound rhetorical, so he followed Ramul’s lead.

   “You have someone in mind?”

   “Yeah, man.  Our captain.  He became death itself.  Probably wears the hood and carries the big sickle.”

   “He got a name?”

   “I only knew him as Captain Abdul.  Malik, Malik Abdul.  But you’ll never find him.”

   “Where’s he from originally, do you know?”

   “From what I heard, New York City.  But if you go looking for him, best you have eyes planted in the back of your head.  He won’t let you off easily like I did.  He sneaks up on you lie a tiger and strikes like a snake.  Doesn’t bother to wait to find out if it’s friend or foe till after you’re dead.”








 
  


 CHAPTER ELEVEN 
After a successful all-day mediation session with the government on Rebecca Bekker’s case, Brent tried to make his good-byes brief so he could head to Austin to meet with Colonel Parker the following morning, but Rebecca would not have it.  As he made his escape, she matched his pace as he marched down the corridor toward the elevator.

   “You have to let me take you to dinner to celebrate.”

   “Really, Rebecca, you’ve already paid me for my services.  There’s no need for any extras.”

   Before Brent had a chance to push the down button for the elevator, she stood in front of the panel, blocking it with her hands behind her back.

   “Maybe it’s for me then.”

   Brent couldn’t help but smile because she was so cute, and bold.  He feigned a frown.

   “I’m sorry, but I don’t date clients.”

   “Isn’t our matter finished now?”

   “Well yes, but.”

   She pointed at him with an outstretched arm and with her best ‘Donald Trump’ contorted face and pouted lips said, “Then you’re fired!”  and giggled.

 “Somehow it looks better when you do that.  Really though, Rebecca, I have to catch a plane to Austin tomorrow morning.”

   Rebecca looked at him with a coquette look in her eyes and batted her eyelashes.

   “That’s awfully presumptuous of you, Brent.  I was only offering you dinner.”  She looked down, shyly.  Brent felt his cheeks heating up from the comment and hoped he didn’t look like a blushing schoolboy.  

   “Alright, you win, but I pay.”

   She hugged him around the neck and kicked up her heel.  “I know the perfect place.”

   The restaurant was within walking distance of the mediation session.  They exited the building on Figueroa Street and made the short walk to Café Pinot on Fifth Street in downtown Los Angeles.  Once inside, they were led to the courtyard and seated at a table for two on a patio beautifully lit with strings of lights, and between the surrounding trees and candles outlining a small reflection pool.  It was a crisp, California winter evening, but the space heaters made the patio warm and cozy.  The ceiling of twinkling lights looked like tiny reflective stars and cast a warm glow over everything, including Rebecca.  The waiter, dressed in a black suit, came with a bottle of pre-ordered wine and presented it to Brent, showing off the label.

   “Quintarelli Amarone, sir.”

   Brent smiled at Rebecca.  “Good choice.”  She nodded.

 Alan Bekker was a first class jerk, but he knew all about first class, including wine.  Brent was glad Rebecca had inherited the good part of him.  In fact, he had met both of her parents and often wondered if Rebecca had been adopted.  Her mother was a rich bitch showoff who spoke with a false British accent.  In the office, Brent and Melinda referred to her as “Cruella Deville.”

   The waiter poured a sample of the rich red wine for Brent to taste.  Brent held the glass up to the twinkling light, smelled the aroma, then put the glass back on the table and swirled it.  He lifted it to his lips and tasted it.

   “It’s fine.”

 Brent set down the glass.  “Very good, sir.”  The waiter poured first his, then her glass, put the bottle on a silver coaster on the table and left.

   “You’re pretty sneaky, you know.”  Brent held his glass up to toast.

   “That’s your toast for me, sneaky?”

   “You’re also intelligent, and very lovely.”

 “That’s better!”

   They clinked their glasses together.

   Rebecca and Brent continued their personal conversation where they had left off, but this time it went beyond cats and dogs to other things that she felt were important in her life.  Even after having to part with her father’s private jet and yacht for the settlement (which she said were environmental polluters that she never would have used anyway) she was quite a rich girl.  But she also had a budding profession as a magazine publisher.  The online version of her magazine, Clean Life, had become pretty popular on the Internet among environmentalists, supporters and “wannabes”, and featured articles about the environment and how to contribute to its preservation for the generations of residents on the planet to come.  It was an impressive endeavor, and Brent admired her for it.

   “I’m glad I fired you.”

   “What?”

   “I think this is the beginning of a great friendship.”

   Brent’s cell phone rang, and he excused himself and went inside to the bar for privacy.  It was Jack.

 “Hey Jack, what’s up?”

 “Finally a break, that’s what.  I found Jamul Abama.”

 “That’s great!  Did you serve him?”

 “No.”

 “No? Why not?”

 “He wouldn’t have come anyway.  He’s in deep hiding.  Thinks the government’s out to get him.”

 “Jack, you’ve had these kind of guys before.  You should have served him.”

 “Not like this guy.  Look, I’ll explain when I get back from Michigan.  But we’ve got to go to New York.”

 “New York?”

 “Yeah, Abama gave me a lead on a better witness.”

 “Better?  Another guy who’s hiding from the government I guess?”

 “Probably, but with one big difference.”

 “What’s that?”

 “This guy lives and breathes the Soldier’s Creed.”

 “So?”

 “So, he’s not afraid to die to help out one of his compatriots.”

Brent was both enlightened and disappointed by the news.  He wished Jack luck and went back to the dinner.  They would need that luck like oxygen.








 
  


 CHAPTER TWELVE 
Brent set down a bucket of golf balls and leaned his driver and clubs against the stall.  Thanks to Rebecca, he was able to grab a guest pass at Colonel Lewis Parker’s exclusive private golf club that had been closed to outsiders since its opening in 1899.  

   In the stall next to Brent, the colonel fired off a long straight drive, about 250 yards.  Parker followed through the shot with his swing and watched it land.

   “Nice shot.”

   Parker turned his head and smiled.  

   “Thanks.”  He extended his hand to Brent.  “Lewis Parker.”

   “Brent Marks.”

   Parker looked about 65.  Even with the goofy multi-colored plaid golf clothes he wore, Brent could see that he had a formidable build and was in good shape.  

 Who says golf isn’t good exercise?

 Brent set his ball down on a tee and took a couple of practice swings with his driver.  Then, he whacked the ball about 175 yards.

   “Not a bad shot yourself.”  The colonel had a typical Texas drawl when he spoke.

   “Thanks, but not as good as yours.” 

   The colonel set up another ball.  “Where’re you from?”

   “California.”

   The colonel whacked another 220-yarder.

   “Another brilliant drive!”  Brent set up his shot and swung.

   “Thanks.  What brings you to Austin?”  The colonel pulled another ball out of the basket.

   “You, actually.”

   That froze the colonel.  He smile instantly faded and he regarded Brent suspiciously.

   “Me?”

   “Yes, I’m Captain Bennington’s civilian lawyer.”

   The colonel frowned.  “You’ve come a long way for nothing, son.”  He hit the ball, but this time it sliced to the left about 150 yards.

   “The truth is worth pursuing at any distance.”  Brent hit the ball a good 200 yards and straight.

   “What would you know about the truth?”

   “I know that it’s not likely to come out at his Article 32 hearing.  And I know that if you would come clean, the truth would come out.”

   The colonel reached into his Callaway bag and pulled out a cigar.  He held it up to Brent, offering him one.

   “No thanks.”

   The colonel clipped off the cigar, put it in his mouth and burned the end of it with his lighter as he sucked on it, drawing short puffs of smoke as the tip illuminated red.

   “Just what do you think I know that would help your client?”

   “I know that orders were given to put drop weapons on civilian casualties.  I know that the rules of engagement were relaxed to the point where a soldier was assured he could shoot at whatever he perceived to be a threat and the officers would back him up, even if he shot a civilian.  I know that orders were issued just to shoot at people without identifying hostile targets.”

   The colonel blew a cloud of smoke in Brent’s direction.  “And where did you derive this wealth of disinformation?”

   “From soldiers.”

   “And you think that the military court would take the word of an enlisted man against an officer?”

   “With all due respect, colonel, the only officer who actually saw what was going on at that raid was Captain Bennington.”

   The colonel took off his hat, revealing a full head of grey hair.  “The rules of engagement were clear.  Don’t fire unless threatened.”

   “You gave a termination order, colonel, based on intelligence provided to you.  And you credited Al-Qaeda with the raid.”

   “That’s a lie!”

   “Is it?  Why was no disciplinary action taken while Bennington was still in-country?  While he was even still on active duty?  Whose responsibility was that?”

   The colonel took another puff.  “I don’t think there’s anything more to talk about.”

   “The truth can’t hide, colonel.  Sooner or later it will rise to the top, like oil in water.  I’m going to make sure it has a chance to do that, so you should be asking yourself now just where you want to be counted when the heads really roll for this entire debacle.  Because I can guarantee you, your rank isn’t high enough to escape the fallout.”  Brent took the subpoena out of his pocket and pressed it into the colonel’s hand.

 





 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTEEN 
New York City wasn’t really that big of a place when you knew the layout.  You could walk from one end of Manhattan to the other.  But with a population of 8.4 million, Jack knew the odds were not very good for finding Malik Abdul before the Article 32 hearing, so he headed back to Santa Barbara.  Brent did the same.  Neither thought they were going to crack the case wide open on the first round.  

   In the days that followed, Jack continued to investigate all the names from the roster that Jeff Brody had provided them, and Brent prepared for the hearing.  Brody’s pleas for lesser restrictions than imprisonment for Ryan were met with deaf ears at the Command level, as well as in front of the “impartial officer” who reviewed the circumstances of his confinement.  It was deemed “reasonable” that he stay at the brig in Miramar instead of with his family.

***

Maya Bennington signed in as a visitor at the Miramar Brig and took a seat among several other women in the plastic and aluminum chairs in the drably decorated waiting room.  It was Saturday and they only allowed visits on the weekends from 1 to 4 pm.  That explained the number of women who were waiting for visits.  Some were jiggling babies on their laps and others were trying to supervise their small children, who were bouncing all over the waiting room.  Maya thought of Alexandra and Kristina.  She wanted to bring them, but Ryan had said no.  He didn’t want his children to see him like this.  But she brought some photographs of them and some drawings they had made for him and she hoped that they would cheer him up.

   Finally, after half an hour wait, they called the visitors into a small waiting room.  As they filed in, a young Marine dressed in a camouflage pattern uniform robotically addressed them in a loud voice.  

   “You are allowed one brief kiss or embrace at the beginning and end of each visit.  You may hold hands during the visit, but there is no other physical contact allowed.  There are lockers here for your personal belongings.  You are not allowed to take anything into the visitation room, nor are you allowed to give anything to any prisoner.  If you have a child with you, you may bring in two small non-electronic books and a bottle for each baby.”

   Maya spoke up, holding up the drawings from Alexandra and Kristina.  “Can I bring these in?  They’re pictures from my kids.”

   “No, ma’am.  That is not allowed.  You’ll have to send those by mail.”

   Maya, discouraged, put the pictures back into her purse and stuffed the purse in a locker, taking back the key.  

   When Maya entered the visitation room, Ryan immediately stood up.  He was dressed in his military uniform, but he looked forlorn and lost.  She approached him, kissed him, and hugged him like they normally did.  Ryan held on to her tightly, like he would never let go, but he broke the embrace before the guards could stop them.  The guards were standing at attention on the perimeter of the room, stern sentinels seeing everything, and making Maya and Ryan feel like they were fish in an aquarium.  They held hands.  What else could they do?  Ryan’s hand felt warm and strong in hers.

   “It’s good to see you, Maya.  I’ve been dreaming of that face.”

   Ryan clutched her hand tighter, unable to stroke her cheeks and hair which is what he was longing to do.  

   “It’s good to see you, too.  I’ve missed you terribly.”  She choked in her tears, suppressing them.  

   “How are my girls?”

   “They’re great.  They’re both doing well in school.  They still think it’s fun to dress in the same clothes and fool people about who is who.  They even trick their teacher.”

   This got a smile out of Ryan.  The two-hour visit passed so quickly, Maya could hardly believe it was already over because it seemed like she had just sat down.  She left the room with an ache in her heart, looking back at the man she loved, her husband, helplessly trapped for virtually no reason.

***

After the short visit with Maya, Ryan met with Brent and Jeff Brody to prepare for court.  As lead counsel, Brent took the lead in the meeting.

   “Ryan, the hearing we have coming up is just a preliminary hearing, which means that there’s no judge, only the investigating officer, and you don’t have to testify.”

   “But shouldn’t I tell my story?”

   “At this point, it would be more like talking to the police.  You won’t get any advantage from it.  There is a slight possibility that we may be able to talk the government out of court-martialing you, but if they’re committed to it, there’s nothing we can do to stop it.  The investigating officer is going to be observing your demeanor, so don’t talk under your breath or roll your eyes or anything like that.”

   Brody added, “It’s military decorum and procedure.”

   “So I’m supposed to act like a robot?”

   “No, but you may hear people, even your commanding officer, lie on the witness stand.  You can’t bring any points to our table by calling them a liar under your breath, so just don’t do it.  We’ll point out any inconsistencies on cross-examination.  If you want to tell us something, just write it down on the legal pad we give you and slide the message over to us.

   “There’s one more thing.  I want to send a psychologist in here to interview you.  The military will pay for it.  The psychologist’s opinion may be helpful in formulating a defense.”

   “An insanity defense?  I’m not crazy.”

   “No, no, nothing like that.  The psychologist will evaluate whether your decisions that day were affected by the stress of combat and the anticipation of going into a venue you were told would be full of hostiles.”

   “Okay.”

   Since there was no testimony to prepare, the meeting was brief, so Brent and Jeff Brody left together to meet and strategize for the hearing.  Their brainstorming session lasted until the late afternoon and blended into dinner.  Because of the hour, Brent took a motel room.

   From his room, he called Jack, who gave him an update on his investigation.  Then, he cracked open his laptop and connected to the Internet.  He couldn’t believe his eyes.  There were news reports similar to the story that Ryan had told Brent and Brody.  Several stories said soldiers had been instructed to fire upon all adult males of military age in any particular raid or strike zone, whether they were positively identified as insurgents or not.  There were also reports of soldiers being ordered to carry shovels or drop weapons to leave on bodies if they fired upon suspected insurgents but found no weapons on them.  

   The night burned on, along with Brent’s eyes, despite his fatigue he could not stop.  As he uncovered more and more information, he sent the links of his research by email to Brody.  

   Brent uncovered reports from government leaks of classified information that, in 2004, Donald Rumsfeld had sent a retired colonel named Jeffrey Steelman to serve as a civilian advisor to Iraqi Paramilitary special police commandos.  Steelman was a counter-insurgency specialist who had been a member of a group of US Special Forces advisors to the Salvadoran Army and had  trained counter-insurgency commandos in South America, who had carried out extreme abuses of human rights.  

Under Steelman’s watch, a brigade of commandos called the “Tiger Brigade” was created and established by the United States and enabled the re-deployment of Saddam Hussein’s Republican Guard.  The Brigade was later accused by an UN official of torture, murder and the implementation of death squads.  The techniques used by these counter-insurgency squads were described as “fighting terror with terror” which was previously done in other theaters, such as Vietnam and El Salvador.

 This is what the guy in Detroit told Jack.

   Brent could no longer keep his eyes open.  He checked his email one more time before turning in.  There was a message from Rebecca, something positive in the sewer of negativity that made him smile.  It simply said, “Thinking of you.  Now get some sleep!”  Brent answered, “Thinking of you too and going to bed now.”  Brent was just about to log off when a new email came in from Brody.

   “This is a lot of good stuff.  But can we prove any of it?”

   Brent answered: “Maybe not before the preliminary hearing, but Jack is on his way to D.C. now.  He’s going to pull up some rocks and see what creepy crawly things come slithering out.”

 





 
  


 CHAPTER FOURTEEN 
Ryan Bennington’s Article 32 hearing was to take place at Fort Hunter Liggett in Monterey, California.  Jack was still in Washington, and had not yet come up with any witnesses from following the leads of Brent’s research, so Brent and Brody were going into the hearing thin.  

   Normally, Brent would have liked to have taken a leisurely drive up the scenic Highway 1 coast road to Monterey, but this hearing demanded all his strength and concentration, so he flew into the small Monterey airport the night before.  The courtroom was like any of the hundreds of others Brent had seen, except for its stark, Spartan atmosphere and décor.

   Brent shook hands with Brody, and took a seat with him at the defense counsel table.  He studied his opponents – three men decked out in full officers’ uniforms.  

   Lieutenant Colonel Jacob Stern, the preliminary hearing officer, called the hearing to order in a robotic tone and read from a script.  He didn’t appear to be a friendly person and wore his rank as a badge of importance.  Everyone in the room except for Brent was dressed in an Army uniform, including Ryan.  Colonel Stern outlined the murder charges against Ryan, the name of his accuser, which was his current commanding officer, Lieutenant Colonel Taylor Rand, not Colonel Parker.  Stern named the witnesses to be called, and advised Ryan of his rights.  

   “Captain Bennington, as the preliminary hearing officer, it is my duty to ascertain and impartially weigh the evidence presented in support of the charges against you that are relevant to the limited purpose and scope of this hearing.  This hearing will include inquiries as to whether there is probable cause to believe you have committed offenses under the Uniform Code of Military Justice, whether a court-martial would have jurisdiction over those offenses, and to make a recommendation as to the disposition of the charges.

   “You and your counsel will be given full opportunity to cross-examine witnesses who testify against you in this hearing and to present additional evidence either in defense or mitigation relevant to the limited scope of the hearing.  I can recommend that the charges against you be referred to a general court-martial or that charges be dismissed and disposed of other than by trial or court-martial.  It is not my purpose to act during this hearing as a prosecutor but simply as an impartial fact finder.  Do you understand?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   Stern then advised Ryan of his right to military counsel at no cost, or private counsel at his own expense, or both.  

   “Mr. Marks, if you would please identify the names and qualifications of counsel for the record.”

   “Yes, colonel.  My name is Brent Marks and I am a member of the Bar of the State of California, the Central District of California, and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.  With me is Captain Jeffrey Brody, who is a member of the Judge Advocate General Corps, and certified in accordance with the Uniform Code of Military Justice as trial and defense counsel in general courts-martial.”

   “We will now open the formal investigation.  This is a formal preliminary hearing into certain charges against Captain Ryan Bennington, ordered pursuant to Article 32 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice, by Lieutenant Colonel Taylor Rand, commander of special troops battalion, US Army Forces Command, which alleges Captain Bennington, that on 22 June 2004, you gave the orders to your men to kill all military age males in certain homes in the village of al-Nasr and did shoot and kill personally an unarmed man.  I will show you now a charge sheet that contains the charges and specifications.  Have you seen this charge sheet?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “You have been previously given a copy of the documents the government intends to introduce in this case, including the CID investigation reports of Special Agent Nixon and Special Agent McCafferty.  I will not consider any material in making my decisions unless I give you the opportunity to object to it and decide on the record to admit it into evidence at this preliminary hearing.”

   Stern next read a list of witnesses that would be called and recited the ground rules of the hearing

   “All right.  Are there any preliminary matters that need to be covered before we begin the substantive part of the hearing?  Defense?”

   “No, colonel.”

   “Government?”

   “No, sir.”

   “Alright.  Does the government counsel wish to make an opening statement at this time?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Please proceed.”

   Major Theodore Brinkman, the main trial counsel, cleared his throat and read from his notes.  “On 22 June 2004, the accused proximately caused the death of 10 Iraqi civilians, named in the charges and specifications, with intent to kill or cause dangerous bodily harm, and while engaged in an act that is inherently dangerous to another and evinces a wanton disregard of human life, in violation of Article 118 of the UCMJ, by issuing an order for the assassination of said civilians to those men under his charge.  The facts are undisputed.

   “On the night of 22 June 2004, the accused was ordered by his Command to investigate, interrogate and arrest suspected terrorists in the village of al-Nasr in homes that had been identified by Army Intelligence.  Deadly force was authorized only if threatened.  In derogation of that order, the accused ordered his platoon to assassinate all military-age adult males in each of the dwellings.  

   “You will hear the testimony of Sergeant Gregory Welch, to whom the orders were issued by the accused.  Sergeant Welch will describe the orders that were related to him by the accused.  

   “Finally, you will hear the testimony of Lieutenant Colonel Taylor Rand, who will identify the orders of the accused’s commander, Lieutenant Colonel Lewis Parker, which clearly state that the accused was to interrogate and apprehend possible terrorist suspects, not assassinate them.”

   Brinkman threw an unnecessary and completely irrelevant accusatory look at Ryan. There were no members (jury) there for him to impress, so at best his gesture would have been practice for the court-martial.  

“At the end of the government’s case, the evidence will show probable cause that the accused committed the crime of murder in violation of Article 118 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice.”

   The other two uniforms sat there stoically, stiffly indicating their agreement with their colleague but having nothing to say for themselves.

   “Thank you, Major Brinkman.  Mr. Marks, do you wish to make an opening statement at this time?”

   “No, colonel.  I wish to defer my opening statement until the close of the government’s presentation.”

   “Very well.  The government will please call its first witness.”

   “The government calls Lieutenant Colonel Taylor Rand.”

   Colonel Rand, the current commander of Ryan’s battalion, stepped up to the witness stand and Brinkman had him identify the alleged order that was issued to Ryan by his commanding officer, which was admitted into evidence.

   “Colonel, did this order, in any way, express that indiscriminate killing of military age males be carried out?”

   “No, it did not.”

   “Did the order authorize any deadly force?”

   “Yes, but only in the circumstances necessary to protect the soldiers or others.  The order clearly states:

 ‘USE ONLY THE MINIMUM AMOUNT OF FORCE REQUIRED TO ACCOMPLISH YOUR MISSION AND, IF NECESSARY, TO DEFEND YOURSELF.  WHEN UNDER THE CONTROL OF AN OFFICER, YOU WILL LOAD AND FIRE YOUR WEAPON ONLY WHEN REQUIRED TO PROTECT YOUR LIFE OR THE LIVES OF OTHERS, TO PROTECT SPECIFIED PROPERTY DESIGNATED AS VITAL TO THE PUBLIC HEALTH OR SAFETY, OR TO PREVENT THE ESCAPE OF PERSONS ENDANGERING LIFE OR VITAL FACILITIES; YOU ARE NOT AUTHORIZED TO USE FIREARMS TO PREVENT OFFENSES WHICH ARE NOT LIKELY TO CAUSE DEATH OR SERIOUS BODILY HARM, NOT ENDANGER PUBLIC HEALTH OR SAFETY.’”

 “In your opinion, colonel, did Captain Bennington exceed the rules of engagement as specified in this order?”

   “Objection, calls for speculation.  The colonel has no personal knowledge of the actions of Captain Bennington nor anyone under his charge.”

   Colonel Rand looked surprised.  Stern responded, “I’m not a judge, Mr. Marks, but your objection has been stated in the record.  Colonel Rand, you may answer the question if you have an answer.”

   Colonel Rand certainly did have the answer that was called for.  “In my opinion, yes, Captain Bennington did exceed the rules of engagement.”

   On cross-examination, Brent adduced that the colonel had absolutely no knowledge of the order, and that the one with personal knowledge of it would be Colonel Lewis Parker.

   “The government will call its next witness.”

   “Thank you, colonel.  The government calls Sergeant Gregory Welch.”

   Sergeant Welch looked to be in his late 30s, a short man with crystal blue eyes.  He sat in the witness chair, nervously fidgeting and glancing at Ryan, but without looking eye-to-eye.

   “Sergeant Welch, were you a non-commissioned officer with Company Charlie of the 223rd stationed in Iraq in June 2004?”

   “Yes, sir, I was.”

   “And who was the senior officer in that company?”

   “Captain Ryan Bennington, sir.”

   “Can you identify Captain Bennington for the record?”

   Ryan stared at Welch, who hesitated to make eye contact with him.  “Yes, sir.  He’s seated at the table on my right, next to civilian defense counsel.”

   “Sergeant, do you recall the 22nd June 2004?”

   “Yes, sir, I do.”

   “And did you go on a mission that day?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “What was the mission?”

   “The mission was to enter the village of al-Nasr, under cover of darkness, and to breach the homes where certain terrorist insurgents were suspected to live, to kill the military age males we found inside and confiscate their weapons stash.”

   “And who relayed the orders of this mission to you, sergeant?”

   “Captain Bennington, sir.”

   “Who else was on this mission with you, sergeant?”

   “I was the Alpha Team Leader.  Captain Bennington took Team Bravo, and we had Sergeant Eric Hansen, who was Charlie Team Leader, Sergeant Stuart Henderson, who was the Delta Team Leader and Sergeant William Foster, who was the Echo Team Leader.”

   “Captain Bennington did not order you to capture and interrogate any persons in the marked homes?”

   Still not making eye contact with Ryan, Welch responded, “No, sir.”

   “As a result of that raid, was anyone killed?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Who was killed, sergeant?”

   “10 Iraqi men, sir.  One by Captain Bennington.”

   “Were they armed?”

   “No, sir.”

   On cross-examination, Brent saw no need to go over Welch’s story because all the other soldiers who were there to testify were going to repeat it, and Brent supposed it would be as close to word-for-word as anything could be.

   “Sergeant, your general mission in Iraq during the insurgency was to ‘increase the host-nation’s security forces and bolster the local populace’s confidence in those forces,’ isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And that mission included the mandate to ‘simultaneously defeat and contain insurgency and address its root causes,’ isn’t that also correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Isn’t it also true that Colonel Parker told your entire platoon that this raid was very important because intelligence had identified Al-Qaeda operatives in al-Nasr?”

   Brinkman interrupted, “Objection, hearsay.  Mr. Marks has called Colonel Parker to testify.  Any testimony by third parties of what he said will be cumulative.”

   “With all due respect to the major, Colonel Stern, this is cross-examination and I am entitled to elicit testimony to show what Sergeant Welch’s state of mind was at the time.”

 Welch had been psyched up for direct testimony, and had been thoroughly prepped by the Major.  But these objections confused him, and he drifted off in the memory of the event.

 Greg stood at attention as the colonel spoke.  Everyone in the company admired him.  He was a no-nonsense guy who had earned his bird the honorable way – on the ground with his men.  

 “Now, you men have been selected for this mission because you’re the best of the best.  I’m not gonna kid you – you’re being dropped smack dab into hostile territory and you’re going in hot.

 “Intel has confirmed the presence of Al-Qaeda operatives in al-Nasr.  These are terrorists, gentlemen, and they’re not going to follow any rules of engagement.  So when you’re in country, you locate them per the Intel reports, and you kill them.”

   “As I said before, Mr. Marks, I’m not a judge.  Major Brinkman’s objection has been memorialized in the record, so please proceed.”

   “Thank you, colonel. Isn’t it also true that Colonel Parker told your entire platoon that this raid was very important because intelligence had identified Al-Qaeda operatives in al-Nasr?”

 Welch was open mouthed, a blank look on his face.

 “Sergeant?”

 He snapped out of his trance.

   “Yes, sir?”

“Isn’t it true that Colonel Parker told your entire platoon that this raid was very important because intelligence had identified Al-Qaeda operatives in al-Nasr?”

 “Yes, sir.” 

   “And he also stated that you were to kill all military age males you found in the raid who were not actively surrendering, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.  He did.”

   “You’re not mistaken?”

   “No, sir.”

   “Colonel Parker did not say ‘capture’ did he?”

   “Yes, sir, he did.  We were to capture anyone actively surrendering to us.”

   “But he did not say ‘interrogate’ them, did he?”

   “No, sir.”

   “So, when Captain Bennington gave you the order to kill all military age males except those who were surrendering, you were not surprised, were you?”

   “No, sir.”

   “Because that is exactly what you expected, isn’t it?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And Colonel Parker also told you that the Al-Qaeda terrorists you were to encounter in al-Nasr would be heavily armed, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And he also told you that you should not hesitate to use deadly force to protect yourselves, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.  The colonel said we were to expect fire, we were going in hot.”

 “Going in hot means you expected to be shooting, is that correct?”

 “We were expecting to have to use our weapons, yes.”

   “Thank you, sergeant.  No further questions.”

   Brinkman fired back, rehabilitating the witness and rejuvenating a case that Brent had seemed to obliterate on cross-examination.

   “Sergeant, Colonel Parker was not present during the raid, was he?”

   “No, sir.”

   “And you had no direct communications with Colonel Parker neither before, during, nor after the raid, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.  That is correct.”

   “In fact, all of the orders from Command were relayed to you by Captain Bennington, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.  It is.”

 “No further questions.”

 The judge addressed Brent.

   “Re-cross?”

   “Thank you, colonel.  Sergeant, Colonel Parker spoke to the troops involved in the raid the night before, didn’t he?”

   “Yes, in general, he did.”

   “And he spoke about the raid you were about to do?”

   “Yes, he did.”

   “Kind of like a coach before a football game, right?”

   “I suppose.”

   “Except this was an armed raid, where the colonel told you to expect heavy fire, isn’t that right?”

   “Yes.”

   “No further questions.”

***

Before Ryan was taken back to his holding cell for the day, he looked enthusiastically at Brent and asked, “What do you think?  I think we’re doing great!”  For the first time since he had met Ryan in the Navy brig, Ryan looked positive.  Brent didn’t want to crush his spirits but, at the same time, he didn’t want him to hold out any false hopes.

   “Yes, Ryan, we are doing well, but remember this is just a preliminary hearing.  As we discussed, anything could happen, but there will probably be a trial.”  

   Ryan’s neck turned to rubber, his head dropped.  

   “But don’t be discouraged.”

   Ryan looked up at Brent.  The gleam of hope had drained from his eyes.








 
  


 CHAPTER FIFTEEN 
In the few days Jack had been following leads in Washington, he had come up with nothing but a bunch of doors slammed in his face.  He called in a favor from a retired general with whom he was acquainted, who arranged to meet him at the City Tavern Club on M Street NW.

   The City Tavern Club was an exclusive club housed in one of the oldest buildings in Washington, where the ‘who’s who’ of D.C. hung out in their free time.  Jack had to present his identification at reception and be checked against the guest list before he was allowed to enter.  

   Jack met Brigadier General Thaddeus Hoffman in the ‘Tap Room,’ the bar of the City Tavern, which was a classic barroom, richly fitted with antique furniture.  The walls were dark oak panel, which had soaked in over two hundred years of tobacco smoke, spirits and scandals.

   The general smiled when he saw Jack approaching his table and stood up.

   “General, don’t stand up for me.  I don’t outrank you.”

   “Don’t be silly, Jack.  It’s great to see you.”

   He shook Jack’s hand warmly and motioned to the seat beside him.  Jack sat down and a waiter appeared to take their drink order.  The general ordered a scotch on the rocks to Jack’s cup of coffee.

   “You know, Jack, this place has had some very famous people come through it in the past 250 years, including Washington and Jefferson, but the most interesting one was the one I saw here during the Clinton days – Monica Lewinsky.”

   Jack laughed.  “Like they say, ‘If these walls could talk’.”

   The general leaned over the table toward him.  “If these walls could talk, you wouldn’t need to talk to me.  If the truth could be absorbed by them, then all the lies of all the dirty wars would be exposed.”

   The waiter came back with their drinks, set the on the table and turned away.  Jack and the general socialized a bit, catching up on each other’s families.  Then, Jack outlined his investigation report to the general and waited for a comment.  The general swirled his tumbler, the cubes of ice clinking inside of it, a he pondered what to say.  Then he took a generous gulp and set it down.

   “You probably should talk to Colonel Steelman, Jack.  Other than Rumsfeld himself, he’s the one who was closest to the police forces in Iraq, what with all the allegations of torture and death squads that seemed to have followed him all the way from South America.”

   “And if I can’t get an audience with him?”

 “Then let me give you a little tutorial.”

 Jack leaned in over the table.  “I’m all ears.”

   “Have you ever heard of perception management?”

   “Yes, I have.  In fact, I came across that term during this investigation.”

   “It was something that was started under the Reagan administration.  They didn’t want any folks complaining about the next war after the mess of the Vietnam protests.  There’s a guy in Washington who runs a company called ‘The Riechert Group’ named after himself.  Rumor has it they landed a $16 million contract with the government in 2003 to sell the public on the war on Iraq.  Turns out if you get the people waving the flag, it’s a lot easier to send our boys and girls over there into harm’s way.

“His name is John Riechert.  If you could nail him down, you’d probably be able to break this whole thing open.  But be careful, Jack.  These are extremely powerful people and the stakes are in the hundreds of millions for some, billions for others.  If you should cross them, you could simply disappear.”

   “Why are you helping me with this?”

   “Jack, I’m an old man.  I probably don’t have long on this earth, but when I go, I want to go with a clear conscience.  I have no regrets about being a soldier.  It’s a profession I’m proud of.  But I’m not so proud of the way these politicians have been manipulating the military to do their dirty work.  I’m a warrior and I’ve fought with some very good men – all the way down the ranks – the best of the best.  But we’re supposed to be a force to defend this country, not a bunch of god damned mercenaries.  It’s just not right, and I want to do my part to set it straight.”

   When Jack left the City Tavern, the sun had already set and the general’s words were ringing in his ears.  He got in his rental car, pulled away from the curb, and that’s when he noticed it right away.  It was a tail in a standard, government-issue vehicle.  Jack recognized the car because, during his time with the FBI, he had driven many of them just like it himself.  He turned the corner and pulled up onto a street bordering on an alley and got out.  The tail parked far enough down the street where he must have felt he could not be observed.  

   Jack was not going to make the same mistake he had made in Detroit.  He took a small mirror out of his pocket and looked behind himself surreptitiously as he slowly walked to the entrance of the alley.  He could see a lone figure exit the car and follow in pursuit.

 Game on.

 Jack turned into the alley and crouched low so he could use the mirror to look around the corner.  He could see the man approaching at a fast walk.  He was dressed in a standard G-Man suit.  

 Not very imaginative, as Brent would say.  Maybe he’s FBI.

   Jack readied himself.  When the man turned the corner at a fast pace, Jack pounced, grabbing him around his calves and bringing him down onto the hard pavement, then pinning him face down in the street with his knee between his shoulder blades.  The man was completely immobile.  Jack pushed his face into the asphalt.

   “Who sent you?  Why are you following me?”

   “I don’t know what you’re talking about.  Let me go!”

   Jack frisked the man with his left hand.  In a waistband holster, he found a Glock 17 9mm.  Strapped to his ankle, he found a small Glock 27 and pocketed it. 

   “You’re pretty well armed, aren’t you, Mr….?”

   “Fuck you!”

   “Mister You, or should I just call you Fuck?”

   Jack pulled the man’s wallet out and found a CIA pass inside.  In his pockets he found some heavy duty zip ties, a large pocket knife and GPS tracking unit.

   “From the company, huh?  You’re way out of your bailiwick here, buddy.”

   “Let me up and we won’t have any trouble.”

   “I think I’ll be the judge of that.  You see, I’m not armed, I’m a private citizen, and you followed me into a dark alley with enough firepower to send me to meet all of my long lost relatives.”

   Jack lifted the man off the ground in a choke hold, staggered him over to the wall and slammed him up against it.  He frisked him again, this time thoroughly, and found a full extra clip for each one of the guns.  

   “Now I can bet the GPS unit I found is tracking my car.  Unless you want me to arrest you and bring you to the local police station, you’d better start talking.”

   “Go ahead.  They’re not going to do anything.”

   Jack kept the man’s ID, emptied the magazines of bullets, and then tossed the guns.  He let the man free and stepped back from him quickly.  

 “So you want to play?”

 Jack had no such intention.  He clenched his fist, tensed his body, and sucker punched the man right in the jaw, sending him crumpling to the ground.  Then, he turned and calmly walked out of the alley.   








 
  


 CHAPTER SIXTEEN 
When the Article 32 hearing reconvened the next day, questioning of the soldiers under Ryan’s command continued, with most of them repeating, more or less, the story related by Sergeant Welch.  The surprise witness of the day was Colonel Parker.  He had not planned to testify, but since Brent had identified him as a witness and served him with a subpoena, he was added to the government’s witness list as well.  

Parker looked visibly perturbed as he was called to the witness stand, shooting a glare at Ryan that seemed to say ‘Why have you caused all this trouble?  Just take your medicine like a man.’  Brinkman identified Parker as the battalion commander, had him describe the mission and had him recite the order, which was word for word what Colonel Rand had said.  Then, in anticipation of Brent’s cross-examination, Brinkman threw a curve ball.

   “Colonel Parker, before the raid on the village of al-Nasr, did you address the entire Company C on the subject of the raid?”

   “Yes, I did.”

   “Do you remember what you told them?”

   “Of course.  I told them that the intelligence reports indicated that these were very bad men and they should take precautions for their own safety and the safety of the members of their respective teams.”

   “You did not tell them to kill all military age males they found in the marked homes?”

   “Certainly not.”

   “So, if Captain Bennington gave an order to kill all military age males, he would have exceeded his authority?”

   “Absolutely.”

   Brinkman continued to beat the drum until it was a dead horse.  Then, when he was satisfied that he had completely taken the wind out of Brent’s sails, he motioned to Brent, giving him the witness with a cleverly disguised smirk.  No civilian lawyer was going to get the best of him.

   “No further questions.  Your witness.”

 Brent looked Parker right in the eye, just like he did that day at the golf club.  But the old man was not going to be broken.

 “Colonel Parker, your enlisted men who were under your charge have all testified that you gave the order to kill all military age adult males.  Are you saying now that they are all lying?”

   The colonel’s chin raised and his face tightened.  He clenched his fists.  “Are you trying to impugn my integrity, sir?”

   “Of course not, colonel.  Please answer the question.”

  The colonel’s look remained rigid.  “Combat is a very intense thing.  Soldiers are under immense pressure.  But what I told them was very clear.  They were authorized to use deadly force only if their lives or the lives of others were in immediate danger of death or great bodily harm.”

   “Didn’t you also tell them that these men were dangerous terrorists who were heavily armed?”

   “That is what our intelligence reports showed.”

   “Did you fully expect them to come under fire during the raid?”

   “Yes, I did.  But they didn’t come under fire.”

 “But you did tell them to expect it, isn’t that correct?”

 “Yes, of course.  I don’t want my men going into hostile territory off their guard.”

   “And you also told them that they were pre-authorized to use deadly force, isn’t that correct?”

   “Captain Bennington did not obtain authorization from me during the raid to exercise deadly force.  Therefore, it was his call whether to do so or not.  I only found out after the fact that he and his men did not face enemy hostilities.”

   “You found out after the fact?”

 The colonel raised his voice.  “That’s what I said.”

 Brent paused, looking at his notes, but he wasn’t really reading, he was just regrouping for the kill shot of the cross-examination.

   “Colonel, you gave a talk to Captain Bennington’s platoon the night before the raid, didn’t you?”

   “Yes, I did.”

   “And the purpose of the talk was to ‘fire them up,’ to get them ready to go in there and face what you thought would be hostiles, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   Brent raised his voice, trying to break Parker.  “You fragmented your order, didn’t you, colonel?”

   “What do you mean?”

 “You changed your original order.  You ordered the men to kill all the terrorists, didn’t you?”

 Brinkman popped out of his chair.  “Argumentative!”

 “Do you have an answer, colonel?”

 The colonel’s face was tensing with anger.  He licked his dry lips.  

   “No, I did not.”

 “You didn’t order your soldiers to kill all adult men?”

 Brinkman was shouting now, a preview of the trial to come.  “Asked and answered!”

 “I did not.”

   Brent stood up, specifically to get into Parker’s face.  “Colonel, do you remember what I told you when I met you on the golf course in Austin?”

   The Colonel’s face was visibly strained and his neck was turning red.  

   Brinkman interjected, “Objection, irrelevant!”

   “You may answer the question, Colonel Parker, if you do have an answer.”

   “The question is irrelevant.”

   “Colonel Parker, that may be your opinion, but as the hearing officer at this preliminary hearing, it is my duty to make sure your testimony has been elicited.  Please answer the question.”

   Brent put his hands on the table and leaned forward in the Colonel’s direction.  

   “I will restate the question.  Isn’t it true that I told you the truth would come out, and you had to come clean now, or face the consequences when the responsibility was delegated for these actions?”

   “You insulted my integrity, sir.  I will not answer that question.”

   “Because you think it may incriminate you?”

   The colonel pounded his fist on the table. “You will not manipulate me like this.  There is no reason to doubt my veracity!”

   “Objection!  Argumentative!”

   Brent ignored the objection and barreled on.  “But isn’t it your veracity that is at issue here, colonel?  Wasn’t the mission as described by you to the men clear?  You ordered your men to terminate the operatives they found in those homes with extreme prejudice, didn’t you?  You clearly authorized, no – mandated Captain Bennington to use deadly force first and ask questions later, isn’t that true, colonel?”

   The colonel stood up from his chair, his fists in two balls.  “That is preposterous!  Of course not!”

   “Objection!”

   Brent pressed on, going for the jugular.  “But it is true, isn’t it colonel, or do you refuse to answer the question on the grounds it may incriminate you?”

   “I’ve answered your god damned question!  It’s not true, damn it!”

   “Isn’t it true that you first reported that the actions of Captain Bennington were in contravention of your orders in January of this year?”

   “I don’t recall.”

   “It says it right here in the record, colonel.  Do you want to read it to refresh your recollection?”

   ‘No.  It was earlier this year.”

   “Nearly ten years after the raid?”

   “Yes.”

   “And you waited almost ten years to report Captain Bennington’s conduct because it was not contrary to your orders at all, isn’t that correct, colonel?”

   “No, that is not correct.”

   “Your mission was to crush the insurgency, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “And that mission was derived from orders from the Chief of Staff of the Army, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “And it was policy during 2004 for your Command to instruct soldiers to fire on suspected insurgents without verifying whether or not they were insurgents, isn’t that correct?”

   “You cannot always determine if a person is a civilian or insurgent until they’re upon you.  That is the nature of an insurgency.”

   “You didn’t answer my question, colonel.”  Brent stared him down.  The colonel was clenching his teeth.  

   “You instructed the soldiers in your command that, if they felt in immediate danger of death or serious bodily harm, they could use deadly force against suspected insurgents without investigation as to whether they were hostile or not, didn’t you?”

   He barked back at Brent.  “You’re damn right I did!”

   “And if no weapons were found on suspected insurgents after they were killed, your soldiers were authorized to plant ‘drop weapons’ on them, isn’t that correct?”

   “Absolutely not!”

   “Isn’t it true that Captain Bennington’s refusal of your orders could have possibly subjected him to the death penalty under Article 99 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice?”

   “Yes, that is correct.”

   “And isn’t it also true that you left no doubt during your talk to the men that the targets in al-Nasr were dangerous jihadists and terrorists?”

   “That is correct.”

   “But they weren’t, were they, colonel?”

   “No.”

   “So your intelligence was incorrect?”

   “It appears so.”

   “And you attributed the deaths of the Iraqis in al-Nasr to Al-Qaeda, isn’t that correct?”

   “I don’t know how that got into the papers.”

   “Of course you do, colonel!  You see the reports in front of you in the record.  They didn’t just appear there by magic, did they?”

   “Objection!”

 Brent didn’t wait for a ruling.  This was between him and the colonel now.  

   “Your press officer told the media that Al-Qaeda was responsible, didn’t he?”

   “Absolutely not.  We didn’t handle the media.”

   “Who did?”

   “That’s classified.”

   “Colonel Stern, would you please instruct Colonel Parker to answer the question?”

   “Colonel Parker?”

   “I don’t know how that got into the media.  I just know that it did.”

   “And you did nothing to correct it, isn’t that true?”

   “I did not.”

   “No further questions.”

***

When the hearing reconvened after the lunch break, Colonel Stern gave the floor to the defense.

   “Mr. Marks, you indicated that you reserved your opening statement for the presentation of your case-in-chief.  Do you wish to make it now?”

   “Yes, colonel, thank you.”

   “I object, colonel.  Mr. Marks has listed only the witnesses who have already been examined.  Does he intend to examine them further?  If he doesn’t then his statement would be in the nature of an argument.”

   “What about that, Mr. Marks?”

   “I see no reason for the witnesses to repeat their testimony.  But, by the same token, I see no reason I should be deprived of an opening statement.”

 Stern mulled it around for a while, biting his bottom lip.  He waved to Brent.  

   “Please proceed.”

   “It should be very clear what happened in this case from what is not being said.  The raid was conducted after instructions were given to the entire platoon by Colonel Parker.  Every military age man in the homes marked by intelligence was killed.  Nothing, I repeat nothing, was done to correct or clarify the media reports that Al-Qaeda was responsible for the raid.  And absolutely no disciplinary action was taken against Captain Bennington for over nine years since the raid.  Nine years!  All of the men in the unit have testified that their orders were to kill all adult age males.  

   Someone is not telling the truth here.  Perhaps we don’t know who that someone is yet, but one thing should be evident, and that is Captain Bennington was following orders, and that he had no reason to believe these orders were illegal, because he was instructed that intelligence had identified dangerous Al-Qaeda operatives in al-Nasr and those orders were to take them out.”

   When the hearing finally wound down, Colonel Stern announced he would make his findings and inform all parties in due course.  That was not going to take very long.








 
  


 CHAPTER SEVENTEEN 
Robert Garcia, formerly known as Captain John Richards before he assumed the identity of Malik Abdul, always kept track of his fellow passengers on the Number 4 train in New York City.   He took that train twice a day, five days a week, to his job as a janitor in Two Penn Plaza on 34th Street, the twin building to Madison Square Garden, though they looked nothing alike. 

   Robert always bought a copy of the New York Daily News and brought it with him. It just didn’t seem right for a janitor to be reading the New York Times or The Wall Street Journal.  He lived on the top floor of a remodeled brownstone on 118th Street, between 2nd and 3rd Avenues, in El Barrio, formerly known as Spanish Harlem.  He’d been there for over five years.  After his last mission he didn’t claim back his original existence.  He had advised his men to do the same as well.  Four didn’t listen.  They died in ‘accidents’ soon after returning to the country that had sent them to eliminate its greatest threat.

   Robert had tried his best over the years to bury Captain Richards, to bury Malik, but he wasn’t often successful.  Things had been looking up, though, during the last month.  He had met a nice woman, been promoted to head a janitorial team, had money in the bank for the first time again since his last deployment, and most importantly, none of his fellow passengers looked as if they posed a threat to him.  But his “normal” world came crashing down around him when he saw the headline on the front page: 

ARMY CAPTAIN CHARGED WITH MURDER OF INNOCENTS IN IRAQ

CPT Ryan Bennington Recommissioned.

Will face charges he killed unarmed civilians in Iraq ten years ago.

 Well, they finally got their scapegoat.

 He felt a chill through his entire body. 

 That’s fitting. I may have to come in from the cold…

 





 
  


 CHAPTER EIGHTEEN 
Brent knew that there would be no break between the preliminary hearing and the arraignment.  The decision of the investigating officer was announced even before he had expected it.  Ryan was going to trial.  Somebody high up wanted this thing (and Ryan) to go away – and fast.  After comparing notes with Jack, he pored over thousands of pages of military documents on the Iraq war that had been released to WikiLeaks, looking for some kind of clue.  It was the proverbial needle in the haystack, but he was determined to find it.  

   Brent had to figure out how Ryan’s story fit within the complex puzzle of the government’s management of public perception in support of the Iraq War.  He had to connect it to the disaster of the insurgency that had followed the pullout of American troops and had given birth to the Islamic State, a force that had money, property, and now territory; a force more formidable that Osama bin Laden could have ever hoped Al-Qaeda would be.  The sacrificial lamb selected for this cover-up had been a young 26-year-old captain, who was about to pay for the better good by spending the best of his life in prison.

   Brent had taken his work home with him and was staring at the computer screen despite Calico’s seductive moves with her tail in front of his face, which he ignored completely.  But what could not be ignored was the phone.  Ever since he and Rebecca had kindled their friendship, it was usually her calling at this time of evening.  Brent discovered that the phone didn’t have to be his enemy on these occasions when she would call or text to ask him what he was doing.  So, when it rang, this time he naturally picked it up with renewed enthusiasm.

   “Hi, it’s Brent.”

   “Mr. Marks?”  The voice was strange, and decidedly not female.

   “Yes, this is Brent Marks.  Can I help you?”

   “Mr. Marks, I can’t tell you my name, not at this point anyway, but I can tell you that a horrible injustice is being done to your client, Ryan Bennington.”

   “Go on, Mr….?”

   There was a pause and a crackle on the phone.

   “I told you – no names.”

   “Yes, of course.  What can I do for you?”

   “Let’s say it’s what I may be able to do for you.  I think your boy Captain Bennington is getting a bum rap.  I may be able to help, but I have to meet you in person.”

   “That’s not a problem.  Where and when?”

   “Can you come to New York?  On the weekend?”

   “Yes.  Just let me check with my investigator.”

   “No.  Just you.  One on one.”

   “Okay.  Where should I meet you?”

   “Just come to New York by Saturday morning.  I’ll call you and give you further directions when you get here.  See you on Saturday.”

   “Wait!  How do I contact you?”

   “I’ll call you.”

   “Well, what do I call you?  The strange guy on the phone?”

   “You can call me Bob.”

   With that, the phone went dead.  Brent called Jack immediately.  In Jack’s opinion, it was probably his “friend,” Jamul Abama, from Detroit. 

***

After discussing the strange contact with Jack, Brent decided he needed a change of scenery, and he couldn’t think of any scenery better than his new friend and ex-client, Rebecca.  He clicked on his cell phone and called her.

   “Do you like ice cream?”

   They met at Cold Stone Creamery on State Street, where they tried to outdo each other with a contest of who could make the strangest and most delicious ice cream and topping creation.  Rebecca, the artistic one, won the competition, with an owl made of a base of chocolate chip ice cream, whipped cream eyes with almond pupils, and wings made out of chocolate sticks.  She held it up in front of herself and beamed.  Brent looked at his pathetic attempt to make a squirrel, whose tail was already dripping on the floor.

 “You definitely win.”

 

   “So what’s my prize?”

   “You get to eat the owl.”

   Rebecca looked pityingly at the owl.  “Ohh, I couldn’t eat him!”

   “If you don’t, he’s going to melt.”

   She took another sad look at the owl and then at Brent’s creation.  “What is this supposed to be?”  She motioned to his mess of whipped cream, chocolate and nuts.  He didn’t dare claim it was a squirrel.

   “Um, it’s abstract.”

   “Abstract?”

   “Yeah.  Avant garde.”

   She took a swipe at it with her spoon, chopping a hunk out of its side and putting it in her mouth.

   “Looks pretty crappy, but it tastes good.”

   She swilled it in her mouth, smiling at Brent, and they both immediately started laughing.  

 





 
  


 CHAPTER NINETEEN 
Brent doubled down on his workload so he could make the weekend trip to New York without missing any deadlines the following week.  After he finished the motions and oppositions on his other cases, he dove into the cyber world to try to get his head around the Iraq war and the insurgency so he could form some concept of Ryan’s defense.  

   Brent already knew the story the public was given surrounding the Iraq war and the insurgency.  He remembered the president on television and General Powell appearing before the United Nations, to convince them that Saddam Hussein had hidden weapons of mass destruction.  He knew that this had turned out not to be true, but this argument was not based upon pure fantasy.  As usual, there was a story behind the story, and that is where the truth was hidden.

Thanks to whistleblowers who had leaked information, real journalists that were left behind after the blogging massacre and the Freedom of Information Act, the facts were all accessible to anyone who knew how to use a mouse.  Brent needed to assemble those facts into a defense, find witnesses to bring them out in court, and make a legal argument to coherently glue all of that together.  

 Simple!  Right.

   Brent’s hands flew over the keyboard, moving back in time to try to make sense of the present.  Classified reports that had become unclassified with age revealed that the United States, under the Reagan and Bush administrations, had authorized the sale of chemicals which could be used in the manufacture of pesticides or chemical weapons (known as dual-use technology) as well as live viruses and bacteria, such as anthrax and bubonic plague, which had their alternative uses either as vaccines or biological weapons.

   The US had also covertly provided critical battle planning for the Iraqis, while knowing full well that Iraq intended to use chemical weapons in waging their war against Iran at the same time that the State Department, Defense Department and National Security Advisor Colin Powell publicly condemned Iraq’s use of mustard gas, sarin and other chemical agents.

 Do as I say, not as I do.

   Following up on Jack’s lead of John Riechert and The Riechert Group, Brent’s Internet research showed that Riechert had been hired by the CIA to help create the conditions needed to remove Saddam Hussein from power.  It also revealed that a war plan on Iraq had been sitting on Deputy Secretary of Defense Paul Wolfowitz’ desk for years, and was dusted off after the September 11th terrorist attacks.  Iraq was the prize; now they had to connect it to Al-Qaeda somehow.

   Brent continued to mine cyber space for the answers.  To his chagrin, everything had been documented.

   Two months after Riechert had been hired, in December 2001, a clandestine operation performed by the CIA and the Pentagon produced testimony of an alleged Iraqi civil engineer, who under polygraph examination, testified that he had helped Saddam Hussein and his men hide tons of biological, chemical and nuclear weapons.  The problem was that when the polygraph results were checked, it was discovered that the testimony was completely false.  But that didn’t stop them from departing on a $2.2 trillion snipe hunt to effectuate a change of regime in Iraq.  

 And now they’re prosecuting Ryan.  How ironic!

   Prior to 2002, the CIA was the Bush Administration’s main provider of intelligence on Iraq. In order to establish the connection between Iraq and terrorists, in 2002, the Pentagon established the Office of Special Plans which was, in reality, specifically designed for war planning against Iraq, and designated by Defense Secretary Donald Rumsfeld to be the provider of intelligence on Iraq to the Bush Administration.  Its head, the Undersecretary of Defense, Douglas J. Feith, appointed a small team to review the existing intelligence on terrorist networks, in order to reveal their sponsorship states, among other things. 

 Brent kept following this lead, oblivious to the passage of time and how late it was.  

   In 2002, Paul Wolfowitz wrote a memo to Feith entitled, “Iraq Connections to Al-Qaeda,” which stated that they were “not making much progress pulling together intelligence on links between Iraq and Al-Qaeda.”  Peter W. Rodman, the Assistant Secretary of Defense for International Security, established a “Policy Counter Terror Evaluation Group” (PCTEG) which produced an analysis of the links between Al-Qaeda and Iraq, with suggestions on “how to exploit the connections.”

 They couldn’t find any links, so they just made them up.

   Brent discovered that Riechert had fed stories to the press, from the “shock and awe” attack on Baghdad and the smart bombs which hit strategic targets without causing collateral damage, through the turkey shoot of the Iraqi Army.  Then, Riechert made the ingenious suggestion to embed journalists with actual combat units in order to present the American government’s view of the war to the public.  It worked.  The toppling of Saddam’s statue in Firdos Square was a media event that was completely staged, like any great big budget Hollywood movie, with 100% of the profits (in billions instead of millions) going to defense contractors who supplied equipment and the troops.   

 General Smedley Butler was sure right.  War is the most profitable business on earth.

   Brent remembered the egg on General Powell’s face when no weapons of mass destruction were found in Iraq, but by then Phase II of the propaganda campaign had been put into place.  He remembered seeing President Bush on television assuring the Iraqi people that they will soon be free from tyranny, the accusations of atrocities of Saddam and the demonization of the dictator that the United States had relatively good relations with all through the 1980s.  

Indeed, the first President Bush had reasoned that, at the conclusion of the Gulf War, he had rendered Saddam and his forces virtually impotent.  But by 2003, there were allegations that Saddam was harboring Al-Qaeda, and what better way to solve the problem than to remove Saddam and his axis of evil and bring democracy to the people of Iraq?  He was public enemy number one and he had to be stopped, then found, then killed.

   As a result of the managed media pro-war coverage in the United States, the American people seemed to be blindly in support of the war there, flying flags from their car antennas and declaring their loyalty to the president and the troops.  

   But the relatively easy victory, marked by Bush’s ‘Mission Accomplished’ announcement on the deck of the USS Abraham Lincoln was followed by an unmanageable insurgency.  To get a handle on this insurgency, the administration took the suggestions of Dick Cheney and Donald Rumsfeld to employ the “Salvador Option” which involved the training of the Iraqi police force by US Special Forces and the implementation of death squads.  Special Forces used “cloak and dagger” methods that could be denied by the government if anyone got caught.  It was the way the CIA had been starting its dirty wars since the Vietnam era.

 Death squads in Iraq?

   In 2004, Donald Rumsfeld sent Colonel Jeffrey Steelman to serve as a civilian advisor to Iraqi Paramilitary special police commandos known as the “Tiger Brigade.”  Steelman was a counter-insurgency specialist who was a member of a group of US Special Forces advisors to the Salvadoran Army and trained counter-insurgency commandos in South America, which carried out extreme abuses of human rights.

   The Tiger Brigade was created and established by the United States and enabled the re-deployment of Saddam Hussein’s Republican Guard.  The Brigade was later accused by a UN official of torture, murder and the implementation of death squads.  The techniques used by these counter-insurgency squads were described as “fighting terror with terror,” which was previously done in other theaters, such as Vietnam and El Salvador.  

Special Forces teams under the lead of Colonel Steelman were to advise, support and train Iraqi squads, most likely hand-picked Kurdish Peshmerga fighters and Shiite militiamen, to target Sunni insurgents and their sympathizers, even across the border into Syria, according to military insiders familiar with the discussions.

   The use of death squads began in 2004 and continued until the winding down of combat operations in 2008.  In addition to the death squads, according to the news reports Brent had read, regular military units were often ordered to do things such as: “kill all military age males” during certain operations; to “dead-check” or kill wounded resistance fighters; to call in air strikes on civilian areas; and to conduct 360-degree rotational fire on busy streets without identifying specific targets.  These extreme measures were justified to troops in Iraq by propaganda linking the casualties to terrorism.

   Colonel Steelman, with the help of Col. John Hellman, set up torture centers, dispatching Shia militias to torture Sunni soldiers to learn the details of the insurgency.  This has been attributed as a major cause of the civil war which led to the formation of the Islamic State (ISIS).

   In August 2006, four American soldiers from a combat unit in Iraq testified in an Article 32 hearing that they had been given orders by their commanding officer to “kill all military age males.”  Brent noted their names as potential witnesses.

   Now Ryan’s story started to fit in and make sense.  But to tell it in court, Brent would need witnesses.  By the time his extensive research had been done, Brent was filled with curiosity and more questions than he had when he started.  Maybe instead of taking random stabs in the dark, with the revelations he received from his potential new witness, Bob, he could really focus on a discovery plan that would unveil the evidence he needed for an acquittal.  








 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY 
Brent caught the red-eye to New York and his airplane hit the tarmac at Kennedy around 8 a.m.  As the plane was taxiing toward the gate, he activated his cell phone.  Before the Jetway had connected with the aircraft, he received a phone call.

   “Mr. Marks?”

   “Bob?”

   “Yes, it’s Bob.  Have you booked a hotel?”

   “Yes, I’m staying at the Waldorf.”

   “Well, I’m going to alter your plans a little.”

   “What?”

   “Now listen carefully.  It’s very important that you’re not followed.  Take a taxi to the Waldorf and check in as you planned.  Then ask the clerk if you have any messages. I’ll be in touch.”

   “But how will you know when I…”  The line went dead.  Brent tried to call back, but the call had come from a blocked number.  

 This is exciting, but it’s also scary.  What if this is some covert operation to take out Ryan Bennington’s lawyer?

   Brent hailed a taxi at curbside, threw his overnight bag on the backseat, and the cab took off for the Waldorf Astoria on Park Avenue.  Once he was deposited there, he checked in at the front desk.

   “Good morning, Mr. Marks.  Welcome to the Waldorf Astoria.”

   “Thank you.”

   “May I see some ID and a credit card please?”

   “Sure.”

   Brent gave his essentials to the clerk and he was rewarded with a room key and a message.

   “This was left for you by messenger, Mr. Marks.”  The clerk smiled.  “That’s the way they used to do it before email.”

   “Thank you.”

   Brent opened the envelope.  The strange, typewritten letter said:

   I’ve booked a room for you at Hotel 373 under the name of William Maxwell.  It’s still in Midtown.  I know the manager there.  He won’t ask for your ID.  It’s very important that you’re not followed.  First, turn off your cell phone.  As long as it’s on, you can be tracked.  Next, go out the back on Lexington and grab a cab to Hotel 373 on Fifth between 34th and 35th.  Check in as William Maxwell and I’ll call you in your room when you get there – Bob.

   Brent left his bags with the bellman, went immediately out the back entrance without going to his room and hailed a cab on Lexington Avenue.

   “Hotel 373, on Fifth between 34th and 35th please.”  

   “You got it.”

   The car took off.  The driver was not talkative at all, but that was a plus because Brent didn’t want to reveal any information about himself or his mission there.  In this way, the New York attitude suited his privacy concerns just fine.

 Welcome to New York.  Now go home.

 Brent checked into his second hotel, this time under the name of William Maxwell, all the while looking over his shoulder in the glass exposed small front lobby to see if anyone was watching him.  When he got up to the room and opened the door, his room phone was ringing.  He ran to the phone and picked it up.

   “Are you checked in?”

   “Yes.”

   “Do you like books?”

   “Well, yeah, doesn’t everyone?”

   “Good.  Go downstairs and ask the clerk if you have any messages.”  Bob, once again, hung up.

 I’m beginning to feel like James Bond.  Marks, Brent Marks…Shaken, not stirred…

   The next message read:

   Go to the New York Public Library.  It’s only five blocks away.  Use a paper map – don’t ask for directions or use the Internet.  Get a book from the shelves and sit down at one of the tables and read it. 

   Brent asked for a tourist map from the clerk at the front desk and easily found the New York Public Library.  He walked out into the sun and shadows of Manhattan amid the cacophony of honking horns and potpourri of street smells.  He gaped up at the monolith that was the Empire State Building.  The hotel was right next to it.  The bitter, warm smell of coffee wafted out of the swinging doors of the Starbucks.

   At a quick pace, he made the five-block walk to the public library.  As he joined the human current on the street, Brent looked around to assess if he was being followed, a task that was almost impossible.  Everyone walking alone seemed to have a serious expression, which made them all look suspicious.  Only the ones traveling in pairs didn’t – women chatting and laughing, suited men in twos or threes.  It was like a scene from a movie where a guy was trying to run away and lose himself in the New York street crowd.

   Brent entered through the center of three arches in the massive white edifice that was the New York Public Library, a place he had never before seen.  He entered into a travertine-walled, wood-ceilinged grand hall lined with books and equipped with wooden tables and chairs.  Echoes of footfalls and faint whispers were the only sounds.  The place had a unique smell, obviously from the worn covers and musty paper of thousands of shelved books.  He browsed for a while, running his fingers over the worn bindings and selected an old book, more for its cover than its content, located one of the emptiest wooden tables, and sat down.

   Ironically, the book that Brent had randomly selected was about famous lawyers throughout history.  Brent had momentarily escaped through the mental portal that one uses when reading a chapter on Clarence Darrow when he heard the squeak of the legs of a wooden chair being pulled out.  He looked up from the book and saw a bearded man who had set his own book on the table and was lowering himself into the chair opposite him.  He quickly sized him up with his lawyer’s mind, making all kinds of generalizations.  He was of average height, but looked very strong.  Dark skinned, but Brent couldn’t tell if he was white or black.  Maybe Muslim.  The man smiled and Brent returned a “courtesy smile” and went back to reading.  Then, he heard a whisper.

   “Brent Marks?”

   Brent looked up.  It was the smiley bearded man again.

   “Yes?’

   “I’m Bob!”








 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY ONE 
Brent beamed.  He finally got to meet the elusive “Bob.”  “Well, Bob, it’s great to finally…”

 Bob held his finger up in front of his lips.

   “Shh!  Not here.  We have to talk in private.  I’m going to leave a piece of paper on the table.  Cover it with your book, wait a few minutes after I leave, and then take the paper under the book when you go to return it.  On it is the address where I’ll meet you.  Memorize it, and then go to the bathroom, rip it up and flush it down the toilet.”

 Is this guy serious?

   Bob closed his book and, with both hands on it, pushed himself away from the table.  As he did, the book slid toward the center.  He rose, picked up the book, and in its absence was a tiny scrap of paper on the table that was hardly noticeable.  He looked up and Bob was gone.  Brent covered the message with his book, kept reading it for a few minutes, and then closed it.  

   Brent pocketed the note, put the book on the return shelf, and headed for the men’s room, looking all around him like a paranoid schizophrenic.  He took a stall, locked the door and pulled out the note.  It read:

   Take a cab to The Spice Market, 403 W. 13th Street between Washington and 9th.  There is a table in the private room booked under the name of ‘Jones.’  Wait for me there.

   Brent ripped up the note, and flushed it down the toilet, as instructed.  Then, he set out on his new mission.

Brent exited the cab in the heart of the meat packing district, one of the trendiest spots in the city.  The lunch crowd had not yet begun to invade the local cafes, which would cater to the night life of the younger multitudes from about 10 p.m. until the wee hours of the morning.  The cuisine at the Spice Market was considered “Asian Fusion.”  When he opened the door, Brent could smell the unmistakable scent of stir fry and soy sauce.  A Vietnamese man in an orange print shirt with tree branches and black slacks greeted Brent at the entrance with a smile and a nod.

   “Table for Jones, please.”

   “Ah, yes, Mr. Jones.  Please follow me, sir.”  The man took a menu from his stand and led Brent to a private dining room on the second floor.

 “Would you like something to drink, sir?”

   “Sure, I’ll have a glass of water please.”

   The man nodded and backed out of the room. 

   After the man returned with a glass of water, Bob appeared at the door of the dining room.

   “Mr. Marks, we meet again.”  Bob had a gruff voice that brought to mind a merchant marine or sailor type.  What skin on his face that wasn’t covered with a good growth of dark beard appeared to be tan.  He could pass for Mexican or even an Arab.

   Brent rose and shook hands with him.

   “Good to finally be able to talk to you, Bob.”

   “Yeah, I’m sorry about all that counter-surveillance stuff.  You probably think I’m paranoid, but after I tell you my story, you’ll understand, believe me.”

   Bob took a seat next to Brent at the table.  A young waiter who looked Thai came into the room with his order pad and pen ready.

   “Are you ready to order?”

   “Mr. Marks, why don’t I order some stuff and you can pay?”

   Brent nodded, but then Bob laughed.  “I’m just kidding!  I know the owner here really well.  He’s a vet.  Anything we want is on the house.  But I also know the menu.  May I?”

   “Of course.”

   Bob ordered an assortment of dim sum and nem for appetizers, and beef with mint leaves, cashew chicken and a seafood pot for the main course.

   “What are you drinkin’ Mr. Marks?”

   “I’ll have an Asahi beer, please.”

   “Make it two.”

   “Bob, if you keep calling me Mr. Marks I’m going to be more than curious about your family name.  What is it?”

   Bob waited for the waiter to leave the room.

   “That depends on what point in time.  Right now my name really is Bob and the last name is Garcia.”

 Right now?

   “Call me Brent.”

   “Okay, Brent.  Are you hungry?”

   “Yes.”

   “Good, then I suggest we eat first because you may not have an appetite after what I have to say.”

   The waiter brought them the beers and the appetizers and, as they ate, more sizzling plates kept coming in and they stabbed at the plates with their chopsticks until they had finished everything.

   After the dinner, Bob’s mood seemed to change.  He ordered another brew for each of them and when the waiter brought the beers and set them down, he made it clear that they were not to be disturbed.

   “You’ve probably been reading about covert ops and Special Forces in the Iraq insurgency fight, haven’t you?”

   “Yes, as a matter of fact I have.”

   “Tell me what you think you know.”

   Brent outlined the findings of his research about Rumsfeld appointing retired Colonel Steelman and dispatching him to Iraq with a contingent of Special Forces to train the Iraqi police force.

   “You got it right about the death squads, but did you stop to think about how long it would take to train thousands of guards and policemen?  I mean, think about it.  This thing was a done deal literally overnight.  Do you really think it was the Iraqi Shiites who ran the death squads?”

   Brent looked at him with a complete blank.  “You tell me who it was, Bob.”

   “It was us.  They even called us death.  The CIA enlisted guys like me.  Guys who spoke Arabic and could pass for being Arab.  I was regular Army when they tapped me out.  They came and rustled me out of bed at three in the morning and told me I was on special duty.  I went through rigorous specialized training.  You know what in?”

   “Weapons?”

   “Foreign weapons, the kind you’re not even trained or allowed to use in the Army.  Hand-to-hand combat.  Iraqi culture so I could blend in as one of them.  They turned me into a lean, mean killing machine.  And at the time I was all for it.  I wanted to wipe terrorism off the face of the earth.  September 11th hit me hard, you know?  This is New York, my home town.  Their idea to eradicate terrorism was to do it with counter-terrorism, like they did in El Salvador.  

“Fight terror with terror.”

Bob nodded.  “Right!  When they activated our unit, they would assign us an enemy camp, and we’d go in under cover of darkness and kill everyone in the place.  We looked like them, talked like them, and we even killed like them.  We usually left one guy alive to tell the story.  I followed orders like a good soldier and did this for two years, until one day they pushed it too far.  Then I knew I had to get out.”  Brent listened solemnly as Bob related every bloody detail.

   “Will you testify at Captain Bennington’s court-martial trial?”

   “If I said yes, I’d be dead less than an hour after my name appeared on the witness list.  But I’m gonna tell you who to depose – the kingpins of the whole stinking mess.  Get them to testify, put the evidence I’m gonna give you right in their faces.  I guarantee if you do that, there won’t be no court-martial trial, unless they want to put the entire system on trial.”

   “What if I did all that, and the government still wouldn’t dismiss the case?  Would you consider appearing if I could seal the record and not reveal your identity to the government?”

   “You can do that?”

   “I can try.”

   Bob drained the last foam of his brew, put the mug down and looked at Brent with intensity.

   “I don’t think it would keep me safe, but if you can do it, and get me in and out of there in one piece, I just might consider it.”








 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY TWO 
Brent sat next to Brody in the same courtroom they had occupied for the Article 32 hearing.  

   “Okay, Jeff, you’ve got this one.  I’ll come in when you talk about the depositions.”

   The court reporter took her seat, as did the clerk of the court, who was in Army uniform.  At the counsel table to the right of them, were two of the three from the investigation, including Major Brinkman.  A grey-haired gentleman in full dress uniform walked in through a side door and took a seat on the elevated bench in front of the American flag and the flag of the Army.

   “This Article 39(a) session is now called to order.”  Lieutenant Colonel Scott B. Leonard, the military judge, surveyed the set of uniforms and one suit before him.

   “This court-martial is convened by court-martial convening order number 10, Fort Hunter-Liggit, dated 20 December, 2014, copies of which have been duly furnished to the military judge, counsel and the accused, and which shall be inserted at this point into the record.

   “The charges have been properly referred to this court and have been served on the accused on 21 December 2014.  The prosecution is ready to proceed today in the arraignment in the case of United States of America versus Captain Ryan Bennington.”

   The judge noted the presence of everyone who was in the room – Major Theodore Brinkman, trial counsel, his assistant, Captain Theodore, and the defense team, consisting of Captain Jeffrey Brody and Brent Marks.  He noted that the members (the equivalent of jurors) were absent.

   Judge Leonard advised Ryan of his right to military counsel provided by the government at no charge, his right to civilian counsel at his own expense, and then asked Brody and Brent to state their qualifications as counsel and, when they were finished, asked Brinkman to detail the charges, which Brinkman read into the record.

   Judge Leonard advised Ryan that he would be tried by twelve members, and that, since the government was not seeking the death penalty, he could be convicted by a three-quarter vote of the members.  That differed from the state and federal standards that Brent was used to, which required a unanimous verdict of all the jurors.

   The pomp and circumstance having been played through, Judge Leonard proceeded with the arraignment.

   “The accused will now be arraigned.  Major Brinkman?”

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  All parties to the trial have been furnished with a copy of the charges.  Does the accused want them to be read?”

   Brody responded, “The accused waives reading of the charges.”

   “Very well, the reading may be omitted.  Major Brinkman?”

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  The charges are signed by Lieutenant Colonel Taylor Rand, a person subject to the Code as an accuser; are properly sworn before a commissioned officer of the Armed Forces authorized to administer oaths; and are properly referred to this court for trial by the convening authority.”

   “Captain Ryan Bennington and his counsel, please rise.” 

 Ryan, Brent and Brody all stood up together.  

“Before receiving your plea, I must advise you that any motions to dismiss or to grant any other appropriate relief must be made now.  Captain Ryan Bennington, to the charges, how do you plea?”

   “Your Honor, we have filed several motions for depositions and discovery that need to be resolved before a plea can be taken.”

 “Very well.  We will take a brief recess while I review the motions.”

***

 When the judge came back from the break he called the court to order and flipped through the files on the bench.

   “The court will take up the motions for depositions first.  The defense has filed a motion to depose several potential witnesses who are outside the court’s local jurisdiction and the government has filed an opposition thereto.  I have read both the motions and the opposition.  Does the Movant wish to be heard?”

   “Yes, Your Honor.  We have requested the depositions of retired Colonel Jeffrey Steelman and private citizen John Riechert.  Both of these witnesses are out of the range of this court’s subpoena power and, therefore, will be unavailable for trial.  Both have important information that is relevant to the defense.”

   “I understand that the government has denied these depositions and objects to them, is that correct, Major Brinkman?”

   “Yes, Your Honor.  As stated in our opposition, these witnesses possess classified information that is not admissible in this court.  This is classified information that would be detrimental to national security and therefore prohibited by Rule 505.”

   “Mr. Brody?”

   “Mr. Marks will address this, Your Honor.”

   Brent rose to speak to the judge.  “Your Honor, first of all, there has been no information elicited from any of the proposed witnesses.  Therefore, there is no information that the government can argue is classified which disclosure would be detrimental to national security.  An objection can be made to each such piece of evidence so that a determination can be made.  Until that time, the issue is premature.

   “Secondly, the defense has already requested information that is potentially classified and the government has responded with producing the information with redactions.  This is simply a guise to prevent these witnesses from testifying as to things which are not classified, but which may prove to be embarrassing to the government.”

   Brinkman looked like the air was building up in his cheeks, holding back his urge to blurt out objections, but kept his military demeanor, and also his mouth shut and let Brent finish without interruption.

   “Finally, Your Honor, the government has asked for a protective order, but there are less restrictive protective provisions that Your Honor can put in place to assure that any potentially classified information is kept from disclosure except as authorized by this court.  

“However, since a deposition does not have a judicial officer, the information will have to be elicited so that Your Honor can review it and make the determination from the transcript.  To prohibit any inquiry because the government feels it may reveal classified information that can be protected by less stringent means would deny the accused of his right to cross-examine witnesses against him and his right to produce evidence favorable to his defense.”

   “Major Brinkman, I think Mr. Marks has made some very good points.  Do you wish to be heard?”

   “Yes, Your Honor.  These persons proposed to be examined have a wealth of classified information that I have alluded to in the government’s opposition to the motions.  Rule 505 simply prohibits their testimony as to any of this information.”

   “Mr. Marks?”

   “Your Honor, Major Brinkman uses the word information.  It is the information which is potentially classified and must be protected, not the person who possesses it.  Therefore, until the question is asked and the privilege is claimed, there is no way to make a determination of what each particular witness may say and whether or not it involves classified information, that Your Honor must rule on how to treat.  To do it otherwise would invite the defense to make a motion to dismiss all charges, which we are happy to do.”

   “Thank you, I think I‘ve heard enough.  I will order the depositions as requested, but restrict the personnel at them to persons with security clearances, except for counsel, who are bound by my order not to disclose this information to any third party unless and until ordered by the court.  The transcript and any videotaped testimony shall be sealed until the court will then make a determination as to the nature of the information revealed. 

   “Finally, the court will be in recess for thirty days, at which time any motions regarding this discovery or any further motions will be resolved and a plea to the charges taken.”

   Brent, Brody, and a disappointed Major Brinkman thanked the judge.  

 You always have to thank the judge, even when he rules against you.

   “What does it mean?” asked Ryan.

   “It means that we carry on for now, but fight about it later,” Brent answered.








 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY THREE 
Bryan, Texas was a small community of about 100,000 people with a “Main Street USA” atmosphere.  It was here, not in some rich exotic location, that the man known as the “Butcher of South America,” Colonel Jeffrey Steelman, had decided to retire on the millions that he had been paid by the CIA to set up death squads in South America and Iraq, where he had also set up black sites for the torture and detention of prisoners.  

   It was on one of these little main street storefront offices that Brent and Brody sought to depose the colonel, who had shown up with his own personal attorney, Donald Unger, and Major Brinkman.  At the onset of the deposition, which was held in a small conference room, Brinkman and Unger both objected to the entire deposition as it sought to expose classified information that could be damaging to national security and they also objected to the videotaping of the deposition.  Brent ignored the objections, and added, “There’s no more hiding, colonel.  We’ve already read all the documents that were uploaded to WikiLeaks.  They’ve been in the public eye for some time now.  Why don’t you gentlemen have a seat so we can proceed?”

   At first glance, Steelman seemed to be a normal man in his late 60s, still with a full head of grey hair and a drooping face, but he also had that blank, expressionless look in his eyes that Brent had seen before in countless attorney interview rooms in the eyes of so many accused prisoners who “didn’t do it” in jails all over California when he had first started practicing law, and had served as backup counsel to the public defender.  He had come face-to-face with the same type of eyes in a cold blooded killer who Brent had been forced to shoot in self-defense.  Just being in the same room with the man and thinking of what he had done gave Brent the chills.  The court reporter swore Steelman in.

   Jeff Brody spent about ten minutes giving Colonel Steelman the ground rules for the deposition and another hour delving into his background and experience, giving the colonel the opportunity to brag about himself in his own words.  

   The colonel touted his extensive service record in the military.  His long career in the Army had started in the Vietnam War.  From 1984 through 1986, he was a counter-insurgency specialist and member of US Special Forces advisors to the Salvadoran Army.  In 2004 he was hired by Donald Rumsfeld to serve as an advisor to the Iraqi paramilitary police commandos, who were known as the “Tiger Brigade.”  He was the recipient of a Silver Star Medal, a Distinguished Service Medal, four Legions of Merit, three Bronze Stars and a Purple Heart.

 Amazing how ruthlessly killing so many people can bring such accolades.

 After the colonel was warmed up, Brent took over the questioning.  He started with the El Salvador death squads to try to shake Steelman, but the colonel merely answered the questions robotically.

   “Colonel, after your involvement in El Salvador, you also helped train contras forces in Nicaragua, isn’t that true?”

   “Yes.”

   “Are those the same forces who were called “death squads,” responsible for the deaths of over 75,000 people?”

   “I don’t know anything about any death squads.”

   “Switching now to Iraq in 2004, the Tiger Brigade was a unit of about 2,000 Iraqi special commando police, isn’t that correct?’

   “Yes.”

   “Is it safe to say that these commando police were the militia in Iraq at the time?”

   “Yes, there were about 5,000 total at their peak in 2004.”

   “And you were put under contract in 2004 to supervise their training, is that also correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “To whom did you report?”

   “Directly to General Petraeus.”

   “And you were assisted by Colonel Donald Kaufman, who also reported to General Petraeus, is that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “Colonel, you also reported to Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld, isn’t that correct?”

   “That could be said, yes.”

   “So you reported the activities of the Brigade directly to Secretary Rumsfeld?”

   “I reported intelligence that was discovered to the Secretary of Defense.”

   “And you supervised the intelligence gathering activities of the Tiger Brigade as well, isn’t that correct?”

   “I did.”

   “Colonel, do you know an Iraqi general by the name of Muntadher al-Samari, the former Commander of the Ministry of the Interior of Iraq?”

   “I am acquainted with him, yes.”

   “The general has accused you of supervising the torture of detainees.  Do you contend that he is mistaken?”

   The Colonel’s jaw tightened and his brows furrowed as he leaned across the table, aggressively.

   “He is mistaken.  I never supervised the torture of any detainees.  Torture is counter-productive.  Not only that, it’s an abuse of human rights.”

   “Colonel, are you aware of the fragmentary order FRAGO 242?

   Steelman looked at Brent with a look as cold as his name.  Brent thought it fitting that Joseph Stalin had chosen the same type of name, which literally meant: “steel.”  

   “I don’t recall.”

   “Really?  You don’t recall an order given to soldiers to ignore Iraqion-Iraqi torture?”

   Steelman turned his head toward his attorneys.

   “Objection, calls for classified information that could be detrimental to national security.”

   “Join,” chimed in Unger.

   “Interesting objection, but the judge will determine that if you wish to insist.  Mr. Brody has put before you, colonel, and your counsel, a military order that was issued in June 2004, named Fragmentary Order 242, which instructed coalition troops in Iraq to report, but not to investigate any breaches of the laws of armed conflict unless it directly involved members of the coalition.  Does that refresh your recollection?”

   “Objection, classified.”

   “Again, Major Brinkman, anyone with access to the Internet can look at this document.  I’m not asking Colonel Steelman anything except whether he was aware of the existence of the order.  Colonel?”

   “I was aware, yes.”

   “And did you believe that this order applied to you?”

   “What do you mean?”

   “As a private contractor, if you had personally directed any such breaches of the law of armed conflict, would you or the person you directed to carry out the breach be immune from investigation?”

   “Objection, calls for speculation.  Also calls for a legal conclusion.”

   “Duly noted, major.  Colonel, please answer the question.”

   Steelman glared at Brent.  “I didn’t commit any abuses.”

   “Please answer the question.  Did FRAGO 242 apply to you or did it not?”

   “I don’t know.  I’m not a lawyer.” 

   The colonel shifted back in his chair and his lips seemed to form a grin.

 Is he actually enjoying this?

   “Do you have an opinion as to whether your actions and the actions of those you directed were immune by reason of FRAGO 242?”

   “Objection.  Calls for a legal conclusion.”

 The colonel was enjoying this legal sparring.  He had an obvious contempt for lawyers in general and Brent in particular, and was enjoying meeting Brent one-one-one in this battle of legal words.  The colonel was not one to lose in battle.

   “Noted.  Do you have an opinion, colonel?”

   “I have an opinion.”

   “What is your opinion?”

   “That orders of the military not specifically directed to private contractors were not binding upon the contractors.  I may also note that, nevertheless, I didn’t commit any breaches of the law of armed conflict.”

   “But it is your opinion that if you had broken the laws of armed conflict, coalition forces would not have had the obligation to investigate you because you were a defense contractor, isn’t that correct?”

   “I suppose you could say that.”

   “You were working with Special Forces in Iraq under the command of Colonel Kaufman, is that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “And those Special Forces fought alongside the Tiger Brigade in the battle of Mosul, didn’t they?”

   “You know they did.”

   “And, in your opinion, did FRAGO 242 apply to the Special Forces under Colonel Kaufman’s command?”

   “Special Forces operate under a different set of parameters.”

   “But not above the law, correct?”

   “Certainly not.”

   “Would FRAGO 242 have isolated them from investigation of alleged breaches of the law of armed conflict?”

   “I don’t know.”

 Brent grabbed the edges of the table and leaned over it toward the colonel.

 “Come on, colonel.  You know!”

 “Objection!”

 “Answer the question!”

 “Objection!”

 Unger was practically spitting his words.  

  “Mr. Marks, if you don’t stand down, and I mean right now, we are out of here!”

 Brent relaxed his demeanor and continued.

   “Colonel, there were approximately 14 detention centers established to handle the insurgency, is that correct?”

   “Approximately.”

   “Were you present at the detention center in Samarra?”

   “Yes.”

   “When coalition forces or Special Forces captured any potential jihadists, what was the procedure for their interrogation?”

   “They were turned over to the Iraqis.”

   “To the Iraqi police commandos under the command of the Iraqi Ministry of the Interior?”

   “Yes.”

   “And, pursuant to FRAGO 242, if coalition forces became aware of any war crimes committed by the Iraqis against detainees they were not to investigate them, is that correct?”

   “Objection, calls for a legal conclusion.”

   “Do you have an answer, colonel?”

   “I couldn’t say.”

   “Were you aware of any enhanced interrogation techniques used during interrogation of detainees in Samarra?”

   “That depends on what you mean by enhanced interrogation techniques.”

 “With all due respect, colonel, I didn’t make up that ridiculous term.  I would define it as torture.”

 The colonel smirked.  “Nobody was tortured in Samarra.”

   “During your deployment in Iraq, did you witness any detainees during the course of interrogation being waterboarded?”

   “No.”

   “Did you witness any detainees during the course of interrogation being beaten?”

   “No.”

   “But you heard them being beaten, did you not?”

   “Not that I can recall.”

   Brent slid a news story in front of the colonel.  “Look at this report in the New York Times Magazine, colonel.  I’ll tell you what it says.  It says that, during an interview of a Saudi jihadist at Samarra, you both heard screams of a severe beating, you left the room and the screaming stopped.  Does that refresh your recollection?”

   “There may have been some beatings.”

   “Again, not reportable under FRAGO 242?”

   “Apparently not.”

   “Did you witness any detainees during the course of interrogation being hung from the ceiling?”

   “No.”

 “Mr. Marks, we’ve let you have your leeway, but this entire line of questioning is irrelevant and we object.”

 Brent continued, ignoring Brinkman.

   “Did you witness any detainees during the course of interrogation being shot?”

   “No.”

   “Did you witness any detainees during the course of interrogation having their fingernails pulled out?”

   “No.”

   “Did you witness any detainees during the course of interrogation being electrocuted?”

   “No.”

   “And just to be clear, you were the person who had been contracted by the Secretary of Defense to oversee interrogation of detainees, is that correct?”

   “I was not authorized to and did not interrogate any detainees.”

   “But you reported to Secretary Rumsfeld the results of the interrogations, isn’t that correct?”

   “I reported results of interrogation efforts.”

   “Colonel, you knew full well that those detainees were being tortured.  You worked at the detention center in Samarra and you could hear the men screaming every day.”

 “Objection!  Don’t answer, colonel.”

   “They were terrorists.  I suppose they had a lot to scream about.”

   “Come on, colonel.  You knew that war crimes were taking place on a daily basis there, didn’t you?”

 “Objection, colonel you are instructed not to answer the question!”

“Do you know anything about an insurgency, son?”

   “No, why don’t you tell me?”

   Unger put a hand in front of the colonel.  “Colonel, there’s no question pending.”

   The colonel pushed away Unger’s hand and glared at Brent with a look that could kill.  “In an insurgency, the enemy doesn’t wear a uniform.  He comes at you quietly, at night, and slits your throat and cuts off your head.  Have you seen someone beheaded, son?”

   “No, tell me about it.”  Brent taunted the colonel.  Major Brinkman stood up and said, “We’re going to take a break.”

   “No, no, let the colonel finish.”

   “No, we’re taking a break.”  Brinkman and Unger stood up.

   Unger and Brinkman walked out with the colonel, who looked back over his shoulder, seething.

   Brody looked at Brent excitedly.  “You’re lucky he’s not armed.”

   “Yeah, because he certainly is dangerous.”

 





 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY FOUR 
When they returned from the break, Colonel Steelman looked a little less angry and a lot more composed.  He, Unger and Brinkman sat down on the opposite side of the table.

   “Back on the record?  Colonel, you were explaining something to me before the break.  Please finish your answer.”

   “I was finished.”

   “Very well.  But I’m not.  Enough about torture.  Let’s move on to death squads.”

   “Objection to the term “death squads.”

   “What do you prefer to call them?  The Welcome Wagon?”

   That drew a dirty look from Brinkman, who opened his mouth to protest, but Brent moved on to the first question.

   “Colonel, are you familiar with the term, ‘The Salvador Option’ for Iraq?”

   “I’m not aware of it, no.”

   “Then I’ll read you the definition of the Salvador Option, according to the Pentagon.  Let’s see if that will refresh your recollection.  ‘Hit squads of Kurdish and Shia fighters to target leaders of the Iraqi insurgency in a strategic shift borrowed from the American struggle against left-wing guerillas in Central America 20 years ago.’  Does that refresh your recollection of the term, the ‘Salvador Option?’”

 “It may.”

   “During your time as a counter-insurgency advisor in El Salvador, you were aware of the fact that death squads were used to win the civil war in El Salvador, isn’t that correct?”

   “Objection, irrelevant, classified.”

   “Please answer the question, colonel.”

   “That’s classified information.”

   “I’m entitled to your answer, colonel.”

   “I was not aware of any death squads in El Salvador.”  Steelman sat as solid and as cold as his name.

   “Colonel, you trained the commandos in El Salvador, didn’t you?”

   “Yes, I did.”

   “And you trained them in Nicaragua, didn’t you?”

   “Yes.”

   “And these commandos in El Salvador killed about 75,000 people didn’t they?”

   “I think that was the figure.”

   “And those killed included civilians, peasants and political activists, didn’t they?”

   “Objection, irrelevant.”

   “Colonel?”

   “I don’t know.”

   “Let’s talk about Iraq.  Were you aware of 49 bodies being discovered about 50 kilometers south of Baquba, which had all been shot in the head?”

   “As I recall, yes.”

   “Who was responsible for that?”

   “I don’t know.”

   “It was the Tiger Brigade, wasn’t it, colonel?”

   “There was never any evidence of that.”

   “Because there was never an investigation, was there colonel?  Because you and the coalition forces were supposed to just turn your heads and let this go on, business as usual, right?”

   “I have no knowledge of that.”

   “Sure you don’t.  Were you aware of 26 bodies discovered at Rumania in March 2004, who had been blindfolded, handcuffed and shot in the head?”

   “I may have.”

   “And was Rumania an area where the US Army had been conducting an operation known as Operation River Blitz?”

   “It was.”

   “Were you aware of the approximate 100 bodies found in the Tigris River around Suwayra in February 2004 that had been bound, shot and beheaded?”

   “Yes, I was aware of those reports.”

   “Did the Iraqi police commandos have anything to do with those deaths?”

   “Not that I am aware of.”

   “How do you explain them?”

   “I can’t.  There were a lot of militias operating in Iraq at that time.”

   “With all due respect, colonel, you were personally aware of each and every militia being operated by the Iraqi government, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “And you supervised the training of those militias, isn’t that also correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “Yet you knew nothing about how those deaths occurred?”

   “That’s right.”  

   “And you cannot explain the fact that approximately 3,000 of such murders occurred after your assignment as a counter-insurgency advisor in 2004 through the pullout of American forces in 2008?”

   “No, I cannot.”

   The colonel smirked.

   “Just a coincidence, is it?”

   “You tell me.”

   “You were assigned to Iraq by the Secretary of Defense himself, to train the Iraqi commandos as death squads, weren’t you?”

   “I was assigned to train them.”

   “And you brought Special Forces with you who fought alongside them, didn’t you?”

   “Yes.”

   “And these Special Forces were not regular Army, were they?”

   “No.”

   “In fact, they were authorized by the CIA to conduct covert operations, weren’t they?”

   “Objection, classified.”

   “I can’t answer that.  It’s classified.”

   “Colonel, your Special Forces dressed in indigenous clothing, didn’t they?”

   “They wore civilian clothing sometimes.”

   “I mean for their missions.”

   “That’s classified.”

   “And they used AK-47s instead of American military weaponry, didn’t they?”

   “That’s classified.”

   Brent raised himself on the table and looked straight into the Colonel’s cold steel-grey eyes.

   “And you assigned them to go into villages and kill all the occupants of those villages, didn’t you?”

   The colonel clenched his fists.  “I can’t answer your questions.  They call for classified information.”

   “Does the name Malik Abdul ring a bell, colonel?”

   Steelman appeared to turn pale.  He took in a breath.  “No.”

 





 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY FIVE 
Brent had sent Jack on assignment to locate and interview witnesses in the Charles Currie case.  PFC Currie, who had pleaded guilty to murder, was one of the soldiers from Charlie Company 3/183rd Regiment, who had performed a raid on a suspected Al-Qaeda training facility southwest of Samarra in 2006.  

A Black Hawk helicopter had dropped off Currie’s squad on an island village consisting of two homes.  When they first landed, they encountered no resistance.  They came upon the first house, where they shot a man who was looking out a window.  When they came to the second house, they discovered three men using two women as human shields.  They handcuffed and detained the men while their squad leader, Sergeant Jeremy, radioed Command to report.  His response was, “Why aren’t those terrorists dead yet?” 

Currie claimed that one of the detainees attacked him while he was trying to reinforce their zip-tie cuffs.  Currie shot him as he was trying to escape.  Other reports, including the official one, is that Sergeant Jeremy cut off the detainees’ zip ties and ordered Currie and his fellow soldiers to shoot the detainees.  They claimed that their senior Commanding Officer, Colonel Landers, had specified that the rules of engagement were to “kill all military age males.”

   The witness, Corporal Bradley Washington, met Jack at Ruby’s Coffee Shop in Lincoln, Nebraska.  Washington was about 30 years old, dressed in a grey hoodie.  When he asked for Jack, the waitress directed him to Jack’s table.

   “Mr. Ruder?”

   Jack stood up and shook the man’s hand.

   “Bradley Washington?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Thank you for meeting with me.  It could make a big difference to my client.”

   “I’m happy to help.”

   “You were on deployment with Charley Company for Operation Clean Sweep, weren’t you?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Can you tell me what the operation was all about?”

   “We were raiding a suspected Al-Qaeda training camp in Tikrit, a few clicks southwest of Samarra.  I think we got about 200 terrorists and confiscated a bunch of weapons.”

   “You testified at PFC Currie’s Article 32 hearing about what the CO said to all of you before that operation, didn’t you?”

   “Yes, sir.  Colonel Landers told us all the night before the raid that these were dangerous Al-Qaeda operatives and that we were to kill all of them.”

   “All of them?”

   “All males of military age.  The only exceptions were those who were actively surrendering or those who couldn’t be killed without injuring civilians.

   “Charley Company had a ‘kill board.’”

   “A kill board?”

   “Yeah.  The colonel had a board that kept score of how many insurgents each soldier had killed.”

   “So it was kind of like a contest?”

   “Yeah, something like that.”

   “Did you have to kill anyone on that mission, Bradley?”

   “Yeah.”  Bradley looked down at the floor.

   “Are you willing to testify at Captain Bennington’s court-martial?”

   “If you can get me out there.  I can’t afford to get there on my own.  Haven’t been able to get any decent work since I’ve come back from deployment.”

   “Uncle Sam will fly you out to California on his dime.”

   “Sounds good.”








 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY SIX 
Brent’s flight to Washington, D.C. was even shorter than it otherwise would have been because he couldn’t get Colonel Steelman’s testimony off his mind.  Did the colonel really believe he had done all he did for God and country or was he really the personification of all that was evil in mankind?  If Colonel Steelman was the foreman of the war against the insurgency, Brent was about to meet its head of PR, John Riechert.

   The deposition was held in the opulent offices of The Riechert Group in Washington, D.C., which was probably bugged, but Brent didn’t care because everything was being recorded by videotape anyway.  The lobby was richly equipped in travertine marble and rich wood paneling, with the company name in gold lettering above the reception desk.  Brent imagined the letters were gold plated, like the seat belts in Donald Trump’s hundred million dollar jet.  

 What a contrast to the conditions of combat, which this company was created to promote.

   If Brent succeeded in drawing any facts from this deposition, they would probably be stricken as irrelevant, but it was in this office that members of the highest levels of government had conspired to sell a war to its people.  

   The Vietnam Syndrome was something that had plagued the Reagan administration.  The solution was “perception management” which is really just a clever term for propaganda, and the king of perception management was John Riechert.  With the advent of the Internet, perception had become easier to manage.  In these days of real-time news, the seeds could be planted with thousands of bloggers, and the mainstream media, not wanting to be left out on the scoop, would report rumor as if it were true.  

After all, there was no time to research any story, real investigative journalists depended on the Freedom of Information Act to flush out the true facts, and FOIA requests could be stalled by the government until the news was no longer news.  The truth was defined by whoever told it first.  With the effective use of perception management, the people would wave the flag and cheer while sending their young men and women to the battlefield, instead of mourning the losses and empathizing with the war-torn soldiers as they did in the Vietnam era.  The news was what John Riechert said it was.

   Brent and Brody entered the conference room, which had a 180-degree view of the monuments of the Capitol and smelled of fresh-brewed coffee.  As he took his seat at the long wooden conference table, he thought of waving at the hidden camera in the ceiling smoke alarm and offering a one-finger salutation to Jack Ruder’s federal ex-buddies, but changed his mind.  If he wasn’t on the watch list of every imaginable acronymic manifestation of the US government before, he certainly was now and there was no need to call extra attention to himself.

   The court reporter was already seated, and had arranged her computer and stenotype machine for the difficult task of recording everyone in the room word for word.  The videographer was also ready and waiting behind his camera, with his sound recording equipment at his side.  Major Brinkman entered the room next, and shook both Brent and Brody’s hands.  Riechert was the last to enter with his private counsel, William Langley, who had an appropriate last name to go with his three-piece custom made suit, manicured nails and six-hundred dollar Italian shoes.  He took a seat next to his client, who sat in a throne next to the court reporter.

   Riechert was a portly man, with a round Pillsbury Doughboy face, grey hair, no chin, and a neck that drooped from what used to be his chin in a rim of fat that rested on his shirt collar.  He wore a pair of wire-rimmed glasses and a grumpy look on his face.  He was obviously not happy to be deposed.  In fact, as Brent had recalled from the few times he had been disposed, the experience was about as comfortable as an extended rectal examination.

   Brody began the questioning with the basic instructions and continuing into Riechert’s background.  His answers revealed a wealth of experience working for political campaigns before establishing his consulting firm, The Riechert Group, which specialized in strategic and crisis communications, public affairs, political consulting, media relations, monitoring and analysis, opinion polling and social media.  Like so many others in Washington, Riechert’s political contacts had paid off well.

   “Mr. Riechert, you’ve described yourself in public as an “information warrior” and a “perception manager.”  Please explain the concept of “information warfare” or “perception management” and how that differs from propaganda.”

   “It certainly is not propaganda.  It is the use of media to accomplish public policy objectives.  Every report of news necessarily includes a point of view.  In this day and age, speed is much more important than substance.  Getting it first is more important than getting it right, and therein lies the threat.  My job is to counter false perceptions that the mainstream media perpetuates.”

   “Mr. Riechert, your company’s involvement in the Middle East began with a Kuwait government contract in 1990, is that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “In fact, since the Panamanian conflict, your firm has been consulted for every major US armed conflict except for Somalia, isn’t that true?”

   “I would say so, yes.”

   “And after that Kuwaiti contract, the firm also entered into a contract with the CIA, is that also true?”

   “Objection.  This is classified information.”  Riechert’s private counsel was not going to allow Brody to turn this deposition into the circus that had been Colonel Steelman’s.

   “That is a matter for the military judge, but if it helps, please take a look at this exhibit – it’s a 1995 CIA audit which is not classified.”

   “Off the record.  My client and I will need to discuss this.”  Brinkman, Riechert and their Italian-shoed friend got up and left.

   “How’s it going so far?”

   “You’re doing great, Jeff.  Keep it up.”








 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY SEVEN 
After about five minutes, the three suited musketeers came back from their conference and went back on the record.  

   “Do you remember the question?”

   “Yes, The Riechert Group did have a contract with the CIA.”

   “And the object of that contract was to help create the conditions for removal of Saddam Hussein from power, wasn’t it?”

   “Objection, classified.”

   “Again, public knowledge.”

   “All the same, I am advising Mr. Riechert not to answer the question.”

   Brody expected the roadblock from Langley.  He looked at Brinkman to ascertain if he was going to join in the objection, but Brinkman stood fast.  Brody glanced at Brent as if to ask ‘Do you want to take over?’ but Brent was stoic, so Brody continued.

   “We can set an order to show cause before Judge Leonard, or your client can answer the question.”  

   “Go right ahead,” Langley sneered.

   Once again, Brody looked at Brent, who nodded.

   “In the meantime, we will continue the examination.  According to the documents from the Pentagon that I have placed before you, your firm is authorized to research and analyze information classified up to Top Secret/SCI/TK/G/HCS, isn’t that correct?”

   Langley leafed through the papers, threw them back on the table and nodded slightly to Riechert.”

   “That’s correct.”

   “Those are the highest security clearances the government gives, aren’t they?”

   Riechert looked at Brent confidently.  “Yes, but that didn’t make us more privy to the goings on of government any more than any other defense contractor.”

   “You were an advisor to Ahmad Chalabi of the Iraqi National Congress or INC, weren’t you?”

   “Yes.”

   “And, during the first year of your work with the INC, your firm spent over $23 million, isn’t that correct?”

   “Objection, classified and irrelevant,” Langley lobbed, joined by Brinkman.

   “Again, Mr. Langley, as you can see from this audit, it is public knowledge.”

   Riechert answered, “The figure was approximately $23 million, yes.”

   “And you were granted another contract with the government at the onset of Operation Iraqi Freedom, isn’t that correct?”

   Riechert glanced nervously at Langley, who nodded, then looked back at Brent.  “I cannot discuss in detail any of the work that was performed for my clients, but I can confirm that we were a support function to the decision-makers in the Bush Administration and the implementers in the Department of Defense.”

   “And part of those efforts included running radio networks that broadcast into Iraq, isn’t that correct?”

   “We contracted with radio stations who broadcast into Iraq.”

   “Counsel, this is going way beyond introductory questioning.  I’m going to object to the continuing nature of these historical questions.”

   “Then I’ll bring them up to date.”  Brody glanced at Brent, giving him a half-wink, and Brent acknowledged with a half-nod.

   “You contracted to produce leaflets and comic books to paint Saddam Hussein in a bad light, isn’t that correct?”

   Riechert appeared unfazed.  Maybe he believes his own bullshit.

 “Objection, irrelevant!”

 “Isn’t that correct, Mr. Riechert?”

 “He was a ruthless dictator.  He made his own bad light.  We merely exposed it.”

   “And you provided stock photo images of Saddam’s atrocities to journalists, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, we did.”

   “And you don’t consider that to be propaganda?”

   Riechert frowned and slid back into his chair, insulted.  “On the contrary!  We are constantly haunted and stalked by the difference between perception and reality.  Calling attention to atrocities could make the difference between winning and losing a war.”

   “Which comes to my next question, Mr. Riechert.  Before the commencement of Operation Iraqi Freedom,  President Bush signed a Top Secret order authorizing deadly action and you were charged with creating a dissident force designed to violently overthrow the Iraqi government, isn’t that correct?”

   “Objection, classified.  Don’t answer that.”

   “In fact, you yourself helped formulate the Iraqi National Congress.”

   “Objection, classified.  Don’t answer that.”  Riechert tightened his lips.

   “But after September 11th, your job became much easier, didn’t it?”

   “Objection, argumentative.”

   “In fact, you played a primary role in the function of the IOTF, the Information Operations Task Force, isn’t that correct?”

   “Objection, classified.  Don’t answer.”

   “And you created the ‘Prowire’ system,’ didn’t you?”

   Hearing no objection, Riechert went ahead.  “Yes,” he answered, proudly.

   “What is the ‘Prowire system?’”

   “‘The Prowire system’ takes real-time news reports and sorts them by key words.  It provides the most current real-time access to news and information available to private or public organizations all over the world.”

   “So, it is the ‘news before the news?’”

   “You could say that.  With this system, I can tell you what will be the next big story at any major media outlet, anywhere in the world, at any given time.”

   “You sent your “information warriors” to media outlets all over the world to seed pro-war news from the Pentagon, didn’t you?”

   “Objection, classified.  Don’t answer.”

   Riechert frowned.  “No, William, they’re trying to twist this.  We have to set the record straight!”

 Langley put his hand out in front of Riechert.  “There’s nothing to set straight.  This is irrelevant to their case and it’s classified.”

 Riechert ignored the warning, and continued to try to prove his case.

“Tracking media and journalist dynamics is something that is done by every PR firm, marketing agency and business intelligence company in the modern world.  This is garden variety media analysis.”

“So you did seed pro-war news in the international media, didn’t you?”

“We tracked media and conducted journalist dynamics.”

“Sounds like propaganda to me.”

“Move to strike!”

“There’s no judge here, Mr. Langley.  And at home, Mr. Riechert, you helped the Office of Global Communications spread the Bush administration’s pro-war messages, isn’t that correct?”

   “Objection, classified.  Gentlemen, Mr. Riechert is not going to answer any more questions along these lines.”  

   “Wait, William.  I can answer that, too.  The Riechert Group had no role whatsoever in making a case for the Iraq war, either domestically or abroad.  We reviewed open source media reports for the Department of Defense and analyzed and charted positive and negative trends the same way that public opinion researchers analyze polling data.”

   Brent took over the questioning at this point.

   “So, Mr. Riechert, you’re a PR man, is that right?”

   “That’s right.”

   “And your firm is like any other PR firm for the corporate or public sector, right?”

   “Yes.”

   “So, as a PR firm, you locate and pitch news stories to journalists of various media, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, that’s one of the things we do.”

   “Now, if I’m, let’s say the publicist for Britney Spears, I wouldn’t necessarily be pitching stories about her drug habits, staying out late, getting drunk and such, would I?”

   “Objection, calls for speculation.”

   “Probably not.”

   “Probably not.  I’d want to pitch stories to the media that showed her in a good light, wouldn’t I?”

   “I suppose you would.”

   “If I was any good at what I do.”

   “Right.”

   “Are you good at what you do, Mr. Riechert?”

   Riechert’s ego had already been poking a hole through his monogrammed initials on his custom-made shirt.  Now it was burning a hole in him.

   “I would say that I am.”

   “I would say that you are very good at what you do.”

   “Objection, argumentative.”

   Brent slid a photograph over to Riechert on the table.  It was a picture of American soldiers tearing down Saddam Hussein’s statue in Firdaus Square.  “Do you remember this?”

   “Yes, the toppling of Saddam Hussein’s statue.”

   “We even have a video of it.  Cue up the video, please.”

   The TV lit up with a small group of cheering Iraqis and an even smaller group of American soldiers.  One soldier held an American flag over the head of the statue, then attached a cable to it.  An Iraqi held the cable at the base of the statue for everyone to see.  Then, the soldiers brought the statute crashing down to the cheers of the crowd, who converged on it.

   “This was a nice piece of PR.”

   Brinkman cautioned there was no question pending, but Reichert just sat there, smiling with pride.

   “This was filmed by people under contract to The Riechert Group, wasn’t it?”

   “Yes.”

   “And pitched to the media?”

   “Yes.”

   “You were there, weren’t you?”

   “I was.”

   “And the entire square was cordoned off before the statue was toppled, isn’t that correct?”

   “We had to make sure it was safe.  We had to get a tank in there.”

   “That’s a yes?”

   “Yes.”

   “So it was staged, wasn’t it?”

   “Objection, argumentative.”

   “I don’t know what you mean by staged.”

   “Sure you do.  It was storyboarded, like a movie.  First you cordoned off the square, then you let a couple of Iraqis in to wave the American flag and the soldiers attached the cable, took down the statue, and then you let a crowd of Iraqi extras in.  All supervised by the Army.”

   “It was a war zone, Mr. Marks.  Of course it was supervised by the Army.”  Riechert looked proud of himself.  He would not be broken.

   “Do you remember this story?”

   Brent shoved a story about the massacre at al-Nasr by Al-Qaeda over the table in front of Riechert’s face.  This was the crime that Ryan had been accused of.  Riechert looked at it briefly and looked back up, smugly.

   “That’s the massacre at al-Nasr.”

   “Your firm also handled this story, correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “But The Guardian later broke this very different story, didn’t they?”

   Brent dealt Riechert a story from The Guardian which claimed that US soldiers were responsible for the massacre.

   “Yes.”

   “Why did your story say it was Al-Qaeda and The Guardian’s said it was the US?”

   “First of all, it’s not our story.  Our sources said that the massacre was by Al-Qaeda in Iraq and that’s what we reported to the media outlets.  That’s the story they ran.”

   “Who were your sources?”

   “I can’t reveal those sources.  It’s classified information,” he replied with an air of superiority.

   “But it was inaccurate, wasn’t it?  The Guardian later ran this exposé with evidence that the Al-Qaeda story was false.”

   “Yes.”

   “This was a death squad hit, wasn’t it?”

   “I beg your pardon?”

   “Objection!  Argumentative, assumes facts not in evidence.”

   “A death squad hit.  You knew Colonel Jeffrey Steelman was operating in Iraq at the time, didn’t you?”

   “Well yes, but…”

   “The same Colonel Steelman from the El Salvador dirty wars?”

        “Objection!”  Brinkman was standing up with one finger raised.  

 “Yes.”

   “Join!”  Langley pounded his fist on the table.

   “And you knew that he was training Iraqi death squads to hit the Sunnis, didn’t you?”

   “Objection!  My client is not answering any more questions!”  Langley stood up and Brinkman followed suit.  Riechert rose slowly.  

   “Just answer this,” said Brent, standing up and leaning over the table toward Riechert.  “What media analysis and journalist dynamics did you do with regard to the Pentagon’s planting of death squads in Iraq to make it appear that Al-Qaeda was conducting terrorist attacks there?”

   “That will be all, gentlemen,” said Langley, taking Riechert by the elbow and leading him out of the conference room.  Brinkman, looking at Brody and Marks in shock, shook their hands briskly and left as well.

   When they had vacated the room, Brent turned to Brody.  “I think we did almost too good of a job, Jeff.  Hopefully we can both make it out of Washington alive so we can actually be of use to our client.”








 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY EIGHT 
Brent descended the escalator into the baggage claim area at LAX which was bustling with activity – crowds waiting for their bags, angry people complaining about their lost bags, and kids running around crying.  He glanced at the sea of signs being held by drivers on which they had scribbled their clients’ last names: Johnson, Teague, Allen, Marks… Marks?  

 I’m not expecting a ride.  It must be another Marks.

 Brent advanced toward the sign to investigate.  Behind the sign was a smiling and giggling Rebecca Bekker – even her name sounded like a giggle.

   “It’s you!”  Brent announced, excitedly.

   “And it’s you!”

 She pointed her finger at his name on the sign.

   “What are you doing here?”

   “Can’t you see?  I’m your ride.”

   Rebecca hooked her arm into his and began to lead him out the door.  Then she stopped.

   “Oh, do you have luggage?”

   He held up his carry-on.  “Just this.”

   Upon hearing that, she continued to drag him out the door.

   “Where do you want to go?”

   Brent thought for a second and said, “I was thinking about home, really.  I have to check on my cat, you know.”

   “I already checked on your cat.  She’s fine.  How about lunch?  Are you hungry?”

   “Now that you mention it, I do feel a bit hungry.  I’m not really sure what time I’m on right now.”

   “Good.  I know the perfect place!”

   Brent caught her contagious smile as she led him across the street to the garage and up and down through the aisles of parked cars.  She stopped at a powder blue Maserati Grancabrio, withdrew the keys from her purse and pushed the fob switch to disarm the car.  It chirped and its lights flashed.

   “Wow!”

   “What can I say?  Some girls like shoes, I like cars.”

   “So do I.”

   Rebecca popped the trunk and Brent deposited his bag into it, opened the driver’s side door and saw her settled in before he took his place on the passenger’s side.  He clipped his seat belt closed and heard the musical roar of the motor as she fired it up.

   Rebecca zoomed out of the airport and onto the 405 freeway, exited Santa Monica Boulevard and headed for the rich people’s playground known as Beverly Hills.  A gem in the arm pit that was Los Angeles, it was like an oasis in the desert, with pristine streets lined with beautifully trimmed lawns tended by full-time gardeners.  She veered right into the “downtown” area which consisted of several parallel streets peppered with boutiques and hip cafes.  Rebecca turned right on Canon Drive and drove almost all the way to Wilshire before pulling into the parking structure of the posh Montage Hotel.

   “Where are we going?”

   “It’s a surprise.  Besides, I couldn’t tell you even if it wasn’t.”

   She must have read the puzzled look on Brent’s face which was asking, ‘why?’ because she answered without being asked.

“Because the restaurant doesn’t even have a name.  Do you like sushi?”

   “I do.”

   The restaurant was cozy and small, with tiny tables and an even tinier sushi bar.  They were greeted at the door by a Japanese girl who nodded and smiled a lot, and seated them at the only empty table.

   “Where’s the menu?”

   Rebecca smiled.  “There is no menu.  They just bring you stuff.”

   “Very cool.”

   No sooner had she said that than the waitress brought them each a red-colored welcome cocktail.

   “Yeah.  One of the perks of having a father who made too much money and spoiled himself with whatever he wanted is that you can get into places like this.  This was one of my dad’s favorite spots.”

   “Do you miss him?’

   Her eyes suddenly lost that sparkle.  It was amazing to him how they showed her mood.  She couldn’t hide it.  She swirled her straw in the drink, clinking the ice against the sides of the glass.

   “Yeah, I do.  He was an asshole, but he was my father.”

   Brent saw the tears pooling in the bottom of her eyes.  He reached out his hand to her and she accepted it.  He enveloped her fingers in his palm and closed it against them.  They felt warm.

   “Daddy was a lot of fun, but that didn’t stop him from offending people.  If he liked you, everything was fine and he was the life of the party.  That’s when I loved him.  If he didn’t like you, for whatever reason, he would ridicule you.  That’s when I hated him.”

   “Pretty simple.”

   She looked up at him with her dark, sad eyes.

   “Yeah.  Well enough of this sad stuff.  What’s happening with this murder case you’re working on?”

   “Oh, I can’t talk about that.  It’s top secret.”

   She gripped his palm, squeezing it.  “Oh, come on!  I can keep secrets!”

   They discussed the case, which seemed like it was just about ripe for a trial.  After all, the 120-day period that had begun with Ryan’s incarceration was almost up.  There had to be a trial whether Brent was ready for it or not.

   “I thought that veterans don’t have to pay for legal representation.”

   “They get appointed counsel at no cost if they want it, but that’s kind of like the public defender’s office.  The attorneys usually have a very busy workload and not a lot of trial experience.”

   “So he has to pay for you himself?”

   “Yes.”

   “How can they afford it?”

   “They can’t.  That’s why I’m giving them a break on fees.  Ryan’s actually lucky he can hire private counsel.  Most veterans who come back from wars find all the doors shut in their faces.”

   “That’s not right.”

   “Of course not, but that’s the way it is.”

   “Well, then it should be changed.”

   “I agree.  I’m doing my small part to try to make that happen.”

   “You know, I think you and I actually have a lot in common.”

   “What do you mean?”

   “You want to make the world a better place, and so do I.  I’d like to help Ryan and other veterans like him.”

   “But, there’s really nothing you can do.”

   “That’s the thing about having money, Brent.  There’s a lot you can do.  I was thinking about establishing a foundation anyway.  Why not for the benefit of veterans of foreign wars?”

   Brent smiled.  He always thought there was something special about Rebecca.  Now it had displayed itself in its full spectrum of color.  








 
  


 CHAPTER TWENTY NINE 
Before the trial started, Brinkman took Brent aside and made him an offer that he thought Ryan could not refuse.  Ryan would plead guilty to murder and serve fifteen years in prison.  Brent wanted to tell Brinkman to stuff his offer, but since the offer had been made, he had an obligation to communicate it to Ryan, who didn’t take long to consider it.  In his view, being separated from his family until his daughters were grown up was not a lot different than life in prison.  Without even consulting his wife, he told Brent to reject the offer.  

   Brent had made a sealed motion to the military judge to produce Robert Garcia as a witness without revealing his identity to the government.  Brent didn’t even reveal his identity to the judge.  The motion asked the judge not only to conceal the identity of the witness, but also to grant him testimonial immunity so that what he said could not be used against him in another court-martial trial.  

 The proffered testimony of the witness, John Doe 1, is critical to the theory of the defense case that, at the highest levels of the government, it was decided that death squads be utilized in Iraq to fight the insurgency, not only to fight the insurgents, but also to make it appear that large groups of organized Al-Qaeda terrorists were operating in conjunction with the insurgency.

   Much to Brinkman’s chagrin, the judge granted the motion.  He also denied the government’s motion to exclude the deposition testimony of John Riechert and Colonel Steelman, opting to have a closed session with the members and to rule whether each item objected to was critical to national security or not when the point came up in court.  

   Ryan understood the judge’s pronouncement of his rulings and he could see that Brinkman was visibly upset with them.

   “Why did he rule in our favor?”

   “Sometimes the good guys get a point, Ryan.  And sometimes they know how much of a rigged game it is and they just want to make it appear to be fair.”  

 





 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY 
Brent was familiar with most of the rules governing a court-martial because, with a few unique tweaks, they were basically the same as the federal court rules, which he practically knew by heart.  The rules of evidence, those you hear the lawyers shout out after they say ‘objection!’ were almost exactly the same.  But the decorum was completely different.  

The jury, for example, was made up of 12 uniformed officers who had been selected by Ryan’s Command – not exactly a jury of his peers, but then neither is a jury selected from a jury pool in federal or state court.  The trials were public, as criminal trials in state and federal court were, so the gallery was jammed with spectators, mostly military people and reporters Brent had invited with the promise of a “shock and awe” story.  In the back row, huddled into a corner, was Rebecca Bekker.

 Hmm, my cheerleader.

 In the front row were three men of Ryan’s age, dressed in full military uniform.  Brent asked Brody, “Do you know who those guys are?”

   “Captain Bennington’s buddies.  Any one of them would gladly take a bullet for him if they could.”

   “Do they know anything?”

   “No.  I’ve already interviewed them.  They’re from his first and second tours in Iraq.”

   Judge Leonard called the court to order and announced each of the members (jurors – another difference from state court, where the jurors were only named during jury selection or voir dire).  After that, they blended into a wall of anonymity in the jury box and were only referred to by their seat number, if at all.  Then, in another break from the procedure he was used to, the defense counsel announced themselves and their qualifications, followed by the judge admonishing Ryan of his rights.  It had all been scripted.  The judge had ruled on Major Brinkman’s motions to exclude the depositions in an Article 39 session outside the presence of the members, and had made an ambiguous ruling (but a safe one for him) requiring Brent to show the relevance of each particular bit of testimony upon Brinkman’s objection before allowing it to be considered at the trial, which was fine with Brent.

   The first order of business was the ‘examination and challenge of members’ which was the equivalent to jury selection.  The members were seated in military hierarchy, with the highest ranking member in the middle.  He was the president, and the other members surrounded the president on the right and left, the closest to him being the ones with the highest military rank.  They had each filled out a questionnaire which contained their basic statistics and prior member service, if any.

   After a short chat with the members about their qualifications, potential challenges and the nature of the proceedings, the judge turned it over to counsel for voir dire, the only difference from the procedure Brent knew was that they could only challenge a member for cause.  In both federal and state courts, a lawyer for a party could boot a certain number of jurors from the panel without any reason at all, and start over with a fresh one.

   “The government may inquire.”

   Major Brinkman’s assistant, Captain Theodore, rose and gave his first contribution to the trial.  He was a skinny, tall man with a small waxed mustache.  His body didn’t really fill out his uniform; it kind of dangled on his skeleton like it was suspended from a hanger in the closet.  Theodore went over the grounds for disqualification and politely asked the members if they knew of any reason they should be disqualified.  The grounds specified in the Manual for Courts-Martial mainly dealt with whether the member was disinterested, and, unique to military culture, whether he was lower in rank to the accused.

   When Brinkman passed for cause, Brody had some poignant questions for the members.  Mostly, he wanted to know if they had been in combat.  The captains on the panel had all been, but two of the Colonels had never gotten their hands dirty.

   “Captain Jessup, have you ever refused to follow an order of a superior that you thought was illegal?”

   “No.”

   “Why is that?”

   “Because I’ve never been given an order I thought was illegal.”

   “What about you, Captain Sherman?  Have you ever refused to follow an order of your CO that you thought was illegal?”

   “No.”

   “Have you ever had your doubts about whether an order was illegal?”

   “Well, yes, but it’s a tricky thing.”

   “Why is it a tricky thing?”

   “Well, the CO has usually consulted with experts and he’s satisfied the order is legal.”

   Brody inquired about the members’ service.  Some had served in Iraq and some in Afghanistan.  Those members were aware of the perils of fighting against unknown insurgents.

   Brent didn’t like the attitude of some of the Colonels on the panel.  One of them in particular, spoke in a pompous, narcissistic voice.  He leaned over and whispered into Brody’s ear.

   “Jeff, why don’t you try and knock Yertle the Turtle off his throne?”

   Brody smiled and went on the attack.  “Colonel Penner, you’ve been in command of combat troops.  Have you ever sent your men on a mission to raid a suspected terrorist camp?”

   “Yes, I have.”

   “Have you ever given an order to kill all military age males who aren’t actively surrendering?”

   “No.”

   “Do you think there would ever be a situation where that type of order may be appropriate?”

   The colonel thought for a second.  “There may be.  It depends upon the circumstances.”

   Jeff looked over at Brent who whispered, “You can keep the old fart.”








 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY ONE 
The jury, finally having been selected, had settled into their seats in the jury box.  A hush came over the courtroom as each side dug in, ready for the battle ahead.  The judge looked sternly at the members.  

   “The court cautions the members that opening statements are not evidence.  They are what counsel expects the evidence will show in the case.  Does the government have an opening statement?”

   Brinkman stood up at the counsel table.  “Yes, Your Honor.”  Brent could see that Brinkman was shaking a bit, but he was probably charged with adrenaline and emotion.  Holding himself to a stiff military demeanor under those circumstances must have been why his emotions physically manifested themselves. 

   “Please proceed.” 

   Major Brinkman stood to make his opening statement.  To him, the case was simple and Brent and Brody had been sensationalizing it during the discovery process in order to squeeze elements out of it that could never logically appear from the evidence that would be admitted at trial.  He focused his statement on the members, appealing to their sense of logic and military order.

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  Members of the court-martial, the evidence will show that this is a very simple case.  The government will show that on 22 June 2004, the accused, Captain Ryan Bennington, gave an order to his squad during a raid on the Iraqi village of al-Nasr, to kill all military age men living in homes which had been identified by military intelligence as possible Al-Qaeda safe houses.  It will further show that Captain Bennington’s men followed his order, which resulted in the killing of ten innocent Iraqi civilians.  We will also prove that such an order to kill all military age men was not given by Captain Bennington’s superior officers and, even if it had been, such an order would be patently illegal, and Captain Bennington had the duty not to follow it.

   “There is a rule of law regarding the responsibility of a commanding officer in combat.  This officer is responsible for the observation and supervision of those under his charge and when troops commit massacres and atrocities against the civilian population the responsibility rests not only with the perpetrators, but with their commanders as well.  

   “You will hear the testimony of the subordinate non-commissioned officers and enlisted men under Captain Bennington’s charge.  You will hear that he gave them the orders to indiscriminately kill all military age males, and that this is exactly what was done.  There is no justification for such a heinous act and the government will be asking you to return a verdict that Captain Bennington is guilty of premeditated murder.”

   Major Brinkman sat down, controlling the exhale of his breath, which Brent could see was building up against the dam of his self-containment.  

   “Does the defense wish to make an opening statement?”

   Brent was the one to stand up this time, and he did so with the poise and confidence that he had learned to use over many years to conceal the fact that he, too, was pulsing with adrenaline and emotion. 

   Brent faced the judge “Thank you, Your Honor.”  Then he turned to the members.  “Thank you, members of the court.  Soldiering is a very solemn and serious duty, which is something I don’t need to tell you, gentlemen.  It is the only profession in which killing another human being is actually authorized by law.  Once you have made the commitment to become a soldier, your commanders may order you to kill.  All your training and all your experience prepares you for this eventuality.”

   Brent took walked in front of the jury box and stood right in front of the members.  This was between them and Ryan Bennington, and Brent was speaking for Ryan.  He was restricted to summarizing the evidence, but he would be damned if he wouldn’t do that without appealing to their hearts and minds.  

   “After all, that is what happens in war, isn’t it?  Oh, you can talk about the politics, the justifications, and the glory.  But what it comes down to is one side is going to win and one side is going to lose.  But it’s not a game.  Winning or losing in war means that the enemy soldiers are going to kill you or you are going to kill them.

   “Once you have crossed that line and have entered into military service, if you are ordered to kill, there are consequences if you should change your mind.  You may have a moral objection.  You may have a religious objection.  You may have some kind of a personal philosophy or abject principle that will not allow you to kill another person.  But you are still bound to follow that order and do it!”  Brent pounded his hand on the table.  “And if you disobey that order, you could be court-martialed and even face the death penalty.”

   Brent paused and held his hands open to the members, and slowly lowered them as he spoke.

   “You will hear testimony that this war in Iraq quickly turned from a war against an organized fighting force into a war against an insurgency.  You will see manuals from the Department of Defense which are designed to show how to handle an insurgency that admit the Army had never faced this type of a foe before and that doing so called for different measures.  You will hear testimony that women and even children walked up to our soldiers in the field and blew them to pieces with suicide bombs.  That, gentlemen, is the type of insurgency that was going on in Iraq.  You will hear some soldiers testify that, most of the time, you didn’t know the difference between an insurgent and a civilian until they were dead.  How do you fight an enemy without a uniform?

   “We intend to present evidence that the official, unwritten United States policy toward fighting this insurgency in 2004 was to kill anyone of military age in a raid who was not actively surrendering.  We intend to present evidence that it was official United States policy that when intelligence reports identified a terrorist target, that is just exactly what they were: targets; those terrorists should be killed, and that any male in that target zone was assumed to be a terrorist as well.  You will see evidence that this policy came from the highest levels of our government.

   “You will hear testimony from soldiers testifying under grant of immunity that they obeyed Captain Bennington’s order.  You will hear the testimony of Captain Bennington’s own commanding officer.  But, gentlemen, you will also hear from Captain Bennington himself.  A man who was responsible for the lives of his fellow soldiers; people who would live or die by the decisions that he made.  And at the end of this evidence, Captain Bennington will ask you, as a loyal soldier, who followed orders which he understood in the manner in which they were communicated to him, for his freedom.”  

   Brent paused to acknowledge the members, then walked back to the counsel table and resumed his seat.  The battle for Ryan Bennington’s life had just begun.








 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY TWO 
On the break, Brent tried to divide himself between consoling Maya and getting mentally prepared for what was coming.  He exchanged a few words with her, then left her in the capable hands of Rebecca and Ryan’s Army buddies while he checked with Jack for new developments.  There weren’t any.

   Colonel Parker took the stand, his face as stiffly ironed as his dress uniform, and he held it rigidly so as to prevent his double chin from flowing over his collar.  Major Brinkman examined him as to the issuance of the order to the men in Company C, as well as his orders to Ryan in particular.  Brent had a tinge of regret in having cross-examined him so thoroughly during the Article 32 hearing.  In his enthusiasm to convince the investigator to drop the charges against Ryan, he had shown Major Brinkman his hand.  

 The soldiers gathered around the table at the CO’s tent in the dust-choked sweltering heat of al-Nasr forward operating base, the sounds of helicopters taking off and landing roaring over their heads.

 Colonel Parker stepped in front of the table, dressed in his camos and matching hat.  The men were standing at attention.

   “At ease.  Be seated.”

   The colonel took a place in front of a large whiteboard, decorated with charts, photographs and satellite images.  He picked up a pointer from the tray at the bottom of the board.

   “This is the village of al-Nasr,” said the colonel, as he pointed to an aerial photograph of the village.  Situated in the northeast end of the village, here, are four houses where Intel tells us that Al-Qaeda operatives have set up shop.  Now this Intel has been confirmed from several sources.  We’re calling this ‘Operation Surgical Strike’ because it’s going to be strictly a get in, get out operation.  

   “Army Intelligence has identified Al-Qaeda hostiles in the four houses at these GPS coordinates.”

   The colonel slapped the tip of the pointer on the photograph of each house, under which was written the coordinates.  

   “Captain Bennington will lead five squads, which will be dropped off in two Black Hawks approximately two clicks from the village.  That will also be your extraction zone.  Team Alpha under the command of Sergeant Welch will establish and hold a perimeter around the area.  Teams Bravo, Charley, Delta and Echo will each take the house that has been assigned to them.  Your mission is to capture any hostiles you encounter.  

   “Now watch yourselves, gentlemen, you are going in hot.  Intel figures there are approximately three to four hostiles in each house and expects them to be heavily armed.  If you capture any surrendering hostiles, make sure they are immobilized and that you thoroughly search the location for and confiscate all weapons.  Meet back at the extraction point, here.  Total mission time from incursion to extraction no longer than fifteen minutes.”  

   The colonel pointed to the whiteboard where the letters ‘ROE’ in black block letters had been written, and a list that was underneath.

   “Here are your rules of engagement.  Deadly force is authorized to protect yourselves and members of your team from threats of death or serious bodily harm.  Avoid civilian casualties at all costs.  Any questions?  Good.  Now let’s go get this thing done.  Make no mistake.  Once you’re in al-Nasr, you’re in an entirely hostile area.”

As Brinkman was finishing his examination, the colonel looked confident and assured, satisfied with the start he had made.  Brinkman continued.

   “Colonel, when you spoke to Charlie Company the night before the raid, you gave them orders kill all military age males they found in the marked homes, isn’t that correct?”

   “Certainly not.”

   “So, if Captain Bennington gave an order to kill all military age males, he would have exceeded his authority?”

   “Absolutely.”

 Ryan’s mouth was open, and it looked like he was going to say something or make a gesture.  Brody held up his left hand in an arresting gesture and made a gesture with his right to ‘write it down.’  Ryan picked up his pen and began scribbling notes on his legal pad.  He wrote the word ‘HOT’ in block letters and tore the sheet of paper off the pad.  Brody slid the paper to Brent.

   “After the raid, Captain Bennington gave you a full report of all that had happened, isn’t that correct?”

   “Captain Bennington reported back to me the kills and captures that had been made.”

   “Was he disciplined at that time?”

   “No, he was not.”

   “Why not?”

   “Because, from the information I had, the mission was a success.”

   “When did you learn otherwise?”

   “When an investigator from CID informed me that the men who were killed were civilians.”

   “And when was that?”

   “About – about two years ago.”

   “Did you understand that an investigation had been launched by CID into this matter?”

   “Yes.”

   “And did you cooperate with that investigation?”

   “I did.”

   “Colonel, did you plan the raid on the village of al-Nasr for the 22nd June 2004?”

   “Yes, I did.”

   “And was the object of that raid certain suspected Al-Qaeda terrorists?’

   “That is correct.”

   “You came by the information that Al-Qaeda terrorists had taken up positions in al-Nasr from intelligence you had received from Army Intelligence, is that correct?”

   “Yes, it is.”

   “And, at the time you received that intelligence, you had no reason to doubt its accuracy, did you colonel?”

   “No, I did not.”

   “No further questions, Your Honor.”

   “Cross-examination?”

   Brent stood up to address the court.  Colonel Parker looked a little pale, perhaps recalling the bloody nose Brent had dealt him at the preliminary hearing and expecting another one.  But, in anticipation of the cross-examination, Brinkman had prepared his witness well.

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  Colonel, after the raid, it was reported that the raid had been conducted by Al-Qaeda terrorists who had executed innocent civilians, do you recall that?”

   “Yes.”

   “That was what was reported to you by your Command, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, but I don’t know where that came from.”

   Brent turned from the colonel, then turned back.

   “Isn’t it true that Captain Bennington’s refusal of your orders could have possibly subjected him to the death penalty under Article 99 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice?”

   “Objection, calls for a legal conclusion.”

   “Overruled, you may answer.”

   “Yes, that is correct.”

   “Colonel Parker, before you gave your orders to the men, you reviewed the orders with the JAG officer assigned to you, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, I did.”

   “Who was that officer, Colonel Parker?”

   “Major Thaddeus Murphy.”

   Brent looked at the piece of paper Ryan had slid over.  Colonel, ‘Going in hot’ means going in shooting, isn’t that correct?”

   “It depends on the context.  In this case, going in hot meant going in fast, with your safeties off and ready to engage the enemy if needed.”

   “Doesn’t ‘going in hot’ mean moving into an area without caution, and taking action without hesitation?”

   “It could.  It depends on the context.”

   “Colonel, you well expected the men to shoot these alleged Al-Qaeda operatives, didn’t you?”

   “If they encountered hostiles who were a threat to them, yes.  But they were not to shoot any civilians.”

   “In fact, colonel, at the time, you expected them to shoot anyone they perceived as a hostile, didn’t you?”

   The colonel looked frustrated, like he had been crowded into a corner.

   “No, that is not correct.”

   “Come on, colonel.  You didn’t expect the men to knock down the doors and the suspected Al-Qaeda terrorists a bunch of questions to determine if they were terrorists before shooting them, did you?”

   “Of course not, but they know from their training that…”

   “Move to strike after ‘of course not’ your Honor.”

   “Denied.  The colonel may finish his answer.”

   The colonel formed a proud firm lower lip and said, “They knew from their training how to distinguish a hostile from a civilian and not to use deadly force against any civilians.”

   “But you knew there would be mere seconds, or even less than seconds, for the men to determine whether these Iraqis were hostiles or civilians, didn’t you?”

   “Yes.”

   “And you told them that Intel had confirmed they were hostiles, correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “Colonel, your general mission in 2004 was to crush the insurgency, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “You testified at the Article 32 hearing that a difficult aspect of fighting an insurgency is that you cannot always determine if a person is a civilian or insurgent until they are upon you, is that correct?”

   “That is correct.”

   “Sorting out insurgents from the civilian population is a difficult task, isn’t it, colonel?”

   “Yes, it is.”

 “So, during the Iraqi insurgency, even in a situation where you don’t expect to encounter Al-Qaeda operatives, your men were always in danger of being killed by insurgents, isn’t that correct?”

 “Well, yes, but…”

 “And you instructed your soldiers during 2004, without equivocation, that, if they felt a suspected insurgent or insurgents were endangering their immediate safety, they were authorized to use deadly force to protect themselves?”

   “Yes.”

   “In fact, the nature of fighting an insurgency called for a different kind of fight, didn’t it?”

   “Yes, it did.”

   “In fact, according to the commander of the coalition forces, General Petraeus, it required a restructuring of military doctrine, didn’t it?”

   “Yes.”

   “And that restructuring actually occurred on your watch beginning with the start of the insurgency in 2004, didn’t it?”

   “I suppose you could say it did.”

   “In fact, General Petraeus memorialized this newly forged doctrine in a Counter-insurgency Manual, didn’t he?”

   “Yes.”

   “And this manual on counter-insurgency was preceded by numerous memoranda from the general and your command on how to fight the insurgency, is that correct?”

   “Yes.”

 Brent held picked up a large binder from the desk, and approached the witness box with it.  He set it front of the colonel.

   “I’m showing you what has been marked for identification and judicial notice requested as well, can you identify this as a true copy of the Counter-insurgency Manual?”

   “Objection, irrelevant.  This manual was published in 2006.”

   “Your Honor, we have just established that the new doctrine on handling the insurgency was forged, in part, on the Colonel’s watch in 2004.”

   “Overruled.”

 The colonel leafed through the manual.

 “Are you familiar with it?”

 “Yes, I am.”

 “And this manual contains the methods of handling insurgents that you implemented in Iraq in 2004, isn’t that correct?”

 “Some methods, yes.”

   “Colonel, your purpose in addressing the troops was to prepare them for what you believed to be a hostile confrontation, is that correct?”

   “Yes, that’s correct.”

   “Kind of like a coach revving up the players for a big game, right?”

   “You could say that.”

   “Get them fired up, ready to go in there?”

   “Pretty much, yes.”

   “Colonel, do you remember your testimony at the Article 32 hearing in this case?”

   “Yes.”

   “You testified that the men were not to use deadly force unless their life or the lives of others were in immediate danger of death or great bodily harm.”

   The colonel looked confused.  “Yes.”

   “And you also testified that Captain Bennington did not obtain authorization from you during the raid to exercise deadly force, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes.”

   “But wasn’t the purpose of going in hot so that they would be ready to use deadly force?”

   “Yes, but not against civilians.”

 “Aren’t insurgents difficult to fight because they always look like civilians?”

 “Well, yes.”

 “In fact, you had men under you in 2004 blown up by suicide bombers, didn’t you?”

 “Yes.”

 “And these bombers were sometimes men, correct?”

 “They were sometimes women, correct?”

 “Yes.”

 “And sometimes women, correct?”

 “But there’s one thing they all had in common, isn’t there colonel?”

 The colonel’s mouth opened.  He knew something was coming, but didn’t quite know what it was.

 “I’m not sure I understand the question.”

 “Colonel, there’s one thing that every man, woman and child who killed an American soldier in Iraq in had in common, isn’t there?”

 Brinkman stood up, worried about what was coming.

 “Objection, the colonel said he didn’t understand the question.”

 “Can you rephrase the question, Mr. Marks?”

 “Yes, Your Honor, I can.  Colonel, isn’t it true that every insurgent in Iraq looked like a civilian?”

 The colonel coughed.  “Well, yes.”

 “Then how could you possibly expect Captain Bennington and his men, going on a raid in Al-Nasr, where you expected them to face enemy fire, to tell the difference between an Al-Qaeda operative, an insurgent, or an ordinary civilian?”

 “Objection, compound and argumentative.”

 Brent didn’t wait for the judge to rule on the objection.  He moved back to the witness stand and got into the colonel’s face.

 “You knew it would be impossible for them to tell the difference, didn’t you colonel?”

 “Mr. Marks, the objection is sustained.”

 “Objection!”

 Brent ignored the judge.

 “You knew when you sent your men into action on Operation Surgical Strike that they wouldn’t be able to tell the difference between a hostile and a civilian when they went on that raid, didn’t you?”

 “Objection!  Move to strike, Your Honor!”

 “Sustained!”

“And you didn’t care because the mission was to kill all adult age men, wasn’t it colonel?”

 “Mr. Marks, the objection is sustained.  Stand down now or I will hold you in contempt!”

 “Forgive me, Your Honor.”

 “The members will disregard the last two questions.”

 As Brent walked back to counsel table, Ryan whispered to Brody, “How can they disregard that?”

 “Exactly.”

   “Thank you, Your Honor, no further questions.”

   “Colonel, you may step down.  We’ll take our afternoon recess and then resume with redirect at 13:30 hrs.”

***

As Brent walked Maya out of the courtroom, Ryan’s three comrades-in-arms followed her in solidarity.  Rebecca’s maternal instincts kicked in and she stood up.  “Maya, this is Rebecca Bekker.  She’s my…”

   “I’m his girlfriend,” said Rebecca and stretched out her hand.  Brent was startled and delighted at the same time by her announcement, and watched in wonder as Rebecca took over and led Maya out of the courtroom, comforting her as only another woman could.

   “This is your girlfriend?  Why didn’t you introduce me?”

   Brent looked at Rebecca, who was smiling, and then back at Maya.  “It’s actually the first I’ve ever heard of it.  How are you holding up?”

   Maya wore her usual melancholy look, but there was a twinkle in her eye.

   “I’m okay.  Don’t worry about me.  Just keep doing what you’re doing.”

   “I will, Maya, and you keep looking positive for Ryan.  Looking good in cross-examination is one thing, but he’s going to have to do all the heavy lifting.  Only he can explain to the members the predicament he was in.”

   “I hope they understand.”

   “Me too, Maya.”








 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY THREE 
After the break, Colonel Parker resumed the ‘hot seat’ on the witness stand.  The judge took the bench, followed by the members who filed in and took their seats as all counsel and Ryan stood for them out of respect.  For Brent, it was a respect forged through years of jury trial experience, for Brody, through military training, and for Ryan, it was for his survival.

   Brinkman attempted to rehabilitate the colonel in his redirect.  If anything, it pushed the gains Brent had made during cross farther down into the outer-reaches of the members’ memories.  

   The colonel testified that he had written the rules of engagement for Operation Surgical Strike on a whiteboard and that he pointed them out to the troops.  According to those rules of engagement, deadly force was only authorized to protect the soldiers from immediate death or serious bodily injury.

   “May the witness step down?”

   “Yes, Your Honor.”

   “Please call your next witness.”

   “The government calls Sergeant Gregory Welch.”

   Sergeant Welch stepped up to the witness stand.  As he had done in the preliminary hearing, he avoided eye contact with Ryan.  

   “Major Brinkman, You may inquire.”

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  Sergeant Welch, were you with Company C of the 223rd stationed in Iraq on 22 June 2004?”

   “Yes, sir, I was.”

   “And who was the senior officer in that company?”

   “Colonel Lewis Parker, sir.”

   “And on 22 June 2004, did Colonel Parker send you on a mission entitled ‘Operation Surgical Strike?’”

   “He did.”

   “Can you please describe what occurred during that mission?”

   “Yes.  Colonel Parker designated five squads for the mission under the command of Captain Ryan Bennington.  Before the raid, he met with all the soldiers and summarized the planning and the rules of engagement.”

   “What do you recall were the rules of engagement?”

   “Deadly force was authorized to protect us from imminent serious bodily injury or death.”

   “Was there any other circumstances in which deadly force was authorized?”

   “Yes, in the event we identified a hostile in the raid, we were authorized to use deadly force if that hostile engaged us.”

   “What happened next, sergeant?”

 Four UH-60 Black Hawk helicopters flew in formation to the drop site, with Welch’s chopper in the lead and Ryan’s in the rear.

   “Two minutes to drop-off!”

   The choppers hovered over the drop site and the men threw ropes out of both sides.  Welch had to strain to be heard over the deafening sound of the whirring rotors.

   “Go!  Go!”

   Welch shimmied down the rope, leading his five men to the desert floor below.

   Once all the men were down, the four copters took off in a whoosh.  

   Together, the men marched double-time the two kilometers to the northeast edge of the village.  Once there, on Ryan’s command, they crouched against a berm and Welch and Ryan withdrew their night vision goggles.  Sporadic twinkling lights indicated that the village was about 50% inhabited.  The rest of the dwellings appeared to be uninhabited and probably not livable.

   Ryan gave Welch a nod and Welch motioned his men to establish a perimeter for the operation.  In about three minutes, he was receiving communications from the men.

   “Alpha Command, this is Alpha One.  I am in position.”

   “Copy that, Alpha One.”

   “Alpha Command, Alpha Two in position.”

   “Copy that, Alpha Two.”

   Welch verified the position of each man with his goggles.

   “Captain, they are in position.”

   Crouching low with their rifles on ready, teams Bravo, Charlie, Delta and Echo double-timed it into the village.  Welch could see each team take their positions outside the front doors of the respective houses.  He watched one man of each team kick in the door of each house as the others filed in.  Almost immediately, he heard the popping of gunfire and, within minutes, he saw the men exiting on their way to the recovery zone.  In addition to the men, there were three Iraqi prisoners.

 “From your vantage point, could you see and hear everything that was going on?”

   “Yes, I could.”

   “Was it automatic fire you heard or single-shot fire?”

   “Some single-shot and some automatic.”

   “About how much time elapsed from the time you started to hear shooting until you heard it stop?”

   “About three, maybe four minutes.”

   “Were the men pursued by any hostiles as they made their way back?”

   “No, they were not.”

   “Did any of your platoon suffer any casualties?”

   “No.”

   “Did you have contact with Captain Bennington after the raid?”

   “Yes, I did.”

   “What did he tell you?”

   “That they had killed a total of ten men in the houses.”

   “No further questions, Your Honor.”

   “Cross-examination?”

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  Sergeant, you didn’t actually see any of the men shoot anyone, did you?”

   “No, sir, I didn’t.”

   “So you didn’t witness what they personally encountered inside the houses, isn’t that right?”

   “No, sir, but they told me that…”

   “Objection, move to strike as hearsay.”

   “Sustained.”

   “Sergeant, in fact, during the first stages of the insurgency, your platoon had been attacked by insurgents on several occasions, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

 Sergeant Welch joined the rest of his squad in a well-deserved break.  They were tired and had had the precarious duty of clearing the road of possible IEDs.  It was a hazardous job and there had been some close calls that day.  

 “How ‘bout a drink, guys?  On me.”

 Welch reached into his bag and pulled out a six pack of slim cans. 

 “Whoa!  Wild Tiger!  You the man, Sarge!”

 He threw a can to each one of the guys, smiled, and popped the top off his own, holding it up to them in a toast.

 “There’s more where that came from.  You guys deserve it.

 One of the guys on forward guard called out.

 “We got a possible bogey out there!”

 Welch put his field glasses up to his eyes and looked.  It was an old man, coming their direction, limping with some kind of cane by the side of the road.

 “Ali Baba, Sarge?”

 “Negative.  Looks like an Iraqi civilian.  Old man.  But be alert.”

 Welch continued to watch in his glasses as the old man got closer.  When he finally came clearly into view, he was hobbling along and the guys kept one eye on him as they sipped and Welch pulled out another round.  

 “Looks pretty harmless to me, Sarge.”

 “Still, safeties off.”

 By the time Welch saw the old man stand up straight, it was too late.

 “Hit the ground!”

 The old man’s cane turned out to be an AK-47, which he pulled out and peppered the area with fire.  Welch and a couple of the men began shooting back, the whiz of bullets flying all around them.  They hit the old man and he fell to the ground, but the damage had been done.

 “I lost two of my men that day, and another two almost didn’t make it.”

   “And you’ve also seen men blown up by improvised explosive devices prior to this mission, hadn’t you?”

   “Yes, sir.  More than once.”

   “How did that make you feel?”

   “Objection, irrelevant.”

   “Overruled.  You may answer.”

   “Scared.”

   “So scared that, every time you went out on patrol or got into a Humvee you thought there was a chance you or someone with you would get shot at or blown up, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Isn’t it correct that Colonel Parker’s orders were to kill all hostiles you encountered on the mission who were not actively surrendering?”

   “He told us to kill the hostiles we believed were an immediate threat.”

   “He did not say ‘interrogate’ them, did he?”

   “No, sir.”

   “And you were going in knowing that you should not hesitate to use deadly force if you felt you were in danger of great bodily injury, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.  The colonel said we were to expect fire; we were going in hot.”

 “Sergeant, if you had been on one of the teams storming those houses, would you have taken more than a second to determine whether the people you encountered there were hostile or not?”

 “Objection, calls for speculation!”

 “Sustained.”

   “Sergeant, you’ve been granted immunity from prosecution in exchange for your testimony, haven’t you?”

   “I’ve been granted immunity.  I’m not sure if it’s in exchange for my testimony.”

   “No further questions.”

***

Maya had been tough throughout the entire session, but when she exited the courtroom, she burst into tears.  Rebecca came to her aid with a consoling manner and a package of Kleenex.  Brent sat on the other side of her and put his arm around her.  

   “You’re doing great in there, Maya.”

   Maya dabbed the tears that had streaked down her cheeks.  “I knew it was horrible over there, but I had no idea!  Ryan never talks about the war.”

   “Just be prepared, Maya.  You have to be strong for Ryan, but that doesn’t mean you have to hide your emotions.  The jury is looking at you, too.  We can’t tell them how this has affected your family, but it’s something they need to know.  And the only way they can feel that is by observing you.”








 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY FOUR 
Sergeant First Class Eric Brown looked in his late fifties, but he couldn’t have been more than forty years old.  He had spent the last ten years back in his native Oklahoma City working as a security guard for a Walmart store.  It was a job he was lucky to get.  He was a big man, and as he ambled his large frame to the witness stand, Brent noticed a discernible limp.  SFC Brown had lost both his legs to an IED explosion in the last few weeks of his tour of duty.  Major Brinkman introduced his star witness to the court and began to elicit his testimony.

   “Sergeant Brown, can you tell the court what happened on 22 June 2004?”

   “We were on a mission called Operation Surgical Strike.  I was second in command of Team Bravo.  Captain Bennington led the squad on the mission.  The rest of the squad consisted of Specialist Tim Ford, Specialist Roger Mallick, Private First Class Terrell Fenwood and Specialist Enrique Hernandez.”

 Specialist Hernandez kicked the door right below the knob and he teetered and fell back when the door flew open.  Captain Bennington entered, followed by Brown, Fenwood and Hernandez.

   “Hands up, don’t move!” Brown shouted in Arabic.

   Captain Bennington shot the first man once in the chest and once in the head.  The man hit the dirt floor with a thud and a woman in the room started screaming, her hands outstretched.  A second man appeared in the corridor and Brown shot him in the chest and head.  Bennington motioned to Hernandez to stay and secure the first room and signaled the other men to advance.  They moved through the corridor, checking each room to make sure it was clear.  In the first room, a woman was huddled in a corner with two small children. 

   “Fenwood, watch her,” said Bennington, as the rest of the men moved down the hall.  

   Ford encountered a man in the third room and shot him.  He checked the man’s corpse for weapons, found an unloaded .45 sidearm near his body, and put it in his pack.  Popping sounds of automatic fire were coming from next door.  Then, the men quickly left and joined the other squads evacuating to the pick-up zone.

 “No further questions, Your Honor.”

   “Cross-examination?”  

   Brent stood up.  “Thank you, Your Honor.  Sergeant Brown, you have been granted immunity from court-martial by the government, haven’t you?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “When you shot the man in the corridor, you believed that he was a threat to you, isn’t that correct?”

   “He was moving toward us and I shot him.”

   “Did it look like he was surrendering to you?”

   “No, sir.”

   “So you thought he was a threat, correct?”

   “I couldn’t say, sir.”

   Brown looked away and down.

 “Did you think of asking him any questions before you shot him?”

 “No, sir.”

 Brent held back from asking the question he was itching to ask – Why not?  One of the cardinal rules of cross-examination was never to give the witness any wiggle room to answer a question.  You put words in his mouth and he either answers yes or no.

   “And how long after Captain Bennington shot the first man did you shoot the second one?”

   “It couldn’t have been more than two seconds, sir.”

 “No time to ask any questions, correct?”

 “No, sir, no time.”

   “And that was how long after Specialist Hernandez had broken down the door?”

   “It was also seconds, sir.  Maybe five.”

   “When Captain Bennington shot the first man, he was not surrendering, was he?”

   “I don’t know.”

   “Did he put up his hands as you instructed?”

   “No.”

   “Did he stop moving?”

   “Only after he hit the ground, sir.”

   “You didn’t see both shots of Captain Bennington make contact, did you?”

   “No, sir.”

   “Your eyes were panning the room, weren’t they?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And then, two seconds later, you shot the second man, correct?”

   “About two seconds, yes.”

   “Did you actually see Specialist Ford shoot the third man?”

   “No, I did not.”

   “Sergeant Brown, you had seen action during the 2003 invasion of Iraq, hadn’t you?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And you had shot at the Iraqi Army in combat, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Wouldn’t you say that when you shot the man during Operation Surgical Strike, you felt about the same as you did when you shot at the soldiers in combat?”

   “I didn’t really think about it, sir.”

   “You didn’t think about it either time, did you?”

   “Not really.  I just did it.”

   “Wouldn’t you say that, in combat, when you fired your weapon, your training kicked in and you acted like a machine?”

   Brown pondered the question for a moment.  Then he nodded.  “Pretty much, sir.”

   “Before Operation Surgical Strike, you fought the insurgency, didn’t you?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “During that fighting, had you seen IED explosions?”

   “Very many of them, sir.”

   After this mission, you continued to fight the insurgents until you were injured, is that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And that was by an IED, correct?”

   “Yes, sir.  Lost both of my legs.”

   Brent looked down.  “I’m very sorry to hear that, sergeant.”

   “It’s okay, sir.  A lot of my friends weren’t so lucky.”

   “They died?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Before or after Operation Surgical Strike?”

   “Both.”

   “Operation Surgical Strike was during your second deployment, is that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Did you have any training in fighting an insurgency before your first deployment?”

   “No, sir.”

   “Did you have any training in fighting an insurgency before your second deployment?”

   “No, sir.  We had some instructions from Colonel Parker.”

   “About how long did those instructions last?”

   “He talked to us about half an hour, mostly telling us we had to be careful because the enemy’s face had changed.”

   “Did he explain what he meant by that?’

   “Yes, sir.”

 “He told you the insurgents could be anyone, didn’t he?”

 “Yes, sir.”

 “He told you the insurgents didn’t wear uniforms, is that correct?”

 “Yes, sir.”

 “And he told you to be especially suspicious of any military age male, correct?”

 “Yes, sir.”

   “And these instructions on fighting the insurgency were given before Operation Surgical Strike?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   Brent continued to question Brown to the point where it looked to him like he was losing the members to boredom.  No doubt they all wished they were doing anything else.   Since he had covered all the crucial points, he decided to move on and let Brinkman have the witness.

   On redirect, Brinkman elicited testimony from Brown that the men they had shot were not armed, and that they turned out not to be a threat.  Brent had only one question on re-cross.”

“You didn’t know the men you shot weren’t armed until after you examined their dead bodies, isn’t that correct, sergeant?”

“Yes, sir.”

***

At the end of the day, Brent delivered an emotionally exhausted Maya to the tender care of Ryan’s three comrades-in-arms, who whisked her off to a dinner with their wives.  Brent and Brody walked out with Rebecca.

   “Would you like to join us for dinner?”

   Brody smiled.  “Thanks for the invitation, but I think I’ll just grab something quick and get back to my room and work on our outline for cross-examination.”

   Rebecca wagged her finger in front of him.  “The mind cannot work without feeding the body.”

   Brent came to Brody’s rescue.  “During a trial, lawyers are like boxers.  They’re never supposed to take their focus off of the game.”

   After they parted ways with Brody, Rebecca hooked her arm into Brent’s and slid her head up against his shoulder like a kitten.  “They say that boxers aren’t supposed to make love until after the match is over.”

   Brent stopped, his ears perked and curiosity piqued.  “You’re speaking pretty boldly for someone who I just found out was my girlfriend.”

   Rebecca gasped.  “Why, Mr. Marks!  You thought I was talking about us?”

   Brent’s eyebrows raised.  “Well?”

   “Well?  We haven’t even had our first kiss yet.  It’s not official until then.”

   Brent shook his head and held her tighter.  Women have four times as many brain cells connecting their left and right brains.  Maybe that’s what makes them so delightful. 








 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY FIVE 
When the trial resumed the next day, Brinkman called Specialist Tim Ford, Specialist Roger Mallick, Private First Class Terrell Fenwood and Specialist Enrique Hernandez as witnesses, who parroted the account of Sergeant First Class Brown, unusually so.  It was almost if their testimonies had been scripted.

 Brinkman has prepared them well.

   The men also seemed to be prepared for and reacted about the same when cross-examined by Brent, with a few subtle differences.  The most interesting thing to Brent was, while they were each aware of what the others were doing, their particular focus was on how their individual function fit in with the squad’s as a whole.  They each testified that, like Sergeant Brown, they felt as if they were on automatic, and they felt as if their entire squad was one machine, with them each being parts of that one apparatus.  He remembered something Ryan had told him.

 Once you get out there, it’s all chaos.  But then the training takes over and you’re just like a machine.

 Specialist Roger Mallick sounded a little stiff and over-rehearsed in his testimony, so Brent decided to give him an opportunity to straighten it out.  Mallick’s face was like a thin piece of leather stretched over his skull, and he was missing most of his hair.  He looked ten years older than he should have, and reminded Brent of some of the drug addicts he had seen.  Like an addict, he also squirmed in his seat, bustling with anxiety and paranoia.  If Brent could turn the squelch down on that, he thought he may be able to break through to him.

 “Specialist Mallick, you testified that when Captain Bennington shot the first suspected hostile, he wasn’t making any threatening moves, is that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “But he wasn’t surrendering, was he?”

   Mallick thought for a second.

 “Raweene edeek!” Brown screamed but the man was not putting up his hands.  “Ogaf bmkanek la tetharek!”

 Ryan screamed at the man, ““Raweene edeek!” The man didn’t put his hands up.  Everyone in the room was screaming.  

 “What’s he doing?  What the fuck!” Mallick screamed, holding his aim on the man as he glanced from side to side, nervously.

 “Raweene edeek!”Alan!” “Ogaf bmkanek la tetharek!”

 The man stood up and Ryan shot him immediately.  

   “No, sir.”

   “You heard Captain Bennington give him the command to put his hands up and don’t move in Arabic, isn’t that correct?”

   “Well, I don’t know Arabic, but he did tell him something and I assume that was it.”

   “And did the suspected hostile put his hands up?”

   “No, sir, he did not.”

   “Did he stop moving?”

   “No, sir.”

   “Specialist Mallick, did Colonel Parker give you any instructions on how to distinguish a civilian from a hostile on this operation?”

   “No, sir.”

 “Did he tell you what to ask them?”

 “No, sir.”

   “You testified that the colonel outlined the rules of engagement, correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Did Captain Bennington alter those rules of engagement?”

 “Objection, calls for opinion.”

 “Overruled, you can answer.”

   “No, sir.”

   “And the rules of engagement authorized you to use deadly force in the event you found it necessary to defend yourself or others from death or serious bodily harm, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Before Captain Bennington shot the suspected hostile, did you know whether he was armed or not?”

   “No, sir.”

   “But you know now that he wasn’t armed, isn’t that correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   Brent took a deep breath, and a gamble, that he knew how Mallick would answer the next question.

   “But before he was shot, when he didn’t obey the command to stop and he kept moving toward Captain Bennington, did you think it was possible he was going to harm Captain Bennington?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   Bingo!  Now for the kill shot.

   “And if it had been you in the place of Captain Bennington, you would have shot him as well, isn’t that correct?”

   “Objection, calls for speculation.”

   “State of mind, Your Honor.”

   “Overruled.  You may answer the question.”

   “Yeah, I would have shot him.”

   “Thank you, Your Honor, no further questions.”

***

Specialist Tom Ford also did as he was told in return for his grant of immunity, but that didn’t prevent him from telling the truth.  He was a tall, lanky man, called “Skinny” by his buddies, according to Ryan, who had trusted him enough to make him part of the mission squads that he had hand selected.  Ford had spent three tours in Iraq, one in the invasion and post-invasion period, and two fighting the insurgency.  

   “Specialist Ford, during your three tours in Iraq, had you ever seen anyone blown up by an IED?”

   “Yes, sir.  Many times.”  Ford hung his head.

   “Could you describe those times?”

   “Objection, irrelevant.”

   “What’s the relevance, counsel?”

   “Your Honor, as you know we are building a defense of irresistible impulse.  That defense is based upon how the soldiers reacted to the unknown face of the insurgency.”

   “Sustained.”

   It was a long shot.  Still, Brent had to try to weasel it in.

   “Specialist Ford, when you shot the suspected hostile, was he moving?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And you wouldn’t have shot him if you didn’t think that he was a clear and present danger to you or other members in the squad, isn’t that correct?”  

   Brinkman flew out of his seat.  “Objection, calls for speculation!”

   “Mr. Marks, it does call for speculation.”

   “Your Honor, the question asks for the witness’ state of mind.”

   The judge pondered the issue for a moment, running his hands over his brow.  “Overruled.  I’ll allow it.”

   “You wouldn’t have shot him unless you thought he was a clear and present danger to you or other members of your squad, isn’t that correct?”

   “I’m not sure, sir.  I shot him because he was moving.”

   “He was moving toward you, isn’t that correct?”

   “I believe so, sir.”

   “Do you remember pointing your weapon at him?”

   Ford thought a moment.  “I must have, sir.”

   “Do you specifically remember it?”

   “No, sir.”

   “Do you remember pulling the trigger?”

   “No, sir.”

   “Did you make a conscious decision to shoot that man?”

   “Not really.  It was kind of automatic.”

   “And you shot him once in the chest and once in the head, correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And that came automatically?”

   “Yes, sir.  The training just kicks in I guess and it comes automatically.”

   Brinkman shot out of his seat like a screaming firework.

   “Objection, move to strike as non-responsive!”

   “Overruled.”

   Brent looked over at the members, but he couldn’t tell from their stoic faces whether the seeds of reasonable doubt he had sown had started to germinate.

   “Redirect?”

   Brinkman stood up to reel his witness back in.  “Specialist Ford, when you shot the Iraqi civilian, did you see whether he had a weapon?”

   “No, sir.”

   “And you shot him because he was moving?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “What did Captain Bennington tell you about the rules of engagement?”

   “We were to assume that any military age male we encountered in the hostile zone was a hostile and we could use deadly force against him if he did not surrender.”

   “Thank you, Your Honor, I have no further questions.”

   Brent looked again at the jury and wondered how many steps backward they had taken.  Ryan’s face was drooping in depression.  He squeezed his arm.

 Snap out of it, Ryan.  Look like a winner!

 Brent knew this was a lot to ask for a man whose life was being judged.

***

Finally, Major Brinkman rested his case.  When court recessed for the evening, Brent and Brody went back into the holding cells to help Ryan prepare for the toughest day of his life.

   Back in his cage, Ryan looked like a sick animal in a zoo.  He hung his head.  “We’re getting killed in there.”

   Brody wanted to console Ryan, but the perfect words were not coming to the surface.  “Don’t say that, Ryan.”

   “My own guys are against me.  I didn’t expect that.”

   “We knew what they were going to say.”

   “I guess it just didn’t seem real until I heard it from them in person.”

   Brent slammed his hand down.  “When you were in the battlefield and the odds were against you, did you give up?”

   Ryan looked up, startled.  “No, of course not.”

   The same rules apply here.  Never give up as long as you have a means to resist.”

   “But…”

   “No buts.  Your testimony is the most important in this entire case.  Those guys in there sounded like robots; like they were programmed.  The members are experienced commanders.  They know what it’s like to have not only their lives but the lives of others in their hands.  This is personal, Ryan.  You have to show them how a thinking, caring human being stands up for his soldiers in combat.  You have to make them feel what you felt.  You have to put them in that village on that day.”

   Brody joined in, buttressing Brent’s argument.  “You can do it, Ryan.  We know you can.”

   Ryan tightened his lip, feeling his resolve coming back.  “I’ll give it my all.  You can count on me.”

   Brent was thankful that Ryan’s depression had not killed his strength.  He was going to need it.   








 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY SIX 
Cross-examination notwithstanding, Brent now had the burden of convincing 12 Army officers that Ryan was an innocent man who should not be held responsible for the killings of 10 Iraqi civilians in al-Nasr the night of June 22, 2004.  Legally, this was not required.  The prosecution had the burden of proving every element of its case beyond a reasonable doubt.  But Brent could not gamble on Ryan’s life.  As opposed to the system he had practiced under his entire life, where the jury’s verdict had to be unanimous, a three-quarters majority of members could convict Ryan.  That meant, instead of persuading one of them that Ryan was not guilty, he had to persuade at least four of them, making his job four times harder than it had ever been before.

   The theory of his case was two-fold; that Ryan had acted on an irresistible impulse – his training kicked in and he reacted like a machine; and that official Pentagon policy in the fight against the insurgency made every male of military age a target in any mission, whether he turned out to be a civilian or not.  To set the tone for this defense, Brent called the only witness who could set the stage for his two-wave defense: Ryan Bennington.  What Brent had interpreted as depression all this time during the prosecution’s case had been frustration.  Ryan was disgruntled.  He was in the battle of his life, but had not been able to fight back yet.  Now he would take the offensive in this defense so the whole truth would be revealed.

   Ryan’s time in the brig had not broken him; if anything, it gave him the resolve he needed to face his accusers and the quiet solitude he needed to crawl back into the Ryan Bennington who had suffered on the dusty, heat soaked desert floor in Iraq; the Ryan who had seen his men, his friends, the guys he had respected and fought with, cut down by a cunning enemy that nobody knew how to defeat.  Yes, as President Bush had said, we had won the war, but when the insurgency reared its ugly head, we lost everything we had gained.  The canvas was blank, Brent’s questions were the brushes, and the blood of Ryan’s comrades the medium as Ryan painted a picture of how the war in Iraq had turned from a military operation into a living nightmare.

   Ryan took the stand to tell his story as the brave, inexperienced captain who had come to Iraq.  He would leave it as the four-tour combat captain who had done his job and made sure that everyone, living or dead, was brought back home.  He stood straight and proud as he took the oath, and took his seat, eyes wide open, ready to reveal the story that had not been told for ten years.  

   Brent started with a very few preliminary questions so that Ryan could explain his background and training to the members, then he brought the members with him on a trip over the wire.

   “Captain Bennington, tell us what happened during your first tour of duty.”

   “It was March 20, 2003.  We were in the first wave of troops to attack Baghdad with the 3rd Infantry Division.  My company, Bravo Company, was 160 men strong.  When we first crossed the Iraqi border from Kuwait, we were nervous.  I had been through training with my men, so I was confident they could do the job that they had to do.  But I wasn’t expecting it to turn out the way it did.”

   Bravo Company drove for days and days across an endless sea of sand, with waves and waves of dry, scorching air so hot they could actually see it rise from the desert floor.  The sweat soaked into the layers of their combat uniforms right through their flak jackets, and the inside of the Humvee smelled like a dirty gym locker as they roared along the bumpy desert following the tanks and Bradleys.  The dirt and grime stuck to the windshield like it had been welded on.  There was no way the wipers could have cleaned it.  A fierce dust storm kicked up, reducing visibility to zero.  Ryan strained to look through the dust and grime to keep aware of what was going on.

   “You doing okay seeing through that shit, Michaels?”

   Private First Class Henry Michaels, whom the guys called ‘Jester’ because he was always cracking jokes at the most inopportune times, took advantage of the conditions to turn his answer into one.

   “Yes, sir.  I’m used to it.  Compared to what happens to cars in a Kansas City dust storm, this baby’s showroom clean.  Where I come from, so many bugs explode against the window, they turn the dust into a second brown windshield.”

   Ryan smiled.  A little humor was actually good.  Nobody knew what to expect from the Iraqi forces, even after the ‘shock and awe’ campaign by air.  Air support was great, but the combat soldier went face-to-face against the enemy, with his hands in the dirt and slime.

   “You still drinking that shit, Thomas?”

   Sergeant Bill Thomas smiled as he guzzled his second can of Red Bull.

   “Keeps me alert and ready, captain.”

   “Better suck down some of that water, sergeant.  You’re gonna start to sweat pure caffeine soon.”

 “At night, we dug in and prepared for the assault on Karbala.  In the morning, it started as planned, but as we know now, no amount of planning can compare to what happens when the shit really hits the fan.

   “We lost one AH-64 Apache helicopter when it crashed after takeoff and another in the assault on Karbala, which wasn’t good for morale.  I began to think that despite our force and technical superiority, we may have underestimated Hussein’s Republican Guard.  They were fighting us from the buildings.  Our entire fleet of helos took a terrible beating.”  

 


 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY SEVEN 
“When we rolled into Baghdad, we took a bunch of random shots from civilian partisans, and just kept going.  After the thunder run raids, each battalion was assigned to secure a section of the city.  My company was given a sub-section, but we were actively taking small arms fire from snipers, so it looked like it would be a long mission.  We established a perimeter and dug in for the night in an abandoned building.  I ordered recon patrols to venture 100 meters around the perimeter to look for the enemy.”

 Around midnight an Iraqi woman approached the Command post.  She was crying, reaching her hands up into the night air.  

   “How did this woman get through our perimeter, sergeant?  Fire off some warning shots and get her out of here!”

   Sergeant Thomas fired warning shots into the air, but the woman kept coming.  Suddenly, she dropped to her knees.

   “RPG!” yelled a soldier on watch, as a rocket-propelled grenade came streaking toward them.

   “Everybody down!” Ryan screamed.

   The grenade hit one of the Humvees, the explosion lifting it off its bed and throwing it on its side like it was a kid’s toy. The soldiers hit the pavement.  

   “Move out!  Now!” Ryan yelled to Sergeant Thomas, who signaled the drivers of the convoy.  The trucks roared to cover of the Command post building under heavy small arms fire, shooting their 50-caliber machine guns toward the line of hostile fire as an RPG exploded the last retreating Humvee, throwing the gunner clear of the truck.  

   Two men ran, under heavy fire, to the aid of the Humvee driver and gunner and dragged both of them back.  The driver was dead.  The gunner was missing an arm and had a huge hole torn in his torso.

   Another RPG missed the convoy and hit right in front of the Command post, scattering hot metal, dirt and concrete.  Ryan felt an intense pain in his leg.  He coughed and choked on the dust.  Machine gunfire pelted the ground all around them as they ran for cover in the abandoned building.  Crouching behind his Command post, Ryan scanned the area with his night vision goggles and saw dozens of men advancing on the building, firing on them.  

   “Enemy advancing at 500 meters.  Dozens of ‘em!  Frontal area fire!  Get some flares out there!  Light it up!” Ryan shouted.  His right leg felt like it was burning.  He tore at his pants, and saw a glowing chunk of shrapnel sticking out of his calf.

   “The Captain’s been hit!”

   “I’m okay, I’m okay!  Find those hostiles and put them down, now!”  They could see muzzle fire from what seemed like dozens of guns shooting at them in the dark.  Ryan tried to pull the shrapnel out, but when he touched it, it singed his fingers like a red hot poker.  He withdrew his knife, clenched his teeth and quickly dug it out.  

   Within seconds, the street was illuminated with light from the flares.  With the area lit, Ryan counted about 20 enemy soldiers advancing on them from the cover of surrounding buildings.  PFC Robinson and Specialist Rand lobbed grenades into the advancing crowd and took out several of them.  Ryan’s men shot and downed six of them as the rest scattered for cover.  PFC Roger Hammond, 22, from Little Rock, Arkansas, popped up to get a clear shot at the enemy, was hit in the head and went down.  

   “Fuck!  Hammond’s been hit!”  

   “Medic!  Medic!”

   The medic crouched over Hammond, who had blood coming out of his mouth.  He put pressure on Hammond’s shoulder, which was spurting a red fountain.  The enemy continued to fire as they launched more flares and fired on every advancing target.

   “Sergeant, get two men on the M240Bs on our left and right flanks to establish traversing fire.  And two of your best marksmen to scan for snipers!  Establish that perimeter and secure the area!”

   “Yes, sir!”  Sergeant Thomas took off.

   The men fired their M-16s for cover.  As they did, PFC Michaels (the Jester) was shot in the neck and went down.

   “Medic!  Medic! We’ve got another man down!”

   A medic crawled over to Michaels as the hail of fire continued on both sides.  Sergeant Thomas returned and crouched next to Ryan.

   “Marksmen are in place, sir.”  As he spoke, two of the riflemen picked off two snipers from the tops of two surrounding buildings, who crumpled as they were hit.

   Specialist Steve “The Snake” Roberts, who was called that because he was so skinny, hugged the ground like a snake, crawled to cover, dragging his machine gun behind him, and put it in position as Specialist Tulane White set up his.  They commenced firing hundreds of rounds in the direction of fire.  Another RPG exploded about 10 yards short of them.  Snake doubled over his machine gun.  Ryan started to run after him, but Sergeant Thomas stopped him.

   “I’ll go, sir.  Without you, we all go down.”  Under cover fire, Thomas ran out to Snake with another soldier, who manned the machine gun and began shooting as Thomas dragged the wounded Snake back to safety.

   “Doc, take care of this man.”

   As the medic hunched over Snake, Thomas came back to Ryan.

   “God damn it, we’re getting our asses kicked!  I’m calling for fire support!”

   Ryan grabbed the Commo set from the radio operator, yelling into it over the din of the explosions and machine gunfire.  “Red 6, this is Charlie 6, we’re taking heavy machine gunfire and RPGs.  Calling for immediate air support at coordinates…”

   “Negative, Charlie 6, you are in an urban area.  We cannot afford collateral damage.  You’re on your own, over.”

   “What about artillery fire, over?”

   “No, Charlie 6.  Too risky.  We’re sending you reinforcements from Bravo Company, over.”

   “We’ve got casualties.  We need a medivac now!”

   “Bravo Company will provide your Evac.  Can’t land a bird there now, captain.  It’s too hot.”

   Ryan turned to Thomas.  “We’re on our own, sergeant.  How’s PFC Hammond?”

   “He’s dead, sir.”

   Ryan hung his head.

   “The Jester?”

   Sergeant Thomas shook his head.

   “And Snake?”

   “Hanging in there.”

 “The battle continued for about two hours, but it seemed like forever.  When we finally had established a defensive perimeter, we regrouped and attacked.  I lost six men and four were wounded.”

 They were still receiving small arms fire when the recon patrols returned to report that the enemy had been defeated and the survivors were in the process of retreat.  Ryan figured that snipers were responsible for the sporadic enemy fire.

   “Secure this area, now!  I want a clean sweep of all the rooftops in a five-hundred meter radius!”

   By the time Bravo Company had arrived to take the wounded, the battle was over.  Ryan ran over to the medic who was treating Snake.

   “Is he stabilized?  Can we move him?”

   “He’s lost a lot of blood, sir.  I don’t know if he’ll make the trip.”

   Ryan cradled Snake’s head in his lap.  “Hang in there, Snake, you’re gonna be fine!”

   Snake, still conscious, whispered back, “Captain, please tell my wife I love her.”

   “You hang in there, private.  You’re going to tell her yourself.”

   Ryan got on the radio.  “We have the area secure.  I have a seriously wounded man here.  Send medivac now, over.”

   “Roger, Bravo Six.  Medivac is on the way.”

 “That was the first time we were faced with a civilian decoy to draw us into a dangerous situation.  It happened a lot in my other deployments, especially as the insurgency got worse.

   “We were trained well, but our training was in traditional combat.  On my second tour, we got barely anything about fighting an insurgency.  The hardest part was trying to figure out who the bad guys were.” 

 Brent looked over his shoulder into the first row to check on Maya.  There were tears streaming down her cheeks.

 


 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY EIGHT 
Ryan had no idea how long he had been testifying.  The judge’s voice cut in like an echo from the sky in the battlefield.

   “Court will be in recess for fifteen minutes, at which time we will continue with direct examination.”

   After the members and the judge left the courtroom, the bailiff went to the stand to remove Ryan.  His mouth was dry and parched.  Brent and Brody both smiled to Ryan and gave him the “thumbs-up” sign.  His buddies in the first row kept their seats.  Their faces exhibited a mix of emotions, the foremost of them being loyalty to their friend.  They were proud of Ryan but sorry they could not join him in this, the most difficult battle of his life.  Any one of them would have taken his place if he could.

***

When court reconvened, Ryan took his place back in the witness box.  Brent questioned him about Colonel Parker’s briefing before Operation Surgical Strike.  The subtlety of the difference between the Colonel’s testimony and Ryan’s settled in.

   “What were the rules of engagement as related to you by Colonel Parker?”

   “Colonel Parker said we were going in hot, that we were to assume that every male of military age in the operational zone was a hostile and we were authorized to use deadly force to protect ourselves and our units against any such individual or individuals whom we felt were a threat of serious bodily injury to us.”

   “Captain Bennington, tell the court what happened on the 22nd of June 2004.”

   Ryan motioned to Hernandez, who kicked in the door and Ryan rushed in, followed by the others. 

   “Hands up, don’t move!” Brown shouted in Arabic.

   “Hands up!  Don’t move!” Ryan yelled.  An Iraqi man ignored the warnings and stood up.  Ryan shot him twice in the chest and once in the head.  A woman next to him was screaming hysterically.  He scanned the room with his eye on the sight of his rifle, moving the weapon as he surveyed it, and motioned to the men to search the house.

   “Go!  Go!  You stay here, Hernandez, and secure this room.  Nobody gets in or out.”

   A second man suddenly appeared at the entrance of the corridor.  Brown shot him twice and he fell.  They rushed past him, panning left and right with their weapons, looking for hostiles.  In the first room on the left, a woman was huddled in a corner with two children who were crying feverishly.

   “Fenwood, watch them.  The rest of you, secure the house.”

   Ryan radioed to the other squads.  “Team Alpha, this is Tango Bravo 6, report, over.”

   “This is Tango Alpha 6, reporting no exterior hostile activity.  Area appears to be secure.”

   “Team Charlie, this is Tango Bravo 6, report, over.”

   “Tango Charlie 6 reporting, captain.  Our area is secure with two dead and one prisoner.”

   Teams Delta and Echo reported in with three kills and one prisoner.

   In the third and last room on the right, a man moved toward Ford and he shot him, twice in the chest and once in the head.  The man fell back.  Ford checked the man’s body for weapons, found a sidearm and put it in his pack.  Popping sounds from automatic fire were coming from next door.  

   “That’s it!  Let’s go, now!  All teams report to the evacuation area.”








 
  


 CHAPTER THIRTY NINE 
Ryan stood strong under the tough cross-examination of Major Brinkman, whose goal was to exploit every nuance of Ryan’s testimony as an inconsistency.  He pounded away at him on the rules of engagement.

   “Captain Bennington, Colonel Parker didn’t indicate that the ROE was to kill indiscriminately, did he?”

   “No, sir.”

   “He told you that you were not to fire upon anyone until you had determined they were a hostile, didn’t he?”

   “No, sir.  He told us to assume that anyone over military age was a hostile if he was not in the process of actively surrendering.”

   “But when he told you to go in hot, you knew he didn’t mean to go in shooting, didn’t you?”

   “And we didn’t, sir.”

   “Move to strike as non-responsive, Your Honor.”

   “Sustained.  The members will disregard the answer.”

   “You knew the colonel didn’t mean go in shooting, didn’t you?”

   “I can’t answer that yes or no.”

   “Answer the question, captain,” ordered the judge.

   “He told us we were going in hot, which meant that we were to use deadly force against any military age male who was not surrendering.”

   “But you shot an unarmed Iraqi man before he could surrender to you, isn’t that correct, captain?”

   “No, sir.  I shot an Iraqi man who was advancing toward me and not obeying my commands.  There was no way for me to determine if he was armed or not, but I perceived him as an imminent threat.”

   “Move to strike as non-responsive, Your Honor.”

   “Denied.”

***

Brent knew that presenting the next witness would be difficult because he had nothing to do with Operation Surgical Strike.

   “I call Corporal Jason Washington.”

   Corporal Washington, a three-timer, having made three tours in Iraq, stepped up to the stand, nervously looking about, and timidly sat down.  Brent started the examination with the units Washington had served with in his three tours, none of which were under Ryan or Colonel Parker’s command.  Brinkman was prepared for this and asked for a bench conference at which he protested the witness for lack of relevance.  

   After vehement argument from Brent, based on the fact that one of the main prongs of Ryan’s defense was that the official policy of the Pentagon regarding the rules of engagement in Iraq had changed for fighting the insurgency, the judge allowed Washington to testify, subject to Brinkman objecting as to any particular point of the testimony he found to be improper.  The judge decided to let the members evaluate the testimony and give it the weight, if any, to which they felt it was entitled.

   “Corporal Washington, in the three tours in Iraq that you served, did you participate in a mission entitled ‘Operation Clean Sweep?’”

   “Yes, sir, I did.”

   “Can you describe the mission?”

   “I was serving in Bravo Company, the 3/183rd regiment.  My Command had verified information from Intel that an Al-Qaeda training center was operating near the city of Samarra.  Our mission was to kill all military age males in the facility who did not actively surrender.”

   “Who gave you those orders, Corporal?”

   “Our CO, Colonel Landers, in a briefing to the entire company.”

   “What else, if anything did Colonel Landers tell you during the briefing?”

   “He said to expect resistance, and that we were to hit the ground shooting.”

   “Did your CO also have a ‘kill board?’”

   Washington blinked.

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Describe the ‘kill board’ for the members, please.”

 “Objection, irrelevant!”

 “Overruled.”

   “The ‘kill board’ was a board that charted all the kills of Bravo Company.  A soldier received credit for every Iraqi killed in action.”

“What phrase was written on the bottom of the kill board, corporal?”

“‘Let bodies hit the floor.’” 

   “So this kill board was sort of a competition between soldiers in the company?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And by whose orders was this kill board installed?”

   “Colonel Landers’ orders, sir.”

   “Thank you, Corporal.  No further questions, Your Honor.”

   “Cross-examination?”

   Brinkman stood up with fervor to launch his attack.  “Corporal, you did not serve with Captain Bennington, the accused in this case, did you?”

   “No, sir.”

   “And you were never under the command of Colonel Lewis Parker, isn’t that also correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “And you have absolutely no knowledge of Operation Surgical Strike, isn’t that also correct?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “Your Honor, I move to strike Corporal Washington’s testimony in its entirety, on the grounds that it is irrelevant to this case and highly prejudicial.”

   “As I stated before, Major, I think the members can evaluate what weight, if any, to give to Corporal Washington’s testimony.  Your motion is denied.”

   Brent clinched his fist under the counsel table, stifling the cheer he wanted to yell out in the courtroom.  He looked at Ryan to his left, who was also containing the expression of his pleasure, as if he was holding his breath.  The question was how the members would look at it.

   Brent put a reassuring arm on Ryan’s shoulder. 

   “You did well.”

   “What comes next?”

   “Well, tomorrow I should rest our case and then we will move on to final argument.”

   Ryan’s eyes were drooping.  “What do you think?”

   “We’re doing well, Ryan.  But it doesn’t matter what I think.  It’s what the jury thinks that counts.”








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY  
Brent used to believe that a trial was like a war.  However, since he had met Ryan and the other brave soldiers who had fought in the Iraqi war and insurgency, he knew that nothing he had experienced in trial compared to the ordeals of combat.  He could not imagine staying awake for 80 hours straight under enemy fire and bombardment, watching his friends drop right and left and wondering when his own number would come up.  Still, after the last few days of trial, he was physically and mentally exhausted and in need of rest.  

   As he trudged out of the courtroom, patiently waiting was the person who had decided to organize that rest period.  As much as Brent wanted to spend time with Rebecca, all he really wanted at this point was a hot meal, a good drink, and a warm bed.  But she had patiently waited all this time in the gallery, after he had said good-bye to Maya and after Brody and everyone else had left, except for Jack.  He simply couldn’t refuse her.  

   “I may not be great company because my mind will be on this trial.”

   “That’s the whole point.  Your mind needs a rest.”

   “Alright.  Let me meet with Jack for about half an hour and then we’ll go.”

   Rebecca smiled, and Brent took Jack aside.  There was nothing new to report – Jack had tried to follow up with Jamul Abama but he could not reach him.  Robert Garcia was a phantom.  They could not expect either of them to show up to testify.  Brent was disappointed but Ryan’s testimony had been good and he thought they still had a shot at it.

   Rebecca’s prescription was exactly what Brent needed.  She whisked him away to nearby King City, which was about a half hour drive.  The Cork and Plough offered home cooking with all local products.  After a satisfying meal, Rebecca drove Brent back to his room.  He kissed her, thanked her for a wonderful evening, and pushed open the door of the Maserati.  Rebecca got out of the car as well.

   “Where are you going?”

   “You think that’s it?”

   “Well, I still have to go over my notes for tomorrow.”

   “You will.  And you’ll do that better after a nice massage.”

   Brent fumbled in his pocket for the key.  “After a nice massage, I’ll just go to sleep.”

   “Sleep is important, too.” 

   Rebecca’s doe-like eyes were fixed on Brent’s, and he could see that she would not take no for an answer.  He pushed aside the door, she walked in and he followed her, carrying a large bag.

   “What’s that for?”

   “It’s my bag of tricks.”

   Rebecca ran Brent a hot bath with plenty of bubbles.  When she invited him to go in, he opened the bathroom door to the glow of small candles that had been placed all around.  He turned to her and she smiled.

   “Nice touch.  Do you mind?”  He gestured with his hand for privacy.

   “Of course.  Take your time and enjoy.”

   Brent slid into the warm bath and got comfortable, noticing that Rebecca had placed a small bath pillow in exactly the right place.  She was definitely too good to be true.

   Brent got out of the tub, dried off and wrapped the towel around himself.  The lights had been turned off, so he followed the trail of candles that Rebecca had placed which led him to the bedroom.  There, he detected the pleasant scents of a spa.  The bed had been turned down and looked more like a massage table.  Rebecca appeared as a shadow in the doorway.  He heard her soft voice.  “Make yourself comfortable and I’ll be right back for your massage.  And remember to relax!”

   Brent settled on his stomach, feeling a little nervous.  He kept the towel draped over his backside.  Then he became aware of her presence in the room.  “Relax, don’t move.  Close your eyes.”  

   Brent remained prone.  He felt the towel sliding from his back and then the pressure and warmth of Rebecca sitting down on the same area, followed by tingles of excitement.  Then he felt her small but strong, oily hands kneading his shoulders and back.  As she manipulated them, Brent felt the tension melting away from his body as his muscles, one by one, loosened up, followed by a different kind of tension – a very pleasant one.  Partly as a result of Rebecca’s efforts and due also to the fatigue from the battle of trial, Brent’s heavy eyes closed and he drifted into a deep, restful sleep.

 








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY ONE 
The spectators filed in until every seat in the gallery was taken.  Then, Ryan was led to the counsel table by one of the MPs.  Brent noticed a stunned look on his face; as if he had seen one of his dead comrades come back to life.  Ryan took a seat at the counsel table, nervously looking over his shoulder into the gallery.

   “What is it?”

   “Right out there, in the audience, it’s Jamul Abama.”

   “Are you sure?”

   “Yes, there’s no mistake.  That’s him.”

   “Isn’t that the guy Jack met up with in Michigan?” Brody asked.

   “Yeah.  Jack served him with a subpoena but we never expected him to show up.”

   “Are you ready for him?” asked Ryan.

   “Of course.”

   Truth be told, Brent was not thoroughly prepared for this witness.  He had only prepared a cursory outline, because Abama was not bound by the subpoena.  The court’s jurisdiction arm did not reach all the way to Michigan and Brent never expected him to show up at all.  Of course, Jack would not have told him that.  He would have said everything he had to say to leave the lasting impression that he had been ordered to appear.  Some of Brent’s best moments had come when he had to “wing it.”  Hopefully, this would be one of those times.  He flipped in his trial notebook to the “miscellaneous” tab and pulled out the short outline for Abama.

   The judge took the bench and all counsel and Ryan rose and remained standing while the members took their places.

   “Court is again in session in the case of United States versus Bennington.  Counsel, you may call your next witness.”

   Brent stood up, and looked over his shoulder to make sure Abama was still there.  “Thank you, Your Honor.  I call Sergeant Jamal Abama.”

   Brinkman frantically swept through his notes, and then he remembered that this was a witness that was on the list, but whom he was not able to reach for a deposition.  He had to rely completely upon the summary of testimony that Brent had provided to him in the very beginning of the case, which meant that he was as unprepared for this witness as Brent.

   “Mr. Abama, please come forward and be sworn.”

   Jamal stood up, shuffled through the people in his row, and made his way down the aisle.  He appeared to be apprehensive, as if he was expecting enemy fire.  He stood in front of the clerk, took the oath, and then took his seat in the witness chair.  He was a little disheveled, had stringy long hair and an unkempt beard, but he was dressed pretty decently, in black slacks and a white shirt.

   “Sergeant Abama, did you serve under Captain Ryan Bennington in Iraq?”

   “Yes, sir, I did.”

   “For how long?”

   “About six months.  Just up to the point that I was assigned to Special Forces because I spoke Arabic.”

   “And did you take part in Operation Surgical Strike?”

   “Yes, I did.”

   “Can you describe your role in Operation Surgical Strike?”

   “I was assigned by Captain Bennington as the team leader for Charlie Squad.”

   “Do you remember the instructions given by Colonel Parker for Operation Surgical Strike?”

   “Yes, I do.”

   “What do you recall of the instructions?”

   “Colonel Parker told us that Intel had identified certain Al-Qaeda operatives in the village of al-Nasr and we were to go in and kill those operatives who did not surrender to us.”

   “So this was an assassination mission?”

   Abama poised himself to answer, opened his mouth, and Brinkman objected.

   “Objection, argumentative, assumes facts not in evidence, leading.”

 Come on, Jamal!  Answer!

   “Sustained.”

   Jamal kept his mouth shut during the objection.  Probably his military discipline kicking back in – don’t talk while someone else is speaking, especially someone in authority.  Brent pushed on.

   “Describe what happened on the mission.”

   “Sergeant Welch headed up a squad which established a perimeter around the operation.  My team approached the house at the coordinates that had been established for us.  PFC Terrence Bradley breeched the door at my command and we all filed in, with me in the lead.  In the first room, I shouted out in Arabic for all suspects to freeze and to raise their hands.  Two did not, and I shot them.”

   “Dead?”

   “Of course dead.  If you don’t shoot to kill, you’re the one who is killed.”

   Brent, of course, knew the answer, but he was hoping that Abama would make the answer dramatic.  Abama had fulfilled all his hopes, and Brent pressed on.

   “What happened next?’

   “We proceeded through the rest of the house and arrested two Iraqi males who surrendered to us.”

   “What happened to the men you arrested?”

   “I don’t know.  We turned them over to Command.”

   “How long after that were you assigned to Special Forces?”

   “Almost immediately.  I would say no more than a month.”

   “What was your assignment for Special Forces?”

   “Objection, irrelevant.”

   “What’s the relevance, Mr. Marks?”

   “I was on a death squad in Samarra, under the command of Colonel Jeffrey Steelman.”

   Brinkman waved his arms in protest, like a child having a temper tantrum.  Brent just smiled.

   The military judge cleared the courtroom of spectators and sent the members to their deliberation room so he could discuss the government’s objections outside of their presence.  Once they were out of earshot, he repeated his question to Brent.  “What is the relevance of this testimony, Mr. Marks?”

   “Your Honor, this could be perhaps the most relevant testimony to the defense.  One of the kingpins to our principal defense is that it was the policy of the United States of America to target whom the government perceived as terrorists or insurgent militants for assassination as all military age males within the operational area.  The order that Captain Bennington and Jamal Abama both remember receiving from Colonel Parker was to kill all military age males who did not actively surrender.  This is consistent with evidence that the United States was organizing and running death squads in Iraq and is also consistent with the targeted killing drone strikes until the policy changed in 2013 by executive decree.”

   “Major Brinkman?”

   “Your Honor, this is outrageous!  There is absolutely no nexus to the military operation that Captain Bennington was involved with any alleged death squad.  It is simply too prejudicial to allow this evidence.”

   Judge Leonard sat in silence for a few moments.  “We will be in recess while I consider the matter.  I will issue a ruling on it when we reconvene in one hour.”

***

Judge Leonard reconvened and declared that he had considered the matter and was ready to make a ruling.

   “The Military Rules of Evidence are based on the Federal Rules of Evidence, but they do have some subtle differences.  In the case of Military Rule 401, it differs from Rule 401 of the Federal Rules in that it is a two-part test for relevance.  Military Rule of Evidence 401 adopts only the first part of the test: Whether the evidence has a tendency to make a fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. 

In this case, the defense postulates that the United States has a policy of assassination with regard to its fight against the insurgency in Iraq.  The defense has made an offer of proof that this witness will testify as to the formulation of death squads to carry out this objective.  Certainly this would be relevant to the defense, so I will allow the testimony subject to the government’s right to object to its probative value, its scope and its prejudicial effect.  If I determine that the prejudicial impact to the government exceeds the probative value of the evidence on any particular aspect of it, that evidence will be excluded.”

   Brent and Brody regarded each other with joy, and then looked at Ryan, who seemed to be confused with the entire explanation.  “It’s good, Ryan, very good,” Brent whispered. 

   The judge called for the members to take their places, but kept the courtroom closed to spectators.  Abama took his place on the witness stand.

   “Sergeant Abama, you are still under oath.  Counsel, you may proceed.”

   “Sergeant Abama, please describe your assignment with Special Forces in Iraq.”

   “I was on a squad of ten men, under the command of Colonel Jeffrey Steelman, retired.  Our mission, as they explained it to me, was to train the Iraqi police force to eliminate the insurgency.  We underwent extensive weapons and hand-to-hand combat training at Fort Benning, Georgia, before we were shipped off to Iraq, but we didn’t train the Iraqi police force.”

   “What did you do?”

   “My team and others under the command of Colonel Steelman were given assignments to kill whole groups which Intel had identified as insurgents or their sympathizers.”

   “Were these assignments all assassination assignments?”

   “Yes.”

   “Were they pretty much all the same, or did they vary?”

   “They varied.  They were very specific.  Usually we would kill the targets with two shots to the chest and a third to the head, called a “T-box” shot.  Sometimes we were ordered to decapitate the bodies and sometimes to dispose of them.”  

Abama’s eyes shuddered as he spoke.  Several members of the jury grimaced.  Maya covered her face with her hands.  Brent heard the murmurs of the shocked audience in the gallery.

Abama was sent ahead of the others.  His job was to quietly take out the guards in the camp.  He focused on the two sentinels at the front gate with the night sight.  There was a muffled click as he took out the first, then another for the second, dropping lifelessly to the ground.

Crouching low, Abama ran toward the compound, found no resistance, and entered.  He slinked alongside the first building he encountered.  Around the corner of the building, he saw a man.  The man was startled, and Abama reassured him in Arabic, “Quiet, I won’t shoot you, don’t worry.”  In a split second after he uttered the words, he took the man out with two shots to the chest and one to the head.

   “Did you ever use US made weapons?”

   “Never.”

   “Did you ever wear western clothing or military uniforms?”

   “No.”

   “Why not?”

   “Objection, calls for speculation.”

   “Your Honor, this witness knows why.”

   “Overruled, subject to connecting it up.”

   “We spoke Arabic, wore indigenous clothing and used weaponry that the police commandos or terrorists would use because the credit for our kills was always given to someone else.”

   “Always?”

   “Always.”

   “How many times was credit given to Al-Qaeda?”

   “Twice that I can recall.”

   Brent continued to elicit testimony from Abama over the frequent and animated objections of Major Brinkman, until he was sure that the members had received the full version of the horrors that had been committed in the name of their country.

   “No further questions, Your Honor.”

   Brinkman took Sergeant Abama on cross-examination, tearing apart every piece of his testimony, and leading up to a conclusionary crescendo.

   “Sergeant Abama, you have respect for Captain Bennington, don’t you?”

   “I do.  He fought alongside us.  He is a brave warrior and I was proud to fight under his command.”

   “Would you say that he took you as his ‘right-hand man?’”

   “You could say that.  I was just doing my duty.”

   “You love Captain Bennington, don’t you, Sergeant Abama?”

   “I do, but not in the romantic sense.  In an even higher sense, I suppose.  He’s my brother.”

   “And you would do anything for him, wouldn’t you?”

   “Yes.”

   “You would die for him, isn’t that true?”

   “Yes, I would.”

   “So, by the same token, you would lie for him, wouldn’t you?”

   “I’m not lying.”  The truth was that Abama would lie for Ryan.  Anything it takes.

   “Answer the question, sergeant.  You would lie for him, isn’t that correct?”

   “Objection Your Honor!  Asked and answered and argumentative.”

   “Overruled.  Answer the question, sergeant.”

   Abama’s forehead wrinkled as he thought long and hard.  “I told you, sir, I’m not lying.”

   “But, if you had to lie to save his life, you would, wouldn’t you?”

   “Yes, I would.  But I’m not lying.”

   “Move to strike after ‘Yes I would’ Your Honor.”

   “Denied.  The answer stands.”  








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY TWO 
The mysterious and fortunate appearance of Jamal Abama paved the way for Brent to argue the relevance of the deposition testimony of Colonel Steelman and John Riechert.  Judge Leonard cleared the room of spectators due to the potentially classified nature of the testimony.  Two large video monitors were set up, one for the military judge and counsel and one for the members.  A video operator was charged with stopping the video every time an objection was stated, so the attorneys could argue it and the judge could make a ruling.  This was a tedious process, because, when an objection was sustained, the operator had to fast forward through the testimony to the next question.  The video had a synchronized counter, so Brent and Brody followed along with their own copies of the transcript at the counsel table, just to make sure that nothing was cut out that didn’t have to be.

   Steelman’s video was played first, and the members watched as it was played, stopped at objections, and played again.  They heard in full the Colonel’s background in El Salvador and his training of the contras forces in Nicaragua.  They also learned of his contract with the CIA to train the commando police in Iraq to fight the insurgency, and the fact that he acted as a liaison to Donald Rumsfeld and reported directly to the secretary and to General Petraeus.

   Brinkman objected to the questions on torture on the grounds that the information was irrelevant and its probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.  The objection was sustained and the members did not hear of any accusations of torture against the colonel.  

   When it came to FRAGO 242, the order that Iraqi on Iraqi torture should not be investigated, Brinkman objected again and the videotape was paused.  

   “Your Honor has already ruled that allegations of torture are irrelevant to this case.  It is also a serious breach of national security.”

   “Mr. Marks?”

   “Your Honor, the existence of an order originating at the highest levels of the Pentagon to turn your head the other way and allow war crimes to be committed by forces that are being trained by the United States is certainly relevant to our defense that US policy is condoning a breach of the laws of warfare to fight this insurgency.”

   Judge Leonard paused in reflection and cogitated the objection.  He rubbed his eyes, then said, “I agree with you, Mr. Marks.  I’ll allow it.”  Brinkman’s lips turned down in a disgusted frown.

   The members watched in awe as Brent described the 2004 order issued to coalition troops which instructed them to report, but not to investigate any breaches of the laws of armed conflict unless it directly involved members of the coalition and the colonel not only admitted its existence but testified that it did not apply to him or any other defense contractors in the field.

   When the taped testimony turned back to torture, pursuant to Brinkman’s objection, it was not played to the members.  But Judge Leonard allowed the testimony about the “Salvadoran Option” which was defined by the Pentagon as ‘Hit squads of Kurdish and Shia fighters to target leaders of the Iraqi insurgency in a strategic shift borrowed from the American struggle against left-wing guerillas in Central America 20 years ago.’  He did not allow Brent’s questions of Colonel Steelman about victims of the death squads because the colonel had denied responsibility for them.

   The members were allowed to hear that Colonel Steelman supervised the training of all the militias in Iraq, but, again, not any allegations about them running death squads.

 If only Bob were here to testify.

   The Colonel’s admission that commandos he trained in El Salvador killed 75,000 people was allowed, as well as his testimony that Special Forces under his command fought with the Iraqi police commandos, but the rest of Brent’s questioning regarding their use of non-US weapons was not allowed because the colonel denied knowledge of it.

***

John Riechert’s videotaped testimony was cued up next, and the members were allowed to hear how he defined himself as an “information warrior” and “perception manager,” and his definition of “perception management” as “the use of media to accomplish public policy objectives” and to “counter false perceptions that the media perpetuates.”  The members learned about The Riechert Group’s involvement in the Middle East beginning with a contract with the government of Kuwait in 1990, and that the firm had been consulted for every major US armed conflict except for Somalia.  This was all allowed over Brinkman’s objections because he didn’t object on the record during the deposition.

   Evidence of The Riechert Group’s contract with the CIA was allowed because it was in the 1995 audit, which had been released to the public.  The members were not allowed to hear the implication that Riechert’s company was hired to help create the conditions for removal of Saddam Hussein from power because Riechert had not answered the question.

   The members did learn, however, that the firm was authorized to research and analyze information classified up to Top Secret/SCI/TK/G/HCS, and the fact that The Riechert Group consulted and supported the “decision-makers in the Bush Administration and the implementers in the Department of Defense” that included running radio networks which broadcast into Iraq, and producing leaflets and comic books to paint Saddam Hussein in a bad light, as well as providing stock photo images of Saddam’s atrocities to journalists, and that calling attention to these atrocities “could make the difference between winning and losing a war.”

   Brent’s questioning to Riechert about a Top Secret order from the Bush administration to create a dissident force to overthrow the Iraqi government and his involvement in forming the Iraqi National Congress was not allowed because Riechert didn’t answer the question, but his testimony about hearing the news before the news with his ‘Prowire’ system was allowed.  The members were allowed to hear how Riechert had orchestrated and directed the demonstrative toppling of Saddam Hussein’s statue in Firdaus Square.  

   Finally, they learned Riechert had leaked to the media that Al-Qaeda was responsible for the massacre at al-Nasr that Ryan had commanded and The Guardian’s story exposed that it was not Al-Qaeda but American soldiers who had perpetrated the massacre.  

   Finally, the members learned from the tape that Reichert knew Colonel Jeffrey Steelman and knew he was operating in Iraq, with Special Forces, training Iraqi commandos as part of the “Salvadoran Option.”

***

The next witness for the defense was Dr. Charles Rendauer, a clinical psychologist who specialized in treating post-traumatic stress disorder, with an extensive history of military clientele.  Dr. Rendauer’s qualifications were beyond reproach, so he easily qualified as an expert witness.  

   “Dr. Rendauer, did you examine Captain Ryan Bennington?”

   “Yes, I did.”

   “When and where did that examination occur?”

   “I met with and examined Captain Bennington in the Naval Brig at Miramar, California on several occasions during the month of August of this year.”

   Rendauer spoke in calm, assuring tone, as if the members were all sitting comfortably in his office during an initial consultation.

   “Did you examine Captain Bennington with respect to an incident which occurred on June 22, 2004?”

   “I did.”

   “And what were the results of that examination?”

   “I concluded that Captain Bennington’s judgment was impaired during Operation Surgical Strike.”

   “To what extent?”

   “He couldn’t challenge the legality or the illegality of the orders given to him by Colonel Parker.”

   “What does that mean?”

   “Captain Bennington regarded the colonel as a father figure.  He had no reason to question the propriety of any order given to him.”

   “Was he able to disobey the order?”

   “No.  As a result of his training, and his obedience to his superiors, he was compelled to carry out his orders, like a robot.  When he shot the man during Operation Surgical Strike, his training kicked in and he did it automatically, without thinking or evaluating the consequences of his actions.  He was acting on instructions of the colonel to shoot any male of military age that he perceived as a danger to himself or to his men.”

   “No further questions, Your Honor.”

   “Cross-examination?”

   Brinkman handed off the cross-examination of Dr. Rendauer to Theodore, who stood up and faced the doctor with his tinny voice.

   “Dr. Rendauer, as a result of your examination, did Captain Bennington exhibit any other symptoms of psychological conditions?”

   “Yes.”

   “Can you describe the conditions and how they manifested themselves?”

   Dr. Rendauer turned his gaze from Brinkman to the members, as if he was speaking directly to them.  “Captain Bennington suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of his four tours in combat.”

   “What symptoms led you to this diagnosis?”

   “Depression, irritability, nightmares.  And I confirmed the diagnosis with a blood test.”

   “Isn’t it true that post-traumatic stress disorder patients exhibit memory problems?”

   “Not all of them.”

   “But isn’t memory suppression one of the symptoms of PTSD?”

   “Yes, it can be.”

   “What about memory loss?”

   “In some cases.”

   “Dr. Rendauer, are you familiar with the concept of irresistible impulse?”

   “Yes.”

   “Can you explain it, please?”

   “Irresistible impulse is when a person knows the difference between right and wrong, but, at the time of the incident, they lose the power to distinguish between right and wrong.”

   “In your opinion, was Captain Bennington suffering from an irresistible impulse at the time of the incident?”

   “No, he was not.”  

   “Was he conscious of his actions?”

   “Yes.”

   “Was he able to distinguish between right and wrong?”

   “Definitely.”

   “Was he suffering from any psychosis, in your opinion?”

   “No.”

   “Any neurosis?”

   “No.”

   “And he definitely knew the difference between right and wrong at the time he shot that unarmed Iraqi man, isn’t that correct?”

   “In my opinion, yes.”

   “Thank you, Your Honor, no further questions.”  

   “Redirect?”

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  Doctor, as a result of your examination of Captain Bennington, are you of the opinion that he suffers from any type of memory loss?”

   “No, in my opinion, his memory capability is normal.”

   When court recessed for the day, a weary Brent Marks and Jeffrey Brody joined Jack and Rebecca for a beer at a bar and grill near the base.  Rebecca had asked for a flavored beer, but the bartender told her this was a military bar, and they didn’t have any “chick’s beer” there, which made both Brody and Jack laugh, probably because Brent looked offended by the bartender’s answer.  

  The bartender returned a short time later with four mugs of draught.  “This beer is on you guys,” Jack said, smiling defiantly.  

   “Oh, yeah?  We’ve been in the trenches all this time while you two are sitting on your butts out in the gallery.”

   “This may make you change your mind.  And your plans for the evening, in fact.  Robert Garcia is flying in tomorrow.”

   Brent and Brody looked at each other with surprise and pure glee.  Then, Brent realized that he had promised to spend dinner with Rebecca.

   “Bekka, can you take a rain check for dinner tonight?”

   With a tinge of disappointment and a huge helping of understanding she replied, “Sure,” and smiled.  Brody looked at her and then at Brent.

   “Brent, I’ve got your outlines, why don’t you let me put the direct and redirect together for John Doe 1?”

   Brent, contemplating his answer, looked at Rebecca and back at Brody.

   “I don’t know.”

   “Don’t worry, Brent.  I’ve got this.”

   “Okay.  But whose gonna take care of Jack?”

   They all turned to Jack, who made a pitiful, sorrowful face.

   “I’d say a few more beers and Jack can take care of himself.  After all, we’re paying,” said Rebecca.

   After a while, Rebecca realized that Brent really had to prepare for his examination of what could be the most important witness, and she tapped him on the elbow.  “Brent, go ahead and work tonight.  You can make it up to me later.”

   “You sure?”

   She smiled and nodded, and Brent felt a rush of relief.  He didn’t want to disappoint her, but during a trial he was always on call, whether before, after or during court.  The only time he was off duty was when he was asleep.








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY THREE 
John Doe 1 had more aliases than a common street criminal.  Known in his civilian life as Robert Garcia, he was also known as Malik Abdul and formerly known as Captain John Richards who had come out of the cold and directly into the heat.  For his testimony, the court was cleared of all spectators.  As the strange, animated man with the long beard sat in the witness chair, Brent elicited his story over the many vociferous objections of Major Brinkman.  Ryan’s buddies’ eyes were all glued to John Doe as he testified.  Perhaps, in their empathy, they could actually feel what he was describing.

 Malik Abdul looked through his PV4 night vision goggles at the small encampment of men, who unknowingly, had less than ten minutes of life left, at least on this earth.  He marveled, as he always did at the goggles.  He could see every detail – men milling about with their weapons slung over their shoulders, men smoking by the fire.  There were about 25 of them at his count.

 Only the Americans can turn night into day.

   As for the men he was about to kill he had no thoughts.  Any regard he had for people like them had died over ten years ago, when a young captain from the US Army named John Richards had volunteered to serve his country and had become Malik Abdul.

   Malik had shed every trace of his Anglo father’s heritage.  The last thing to go was the family name, and the only thing he retained was a love for his country, his father’s country.  From that point on, he never spoke anything but Arabic.  He thought in Arabic and he dreamed in Arabic.  To complete his transformation, he adopted every mannerism of an Arab.  He even killed like they did, but he did it in the name of America.

   Keeping his eyes trained on the camp ahead, he spoke quietly into the communications set he wore hidden under the Keffiyeh, the traditional Arab male headdress.  The Commo set was another American marvel, no doubt its capabilities and design created by the three-letter organization that sponsored Malik, his team, and other death squads around the world.  

   Malik's team of seven consisted of men he had trained with and fought alongside for a decade.  Like him, they too had given up everything from the civilized world that they had all known and loved.  After Operations Desert Shield and Desert Storm the American intelligence community knew that America was far from finished dealing with the "Muslim threat.”  The government needed men who could be on the inside of that world when the next assault came.  Men the enemy trusted, who wouldn't hesitate to kill those who trusted them, men willing to do what had to be done, constrained by no law on heaven or earth.  These men were known as “death” and were spoken about in only the most classified meetings in Langley and Pennsylvania Ave.

   Malik whispered to his team that the operation was a ‘go.’  His two snipers already had their targets in sight and had begun their breathing protocol.  The attack would be quick and silent.  The orders were always the same.  

 “Terminate everyone but leave one alive, barely.  Let him know you are Muslim and hate how these jihadists have ruined the name of Allah, and His prophet.”

   Malik was about to give the order to commence the attack when he felt the vibration under his Thawb, the traditional robe worn by Middle Eastern men.  He knew only one person had the number to the satellite phone.  He quickly reached under the robe and read the text.  It was in a code that Malik knew by heart.  He looked at the screen, shielding the light it gave off with his hand.  He decoded it quickly but continued to stare at the screen as if it would change if he stared at it long enough or he hoped that it would.  

   The message was quite clear: 

 FRAGO…FRAGO…FRAGO. 

 This stood for Fragmentary Order and officially changed any prior orders received in an Operations Order. The message continued:  

 No one, REPEAT, NO ONE TO BE LEFT ALIVE. MOB authorized and ordered.  RPT MOB AUTHORIZED AND ORDERED.  

 Malik’s heart jumped in his chest.  He knew what this meant.  His team had just been ordered to kill everyone in the encampment. Worse, mutilation of bodies was ordered. That meant only one thing in the Arab world.  His team was to decapitate each of the terrorists.  It was not in Malik’s makeup to question an order. That was something a soldier didn’t do.  Besides, this was a different kind of war which called for a different type of warfare.  These were enemies who held no value for the lives of others, or for themselves.  They could only be defeated by using the same extreme measures they themselves practiced.  Terror against terror.  He himself had borne witness to their cruelty and inhumanity.  Men under his command had been blown to bits by women and children sworn into their service as suicide bombers.  He had seen the lifeless heads of his friends hanging from the filthy bloody fists of jihadists on videos, chanting “God is great!  Death to American infidels!” He ended the call and slipped the phone back into its secure case.

   It would not be the first time his men decapitated the enemy.  On one mission the team found five women being repeatedly raped by jihadists.  They were local women and, as the terrorists violated them, the headless bodies of their husbands lay around the compound where they had fallen.  It was two team members, Massoud and Talib (Malik could no longer remember their American names) who, without orders, did what soldiers do in the absence of orders.  They castrated the men found near the women. They did it without emotion, hesitation, or a change of expression, as if it was the most natural act in the world.  The rest of the team silently and efficiently decapitated every man in the encampment except for those castrated.  Those jihadists, no longer true men, were left alive.  They did not deserve death unless it came from their own hands, which it often did.

   Malik spoke into his Commo set in Arabic. “FRAGO, 100% termination.  MOB.”  One by one, the seven members of his team acknowledged the change in orders.  No one dared question Malik.  They were soldiers and would do as ordered.  Besides, their intelligence indicated that the men in the compound were suicide bombers, extremists of the worst kind.  They deserved nothing but hell and that was exactly what they were about to get.

   “In Iraq, who was your commander?”

   “Colonel Jeffrey Steelman.”

   “And, to the best of your knowledge, who did Colonel Steelman answer to?”

   “Objection, calls for speculation.”

   “I’m asking for his personal knowledge, Your Honor.”

   “Overruled.  The witness may answer.”

   “He answered directly to General Petraeus and to secretary of defense Donald Rumsfeld.”

   Malik keyed his mike once again, and spoke to his snipers, Abbas and Saddam, whose job was to take out the guards in the front of the camp.  Each had a Tabuk sniper rifle – 7.62 MM of lead with an accuracy up to 800 meters.  An ordinary AKM could have hit the guards, who were only about 200 yards away, but an AKM was too noisy and could not be fitted with noise suppression.  The Tabuks had it.  

   “Abbas, Saddam, prepare to fire at my command.”

   Abbas and Saddam trained their aim on the guards.  When the other members of the team heard the command, they automatically put their night vision goggles away and allowed their eyes to adjust to the ambient moonlight.  Each man took their AKM off safety and made sure that the scimitar they carried was easily accessible.

   Malik keyed his microphone, breaking squelch, and counted his snipers down. 

   “Fire in 3, 2, 1, FIRE!” 

   Both guards dropped immediately, like puppets that had had their strings cut off simultaneously.  The team moved quickly as one, each man a dangerous instrument that only an act of God could stop now.  They reached the perimeter of the compound in 25 seconds and caught the terrorists completely by surprise.  Malik shot the first man in the forehead and, as he ran past him, shot him twice again in the chest (known as a “triple tap”).  The team members did the same.  In less than two minutes, 25 terrorists lay dead.  They never had the time to fire their weapons in defense.  Malik checked his team.  Nobody was killed, no one injured.

   Malik gave the order and the team unsheathed their scimitars from their scabbards, seven huge sharp blades of steel gleaming in the moonlight.  Half an hour later the fire in the middle of the compound was stoked with twenty-five burning heads, but Malik was mystified.  Any soldier knows that when a battle goes too well something is seriously wrong.  He had a bad feeling in his stomach that creeped up into his throat.  He ordered Abbas and Saddam to check the guards they had dropped.  When Abbas and Saddam came back, they reported that neither guard was armed.  He then ordered his men to check every body.  None of the corpses had their weapons at the ready.  

   The feeling in Malik’s stomach burned and intensified.  He felt as if he would vomit.  Malik looked each of his men in the face, and knew that each of them realized that had not terminated a jihadist command.  These men they had killed couldn’t be terrorists.  They were just nomads.  Someone had fucked up big time.  He pulled the phone from underneath his robe and sent a coded message that they had made a terrible mistake.  The response came back immediately: 

   “NO MISTAKE, RPT NO MISTAKE.  AL QAIDA GETS THE BLAME.  RETURN TO ASSEMBLY AREA.”

 “Who was giving you those fragmentary orders that day in Iraq?”

   “Colonel Jeffrey Steelman.”

   A somber cloud hung over the courtroom.  The air was thick and heavy.  Brent looked at Maya.  There were tears in her eyes.  He looked to his side at Ryan, at the worn, torn, heavy face that showed the scars of the long, treacherous and tolling deployments in Iraq.  The dirty, dishonorable secrets of the war had been brought back home.








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY FOUR 
The trial had not been going as well as Major Brinkman had imagined.  He thought Judge Leonard was soft, but what he didn’t realize was that the judge was just being careful in establishing a record of just and fair play.  He didn’t want to be reversed on appeal for making a bad ruling and disallowing possibly exculpatory evidence.  

It was better to err on the side of letting the story be told and having the members decide what weight to give it.  Besides, the members were not the soldiers who had been in the foxholes covered in dirt as their buddies around them dropped to the ground.  They were the ones who gave those soldiers the orders to march into combat.  They had sent boys to their deaths time and time again.  Sending another one to life in prison was not a serious affair for them.  Brent’s hope was that, for at least four of them, it would be.  Brinkman approached the witness who had just told the most incredible story of the trial.  He had no means to poke holes in that story, but if he could discredit the witness, it would accomplish the same purpose.

   “John Doe 1.  This is a pseudonym given to you because you were afraid to give your testimony today, isn’t it?”

   Robert Garcia regarded Brinkman with cold eyes, like a shark, as if he were his opponent in a chess game, and plotted a response to his first move, which he figured had been made to throw him off guard.

   “I’m not afraid.  My testimony today would mean my death if my former employers discovered it, but I’m not afraid to die.”

   “But your story is all that it is, isn’t it?  It’s just something you made up, isn’t that correct?”

   “No, sir.” Garcia clenched his teeth

   “Come on, this is the thing that Hollywood movies are made of.  Conspiracy theories and such.”

   Brody tapped Brent on the elbow to ask if he should object.  

“It’s okay, let him go.”

Brody nodded.  He realized they did not need to protect Robert Garcia from himself.  Garcia remained silent, suppressing the urge to tell Brinkman what he thought of him.  Brody looked at Brent and the two exchanged a silent understanding that Brent’s decision was correct.  The witness was right when he didn’t respond to Brinkman.  After all, he hadn’t asked a question.

   “Have you tried any illegal drugs, Mr. Doe?”

   “Yes, sir, I have.”

   “Have you been to any rehab treatments?”

   “Yes, sir.”

   “So, you’re a drug addict, is that correct?”

   “Yes, sir, I am.  Recovering.”

   “Of course.  And you have psychological problems, don’t you?”

   “I wouldn’t say so, sir.”

   “Oh, no?  You’ve got post-traumatic stress syndrome, don’t you?”

   “All of us combat soldiers do, sir.  You should know that.”

   “So you have PTSD?”

   “Yes.”

   “And you have nightmares?”

   “Yes.”

   “And hallucinations?”

   “Yes.”

   “You hear voices when there’s nobody there?”

   “Sometimes.”

   “Mr. Doe, or should I say Sergeant Doe, have you got a grudge against the government?”

   “Not against my country, sir.  I love my country.”

   “But you have a grudge against the government, don’t you?’

   Brent prodded Brody, who stood up.  “Asked and answered.”

   “Overruled.  The witness will answer.”

   “You could say I do, sir.”

   “What is that grudge, sergeant?”

   Garcia contemplated the question with a far off look on his face.  Then he snapped into action.

   “Well, sir, I served my country.  I fought for it.  I followed orders like a good soldier.  And then I come home and it’s like I’m just a piece of shit.  Forgotten.  I’m not saying I wanted a handout.  I’m willing to work just like the next guy and I don’t expect to get something for free.  But after I served as I did, I would expect at least some help, and I’d like not to worry every day whether somebody’s going to come up behind me and slit my throat.  I deserve a chance at life just like everyone else.  But that’s not why I’m here.”

 Brent felt like putting his face in his hands.  This was not the rant he had expected.

   “You sound paranoid, sergeant.”

   “Objection, argumentative.”

   “Sustained.  The members will disregard the question.”

   “Have you ever been diagnosed as paranoid?”

   “No, sir.”

   “How about schizophrenic?”

   “No, sir.”

   “This story you told on the stand, sergeant.  You made it up from a combination of your hallucinations and dreams, didn’t you?”

   “No, sir.  I’ve done a lot of terrible things in my life, and I don’t know how God will ultimately judge me, but I am not a liar.  But you talk about order?  This whole court-martial is out of order.  Captain Bennington was just following orders.  He’s not to blame for what happened to those civilians.  The system is!”

   The answer brought a sour look to Brinkman’s wrinkled face.  He objected up and down and moved to strike the answer but he knew he couldn’t do anything about the answer and the members had already heard it.

 The judge excused John Doe 1, alias Robert Garcia, from the witness stand and called a fifteen minute break.  Ryan pat Brody on the back and then turned to thank Garcia.  

 “Where did he go?”

 “Who?”

 “John Doe 1.”

 Brent trotted through the middle aisle and out into the corridor outside the courtroom.  Like a ghost, Garcia had vanished.  Brent silently wished him well.  








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY FIVE 
Brody announced that the defense had rested its case, which should have thrown the trial into its final phase.  However, when Judge Leonard asked Major Brinkman if he had any rebuttal, he responded in the affirmative.

   “I call Dr. Samuel Robertson.”

   Brent recognized the funny little bald man with wire-rimmed glasses as one who had sat every day in the gallery, watching the trial.  He stood for his oath, then took the witness stand and talked for a while about his qualifications.  They seemed to Brent to be impeccable.  Robertson was a combat psychologist, with an extensive record of treating combat soldiers and veterans.

   “Dr. Robertson, you have been present in trial observing the proceedings every day, haven’t you?”

   “Yes, I have.”

   “And you’ve observed the demeanor of the accused, Captain Ryan Bennington, as well as listened to his entire testimony?”

   “I have.”

   “And you also listened to the testimony of Dr. Rendauer, is that correct?”

   “Yes, it is.”

   “Doctor, do you agree with the diagnosis of Dr. Rendauer?”

   “No, I do not.”

   “Please explain to the court where your opinion agrees with and differs from that of Dr. Rendauer.”

   “I agree with Dr. Rendauer’s diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder, but not his opinion on memory loss.  The symptoms of PTSD that he recited – depression, irritability and nightmares – usually involve the daytime suppression of memories that brought on the trauma.  It would be very unusual if Captain Bennington did not have suppressed memories.

   “Declarative memory dysfunction is a very common condition in cases of post-traumatic stress disorder.  In PTSD, memories associated with the stress trigger, a horrendous trauma, often make the patient feel like he is experiencing the trauma all over again.  

   “The condition is very common in cases of rape, child abuse, combat, and with victims of violent crime.  The brain, in order to protect itself, avoids recollection.  Think of it like putting something away that gives you bad feelings to look at.  In these cases, often alternative memories are substituted for the traumatic ones.  When Captain Bennington testified he didn’t recall actually shooting the Iraqi man, that it came automatically, this is the point where we cannot trust the memory as he relates it.”

   “Doctor, have you formed an opinion within a reasonable degree of medical certainty on the condition of Captain Bennington?”

   “Yes I have.”

   “Please tell the members your opinion, doctor.”

   “It’s my opinion that Captain Bennington is suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder, and that this condition affects his memory, such that any memories he recalls from incidents in which he suffered traumatic stressors during combat are unreliable.”

   “In your opinion, did he have an irresistible impulse which compelled him to shoot the unarmed man in the raid he described?”

   “No.”

   “What is your opinion as to whether Captain Bennington knew the difference between right and wrong during the incident?”

   “He definitely knew the difference between right and wrong.”

   “Do you agree with Dr. Rendauer that Captain Bennington had a psychological condition that made him unable to disobey an order from his superior officer, even if that order was illegal?”

   “No, I do not.”

   “Thank you, Your Honor.  No further questions.”

   “Cross-examination?”

   Brent had to wing this one.  It was always best to be prepared and Brent had always felt that you can’t be too prepared, especially with an expert witness, but sometimes flying by the seat of your pants developed the greatest of legal arguments.  Brent checked his flight plan and took off.

   “Doctor, you never actually examined Captain Bennington, did you?”

   “No, I did not.”

   “And your observation of him was limited to what we all saw in this courtroom, correct?”

   “That is correct.”

   “If you had examined him, you would have asked him questions that were not necessarily the same ones asked of him in court, isn’t that correct?”

   “Objection, calls for speculation.”

   “This is an expert hypothetical, Your Honor.”

   “Overruled, you may answer.”

   “I suppose I would have, yes.”

   “Isn’t it also true that not every patient with PTSD experiences memory problems?”

   “Yes, that is true.”

   “And isn’t it true that a patient who exhibits symptoms of depression, irritability and nightmares will not necessarily also have memory problems?”

   “Yes, that is true.”

 “No further questions, Your Honor.”








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY SIX 
The evidentiary phase of the trial having concluded, Judge Leonard called for summations, inviting the government to give its argument first.  The judge cautioned the members that the argument of attorneys was not evidence – only their point of view of what the evidence has shown in relation to the law – and that they must make their decision solely on the evidence that had been presented to them.  Then he handed the floor to Major Brinkman, who approached the podium which had been placed in front of the jury box.  On it, he set a stack of papers which was the outline of his presentation.  He cleared his throat and began.

   “Thank you, Your Honor, esteemed members.  Captain Theodore and I would like to thank you on behalf of the government for the patience you’ve shown throughout this trial.  Your task, gentlemen, is an arduous one.  It is to consider all the evidence you have heard in this trial, judge the credibility of each of the witnesses and make a determination in your own minds as to what really happened on 22 June 2004.  Bear in mind that it is not your function to decide the guilt or innocence of any other person involved in the incident – only the accused.”  

Brinkman jetted an accusatory look at Ryan, who absorbed it as Brent had instructed, showing no anger, and facing his accuser straight on.

   “As I told you in the beginning, this is a very simple case.  On 22 June 2004, when members of Charlie Company invaded the village of al-Nasr, they didn’t receive any fire.  They only found unresisting and unarmed men and women.  This evidence is undisputed.  The judge will instruct you that murder is when a person, without justification or excuse, kills a human being when he has: 1) a premeditated design to kill; or 2) intends to kill or inflict great bodily harm; 3) is engaged in an act which is dangerous to others and evinces a wanton disregard of human life; or 4) is engaged in the perpetration of a burglary, sodomy, rape, robbery or aggravated arson.

   “Let’s look at Specification One of the charge – that Captain Bennington did, on 22 June 2004, shoot and kill an unarmed Iraqi man.  The first issue we need to prove is criminal intent, and we can do that by either proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Captain Bennington formulated an intent to kill the victim, or that he was engaged in a dangerous activity and who had a wanton disregard for human life.”

   Brinkman paused, making direct eye contact with the members.  They stared back without showing emotion; twelve poker faces who were guarding thoughts they didn’t dare reveal.  Ryan, facing his accuser head on, kept his eyes on Brinkman, glancing only several times to check on his wife, who was dabbing her eyes with Kleenex.  He had thought more than once of just pleading guilty and letting her get on with her life.  But this was the home stretch, and Ryan was not a quitter.

   “Gentlemen, when Captain Bennington entered that home, armed with an automatic rifle, at the very minimum, he engaged in a dangerous activity.  The unprovoked shooting of an unarmed man, if not demonstrative of an intent to kill, certainly also, at the very minimum, exhibits a wanton disregard for human life.  But let’s look one step further.  When he shot that unarmed man, Captain Bennington made a split second decision, and that decision was whether to kill the man or not.  By deciding to kill an unarmed man, who posed no threat to Captain Bennington whatsoever, he crossed that line – he made that decision to kill.  The judge will instruct you that, with respect to the charge of premeditated murder, it makes no difference whether Captain Bennington formulated that intent to kill a half-second before he shot his victim or three months or three years before that.”

   As Brinkman argued, Brent tried to read the faces of the members, which is something that is usually impossible to do.  Brent had often hired a jury consultant to help select and evaluate jurors, but, in this case, since all the members were military officers, it would have served no purpose.  They all had combat experience and they all had given orders sending men into perilous and deathly situations.  This is what Brent was counting on.  

To judge whether a soldier is guilty of a war crime, you need a judge who knows war.  All the members had worked up the ranks in various wars.  In the case of the president, Lieutenant General Gerald Rainey, he had cut his teeth on war the first time in Vietnam, one of the most vicious guerilla wars the US Army had ever fought.  Brent and Brody focused on Brinkman’s argument, taking copious notes for rebuttal, as they would have only one chance to make their points.

   “The defense has raised the issue that Captain Bennington’s state of mind was such that he could not have formulated a premeditated intent to kill.  The judge will instruct you that, under the law, a man can be suffering from a mental condition which could have deprived him of the ability to premeditate, which would require you to find him not guilty of premeditated murder.  But that is not the evidence in this case.  Dr. Rendauer did not testify that Captain Bennington lacked the ability to formulate an intent to kill.  He testified that he lacked the ability to disobey the orders of Colonel Parker.  Gentlemen, this is not a defense to premeditated murder.  Even if  Colonel Parker did give such an order, which the evidence does not support, Dr. Rendauer – the defense’s own expert witness – testified that Captain Bennington knew the difference between right and wrong at the time he pulled that trigger!  His own men have testified that he was not acting crazy that day, and that he appeared to be in control of his faculties.  Given this evidence, there can be no dispute that Captain Bennington is guilty of premeditated murder in the first specification.

   “Turning to Specification Two of the charges, Captain Bennington is also responsible for the murder of the nine other Iraqi men who were killed because he commanded the squads of the men who shot them.  The law of command responsibility, as the judge will also instruct you, says that a military commander has complete and overall responsibility for all activities within his unit, and if he knowingly participates in the criminal acts of his men or knowingly fails to intervene and prevent those acts when he had the ability to do so, he is responsible for those crimes committed by his men.

   “In this case, gentlemen, Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions prohibits the murder of innocent civilians.  Captain Bennington authorized and participated in these murders…” Brinkman pounded his fist on the podium for emphasis as he continued, “By ordering his men to kill all military age males in the homes they encountered.”  

   Major Brinkman summarized in detail each piece of the evidence as seen through his eyes for the members.  He was thorough, methodical and logical in his presentation.  He blasted the psychological defense to pieces as a story constructed from pure fantasy, and directly contradictory to the opinion of the government’s expert witness.  He dismissed the defense’s claims that US policy dictated the killing of Iraqi men of military age as conspiracy theory and pointed out that Colonel Parker had testified that he never gave such an order.   Finally, like a salesman calling for a sale, he called for action.

   “There has been no legal excuse shown for the killings.  Captain Bennington was not acting in self-defense.  He was not acting in the defense of another.  This was a ruthless and unnecessary mass murder and you gentlemen have the responsibility and the duty to find Captain Bennington guilty of premeditated murder.  Thank you.”








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY SEVEN 
Ryan was visibly shaken.  Brinkman had made a strong and convincing argument and the points of it had pierced his skin surely as bullets and were lying in the pit of his stomach.  Brody patted his arm and Brent leaned over and whispered, “It’s going to be okay, Ryan.  Now they’re going to see what we’ve got.”

 And I hope it works.

   All the groundwork had been laid for Ryan’s acquittal.  There was nothing left to be done except for Brent to walk through it for the members.  They were all men who had commanded others to kill.  Certainly, they would understand Ryan’s position better than anyone in the courtroom.  Brent took to the podium with a one-page outline, set it down and looked directly at the members.  

   “Your Honor, honorable members of the court, good afternoon.  I will come right to the point.  You, gentlemen, are officers of the United States Army, and you have all commanded soldiers.  Most of you have knowingly sent men like Ryan Bennington into harm’s way.  That is your job.

   “You all know what kind of training goes into being a soldier, and you all know that the mission of the United States Army is to win the nation’s wars by providing prompt, sustained land dominance across the full range of military operations.  Wars are a dangerous business.  They are a dangerous business because the object of a war is to destroy the enemy.  That means killing people.  And the enemy isn’t always easy to find, especially in the villages of Iraq and Afghanistan, where an insurgent warrior can appear in front of a soldier disguised as an innocent-looking civilian.  If the soldier’s judgment is off, even for half a second, that means he is dead.”  

Brent paused and let the words hang in the stuffy air of the courtroom like a corpse on the battlefield.

   “Moreover, in the course of this dangerous business, not just the enemy but innocent people also get killed.  In this insurgency, gentlemen, where you cannot tell the difference between an enemy and a civilian, an officer’s split second hesitation can be the difference between killing an innocent person or losing an entire platoon.”

   Brent covered each aspect of the evidence, being careful not to take too long on each item.  If he wasn’t conscientious and mindful of it and droned on too long, the members would simply turn off their brains to the rest of his argument.  

   “Captain Bennington testified that, during the invasion of Iraq, his platoon was ambushed by an Iraqi civilian who approached them, fell to her knees, and drew them into heavy fire and casualties.  This was not a civilian and their assumption that she was brought deathly consequences that almost wiped out their entire company.”  

   Brent paced to the counsel table as he spoke, picked up the US Army/Marine Corps Counter-insurgency Manual, and strolled back to the podium.  

   “The Department of Defense recognizes this problem, and what do they do?  They train and equip death squads to indiscriminately execute Sunnis.  They prepare a manual on how to handle the insurgency.”  He dropped the book onto the lectern with a thump. 

   “This manual did not exist in 2004 when Ryan Bennington was carrying out the orders of Colonel Parker.  It was developed by General Petraeus, the commander of coalition forces in Iraq in 2003, and the commander of the multi-national security transition Command in Iraq in 2004.  The same General Petraeus who went on to become the director of the CIA, and the same General Petraeus to whom Colonel Steelman, the architect of the Iraqi death squads reported.”

   This brought Brinkman to his feet.  “Objection, Your Honor!”  

Judge Leonard took the air out of his objection right away.  “This is argument, Major Brinkman.  I’ll allow it.” 

Brent was glad that Brinkman had objected.  Since Brent and Brody had remained silent throughout Brinkman’s argument, it made him look petty and like he had something to hide.  Better than that, it emphasized the point Brent was trying to make and also woke up any members who happened to be sleeping, daydreaming, or making their “to-do” lists for home or work.

   “In fact, as General Petraeus writes in his insurgency manual, ‘In 2003 most Army officers knew more about the US Civil War than they did about insurgency.’  As a result of this dilemma of how to fight the insurgency, the Department of Defense developed a deadly policy.  In 2004, that policy was in its germination stage.  It was an unwritten policy, a secret policy, and one that was in constant state of formation.  Gentlemen, we know what this policy was.”  Brent regarded the members and allowed them a brief intermission to absorb his point.

   “How do we know what the policy was?  We know from the testimony of other soldiers under other commanders, who were instructed that the rules of engagement were to kill every military age male in the target zone.  We know it from the testimony of Colonel Steelman, who testified that he was hired to train Iraqi commando police and reported directly to General Petraeus and to the Secretary of Defense.  And we know it from the policy of the Obama administration on targeted killings or drone strikes as a counter-terrorism measure.  Until 2013, this policy was that every adult male of military age in the target zone was presumed to be a combatant unless it was posthumously proven that he wasn’t!  

   “Captain Bennington was a soldier, gentlemen.  A soldier who did his duty, and that means he followed orders.  Judge Leonard will instruct you that the law excuses a soldier who obeys a superior officer’s criminal order unless the order’s illegality was immediately obvious to anyone on its face.  In this case, gentlemen, what did Ryan Bennington know about the order before he executed it?”

   Brent went to the whiteboard, drew a “1:” and wrote ‘Intelligence.’  “He knew that there was confirmed intelligence that the men in the village homes were al-Qaeda operatives.”  He wrote ‘2: Armed and dangerous.’  “He knew that the men he would encounter were most probably armed and dangerous.  Why?  Because Colonel Parker told them to expect fire and to go in hot, which means armed and ready to eliminate any resistance by killing any suspected hostiles.”  He wrote: ‘3: JAG Review.’ “Finally, gentlemen, he knew that Colonel Parker’s order had most probably received a legal review by the JAG officer attached to his command.  Captain Bennington is not a lawyer.  On the question of legality, he was entitled to rely on Colonel Parker’s order which had received a lawyer’s blessing.  But Captain Bennington was also the commander of a unit of men whose lives were in potential danger on this mission.  Since we know that US policy at the time assumed any military age male in the zone of the particular operation was a combatant, how can we expect Captain Bennington to assume that this policy, or this order, was illegal?  We can’t.

   “What that order actually was is a question of fact for you to determine.  Colonel Parker says the order was ‘don’t fire unless threatened.’  All of the soldiers – all of them – have admitted in their testimony that it was to shoot to kill any military age male who was not actively surrendering.  And this is consistent with other orders given for raids on suspected Al-Qaeda operatives in the same theater.  But even if the order was to fire if threatened, all of the testimony of the men who shot their weapons in Operation Surgical Strike testified that they perceived a dangerous hostile coming at them when they made that decision to shoot.  This is not inconsistent with Colonel Parker’s order.

   “It should be very clear what happened in this case from what is not being said.  The raid was conducted after instructions were given to the entire platoon by Colonel Parker.  Every military age man in the homes marked by intelligence was killed except for those who surrendered. 

“Nothing, I repeat nothing, was done to correct or clarify the media reports that Al-Qaeda was responsible for the raid.  And absolutely no disciplinary action was taken against Captain Bennington for over nine years since the raid.  Nine years!  All of the men in the unit have testified that their orders were to kill all adult age males.  Someone is not telling the truth in this situation.  Perhaps we don’t know who that someone is yet, but one thing should be clear.  Captain Bennington was following orders, and he had no reason to believe that those orders were illegal.”

   Brent stepped in front of the podium, exposed to the officers before him.  

“Gentlemen, Ryan Bennington served his country.  In the process of that service, he went into battle on four separate deployments, the last of which was to fight an enemy with no face and no name – an insurgency in which it is almost impossible to distinguish friend from foe.  In doing so, he acted consistent with his training in the instruction of his men and in his own handling of the situation.  

   “On the 22nd of June 2004 in the village of al-Nasr, Captain Bennington went in hot, as ordered, and when a suspected insurgent made a move that he thought threatened his life and the lives of his men, he reacted in the manner that every good soldier would react – he shot his weapon in his own defense and the defense of the men on his team.  

“It is a shame that an innocent civilian was killed, and it is something that Ryan Bennington will have to live with every day of his life.  But, gentlemen, in the split second before he shot that gun, it was impossible for Ryan Bennington to determine if he was in the path of deadly harm or not – he stood his ground, for himself and for his men – and for this he cannot be found guilty.  Please, gentlemen, in the heart of every one of you there is the heart of a soldier.  As G.K. Chesterton said, ‘A true soldier fights not because he hates what is in front of him, but because he loves what is behind him.’  Captain Bennington was protecting his men.  You cannot let this boy go to prison.”

   Brent thanked the members and sat down at the counsel table.  Ryan touched his arm and nodded indiscernibly and Brent acknowledged it with unspoken assurances.  

   Brinkman was then invited to make a rebuttal argument – the prosecution’s traditional last word, wherein he tried to discredit all of the points Brent had articulated.  However, it seemed to Brent that the jury had heard enough.  Even though he would not be given a second chance to argue to them and point out all the inconsistencies of Brinkman’s rebuttal, they had heard all of Brent’s points and he felt confident that he and Brody had done the best job possible.  The trial would now move into its final and most dangerous phase – the verdict.








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY EIGHT 
Judge Leonard instructed the members on the law applicable to the case by reading from a set of instructions that both counsel had prepared, argued about, and agreed upon.  In a court-martial, the members’ verdict is called “findings.”  Whether it is waiting for a verdict or waiting for findings, it can be a most excruciating intermission.  

   After the judge dismissed the members to deliberate, Brent and Brody stayed in the courtroom until the regular afternoon break.  An expeditious verdict was unlikely, but neither one of them wanted to be far away if that improbable event should occur.

   As the court was closing, Brent motioned to Rebecca, who was dutifully waiting in the gallery, to wait for him as he briefed Maya Bennington.

   “There’s nothing left to do now but wait, Maya.  Our jobs have been done.”

   Maya choked back her tears.  “And you both did a wonderful job.  I know it’s in God’s hands now.”  Rebecca placed her hand consolingly on Maya’s elbow.

   “Well put, Mrs. Bennington,” said Brody.  Brent nodded.  “The court will notify us when they have a verdict, and they usually give a couple hours for us to get down here, so stay close and I’ll call you when we hear something.”

   As Brent parted from Maya, Ryan’s Army friends enveloped her like a cocoon.  Nobody gets left behind.

   Brody looked at Brent admiringly.  “Whatever happens next, I just wanted you to know that you did an extraordinary job.  I’d like to be able to argue like that.”

   “You can argue like that.  And remember, I couldn’t have done this without you.  Military law to me was like a foreign language.  Thank you.”  

Brent reached out to shake Brody’s hand.  Brody basked in the compliment as he took it.

“Thank you also for giving me that insight of the soldier in combat.  I could have never related to the jury – excuse me – the members without that insight.”

   “I’m happy to fight beside you anytime, Brent.”

   “The same goes for me.”








 
  


 CHAPTER FORTY NINE 
Brent and Rebecca spent the next three days in the Monterey area.  They cruised the 17-mile drive, in awe of what nature had done using the spectacular coastline as its palette.  They stopped for a box lunch and a bottle of red wine under the cover of a cypress tree growing out of a stone at Pebble Beach.

   “So I guess you’re my girlfriend, huh?”

   She smiled and her eyes looked down, revealing her long, dark eyelashes.  When she looked back up at him, he brushed her silky hair from her cheeks with his hand, holding her face, and brought it gently toward his.  He looked into her grey eyes and the sunlight gleaming through them turned them turquoise blue before she slowly closed them again and their lips met gently.  

   One kiss turned into a passionate refrain, and Brent felt lighter, as if he was on a cloud.  He drank in her scent, a mix of soft perfume and fine milled soap, and felt her warm and delicate lips in contact with his.  Finally, they reluctantly broke for air.

   “Well now I guess it’s official,” she declared, holding up her wine glass, nervously.  He raised his glass to hers, looking again into her sparkling eyes.  The sadness that had lingered for so long in them seemed to have departed.  The new Rebecca was simply irresistible.  Brent’s phone rang, drawing them back into the world.  He answered.

   “Yes.  Yes, we can.  Yes, thank you.”  Brent disconnected.

   “They’ve reached a verdict.”








 
  


 CHAPTER FIFTY 
News about the verdict had spread fast, filling up the gallery with a front row of reporters.  Missing from the front row were Ryan’s buddies.  Brent hoped that Maya had called them because he knew that Ryan needed them to be there.  From the Stars and Stripes to the Los Angeles Times, every media outlet seemed to be represented, not to mention the television crews which waited outside the base.  Good or bad, they were all poised to win the race of “who tells the story first,” as John Riechert had referred to it.  When the bailiffs brought Ryan out to his place and uncuffed him, he looked like a condemned man.  Sullen, he somberly took his place next to Brent and Brody and awaited his fate.  Maya nervously sat in the front row with the reporters, who respected her space but were observing her for their stories just the same.  Ryan surveyed the gallery quickly, and was relieved to see his friends sitting in the back.

   The military judge took the bench, called the court to order, and then the members took their seats.  There was no way to read their decision, and no point in trying.  In just a few minutes, Ryan, Brent, Brody and everyone in the courtroom would know it, and a few seconds after that it would be told to the world.  Brent wondered if someone in the media covering the verdict had been planted by Riechert to put the government’s “spin” on the story.  The members each took their seats, stone faced, like members of a firing squad.  Ryan watched them anxiously.  Brent felt the usual pit in his stomach that he felt when waiting for a jury verdict, but this one seemed more intense, like it was burning a hole in his stomach.  

   The judge called the court-martial to order.  “Mr. President, in the case of United States versus Bennington, have the members reached their findings?”

   General Rainey stood up.  “We have, Your Honor.”

   “The accused will rise.”

   Ryan stood up, with Brent and Brody at his side.  Brent could almost feel his heartbeat as the adrenaline shot through Ryan’s blood, his brain urging him to run as fast as he could for the exit and keep running.

   “The president will publish the findings.”

   The general paused, and looked at Ryan head-on.   There was a silent still in the courtroom and the air seemed to hang on it, stretching the moments of time and slowing it down.

 “Captain Ryan Bennington, this court-martial finds you not guilty of all specifications and charges.”

   Ryan felt faint and almost fell to his knees, and Brent and Brody instinctively hooked him by his elbows.  Tears silently tread down his cheeks.   He glanced over his shoulder at Maya, who had stood up and was smiling and crying at the same time.

   “Are your findings unanimous?”

   “No, Your Honor.”

   The judge then invited Major Brinkman to poll the members on their decision.  Two of the members polled confessed this was not their decision.  They would have found Ryan guilty.  In a civilian jury, this would have been a mistrial, or a hung jury and Ryan would have had to go through the entire ordeal again.  In the military world, Ryan would go free.

   “Captain Bennington, having been found not guilty of all charges, you are hereby discharged.”

   Ryan stood at attention, then snapped a salute to the military judge, who saluted back.  He then turned to the members and saluted them.  Only the Stars and Stripes reporter saw this display of respect for the court.  The other reporters had long since vanished from the gallery to get their stories out.

   Brent motioned for Maya, who came running up to the counsel table, crashing into Ryan in a reunion of two united souls and spirits.  Brent shook Brinkman’s and Theodore’s hands.  Even though they had lost, they appeared to be as happy as Brent and Brody.  

  As Ryan and Maya passed through the small swinging door which separated the well of the court from the gallery, Ryan embraced the pack of his Army buddies who had sat in for most of the trial.  Together, they waded out into a sea of reporters waiting for them in the corridor.  Brent answered their questions, planting his own “spin” on the story that had to be told – the story of a soldier who had faced the devil for love of country and had been prosecuted for it – the story of young men and women sent into harm’s way for a handful of government connected profiteers called defense contractors.  

   “This is the story of a soldier who, like many in Iraq and Afghanistan, followed the orders of his superiors.  This man fought for his life and the lives of his brothers-at-arms.  He fought bravely as long as he had the means to resist, and he made sure that every man under his command, dead or alive, came home.  

   “What he was ordered to do may seem repulsive to some, but it is important to know that, until the architects of this war are called to task, our young people will continue to die in faraway lands for the benefit of a small few.  When fine soldiers such as Captain Bennington are sent to war on false pretenses, such as the Iraq war, it is truly an American tragedy.  Captain Bennington has my deepest respect and Captain Brody and I are truly honored to have fought by his side in this courtroom.”  

   When the reporters finally cleared out, Brent said good-bye to Brody, offered his arm to Rebecca, and they walked to the parking lot together.  After they had left the building, Rebecca stopped and turned to Brent.

   “What will happen next?’ 

   “What do you want to happen next?”

   Rebecca blushed and looked down, then back up at Brent.  “I meant with Ryan and Maya.”

   “They’ll pick up the pieces, thank each other and God for getting their life back, and get on with it.”

   “And us?”

   Brent beamed.  “I thought we could just get in your car and drive north.  There are miles and miles of beautiful coastline up there.”

   Rebecca returned the smile and, content with the plan, slipped her hand back into the crook of Brent’s elbow.








 
  


 CHAPTER FIFTY ONE 
The Bennington case made world news headlines.  In the days after the verdict, several progressive senators were calling for a Congressional investigation.  It was all part of an ongoing discontent of the people.  They were upset at the imbalance of the economy, rising unemployment, and the price tag for a war looming as a debt they could not pay, the monetary part of which would be passed on to their children and grandchildren, and the losses of life that could never be repaid.  

   A reporter from Vice News broke a story based upon thousands of pages of documents he had requested during the trial under the Freedom of Information Act, including The Riechert Group’s multi-million dollar contract, Colonel Steelman’s contract, and other agencies funded by taxpayer money, such as The National Endowment for Democracy, an organization some senators were labeling a front for illegal activities, including assisting the overthrow of sovereign governments in other countries, and exposing the NED’s subsidiary, Freedom House, which was funded by multinational corporations and defense contractors like Northrop Grumman and Wall Street banks like Goldman Sachs.  

   There were exposés written on death squads, drone strikes, and revelations that the very same ISIS the politicians had all vowed to defeat came to power as a result of the government’s blunders in the Iraq war, the insurgency that followed it and the failure to follow the advice given to the Bush and Obama administrations by their generals.  That spilled over into questioning the government’s role in the Syrian conflict.  

   The United States seemed to be supporting rebel factions fighting against Bashar al-Assad that the Russians were calling “terrorists” and which could easily turn the weapons they had been given by the US against our own soldiers in the event of a future conflict.  Perception managers and information warriors like Riechert whose job it was to sell the public on a regime change in Syria made sure to refer to the terrorists who fought against the regime as “rebels” or “militants.”  The anti-war movement which had fallen asleep in the 80s had suddenly come out of hibernation.








 
  


 CHAPTER FIFTY TWO 
Brent pulled into the palm-lined parking lot of Ortega Park.

   “What are we doing here?”

   Brent switched off the engine.  “I have a surprise for you.”

   He exited the car, opened the door for Rebecca.  Hand-in-hand, he led her to the basketball courts.  She could see two very tall black men and a white man playing basketball.  As they came closer, it became clear to her who the white man was.

   “It’s Ryan!  But who is he playing?”

   “He’s playing both of them.  They’re probably from the UC Santa Barbara basketball team.”

   They took a courtside seat in the stand with Maya and the same three friends of Ryan they had seen in the courtroom, along with their wives.  Alexandra and Kristina were running around with a bunch of kids, playing tag as the adults cheered Ryan on.  He looked up from the game, waved to them and they waved back.  

   Then he returned to the business at hand.  His two opponents were laughing at first and appeared not to be taking the game very seriously.  As they watched, Ryan went through both of them to the hoop and landed a layup against the backboard.  That changed the pace of the contest as the two players tried to get the ball from Ryan, to no avail.  Before long, it was a furious contest, which finally ended in an embarrassing victory for Ryan.  He shook hands with his opponents and approached Brent and Rebecca, holding the ball against his waist.

   “Hey, guys.”

   “Hi, Ryan.  That’s some pretty impressive playing,” Brent said.

   “Why did you never go pro?”

   “Couldn’t get a scholarship playing.  I wanted to get an education.  The rest is history, I guess.”

   “Do you ever regret your decision?”

   “To join the Army?  Getting my ass kicked in basic training?  Getting shot at?  Crawling on my belly in the dirt wondering if I’m going to be alive long enough to see my wife again?”

   Ryan lamented a moment over his fallen comrades as he looked at his friends, who nodded in silent agreement.  There was grief in their absence, but without the service, he never would have known them.  He shook his head and smiled.

   “No, I don’t regret it at all.  Even with my PTSD and all the shit I just went through, I think it made me a better man.  I certainly don’t take my freedom for granted like most people.  And I got something out of it that is irreplaceable – family.  See how those guys risked their lives to come to court and pitch for me?  That’s how it is.  When I was down and out, all the guys pitched in to help.  We help each other.  That kind of friendship – brotherhood, really – is rare in this life.”

   “Well said, Ryan.”  Brent shook Ryan’s hand and Rebecca nodded.  The game over, they joined the Bennington celebration, happy to be included as a part of Ryan’s extended family.  








 
  


 AFTERWORD 
One of our most distinguished and highest ranking military men, Major General Smedley Butler said, “War is a racket.  It always has been.  It is possibly the oldest, easily the most profitable, surely the most vicious.  It is the only one international in scope.  It is the only one in which the profits are reckoned in dollars and the losses in lives.”  

Since the protests of the Vietnam War, it has been “business as usual” under every government since the Reagan administration.  Besides the war in Iraq, which was based on one of the most massive deceptions in recent history for which nobody has been held accountable, and which can be said to be a self-fulfilling prophecy (we now have ISIS and Al Qaeda in Iraq thriving where it did not exist before) we are seeing this business rear its ugly head in the conflicts in Syria and the buildup of NATO in Eastern Europe and military advice to the Ukraine, to fight the non-existent threat and fantasy of Russian aggression.

“Perception Management” was pioneered in the 1980s under the Reagan administration in order to avoid the public opposition to future wars that was seen during the Vietnam War.[1]  The United States Department of Defense defines perception management as: “Actions to convey and/or deny selected information and indicators to foreign audiences to influence their emotions, motives, and objective reasoning as well as to intelligence systems and leaders at all to influence official estimates, ultimately resulting in foreign behaviors and official actions favorable to the originator's objectives.  In various ways, perception management combines truth projection, operations, security, cover and deception, and psychological operations.”

   At the onset of the Iraq war in 2003, journalists were embedded with US troops as combat cameramen.  The reason for this was not to show what was happening in the war, but to present the American view of it.  Perception management was used to promote the belief that weapons of mass destruction were being manufactured in Iraq to promote its military invention, even though the real purpose behind the war was regime change.[2]

   Alvin and Heidi Toffler cite the following as tools for perception management in their book, War and Anti-War: 1) accusations of atrocities, 2) hyperbolic inflations, 3) demonization and dehumanization, 4) polarization, 5) claim of divine sanction, and 5) meta-propaganda.  

   In 2001, the Rendon Group, headed by John Rendon, was secretly granted a $16 million contract to target Iraq with propaganda.[3]  Rendon, who had been hired by the CIA to help create conditions to remove Saddam Hussein from power, is a leader in “perception management.”  Two months later, in December 2001, a clandestine operation performed by the CIA and the Pentagon produced false polygraph testimony of an alleged Iraqi civil engineer, who testified that he had helped Saddam Hussein and his men hide tons of biological, chemical and nuclear weapons.[4]  Of course, we now know there were no weapons of mass destruction hidden in Iraq.  

   A study by Professor Phil Taylor reveals the differences between the US and global media over the coverage of the war to be: 1) Pro-war coverage in the US made US media “cheerleaders” in the eyes of a watchful, more scrutinous global media; 2) Issues about the war were debated more in countries not directly affected by the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks; 3) The non-US media could not see the link between the “war on terror” and the “axis of evil;” and 4) The US media became part of the information operations campaign, which weakened their credibility in the eyes of global media.  

   President Bush himself admitted in a televised interview with Katie Couric on the CBS Evening News that, “One of the hardest parts of my job is to connect Iraq to the war on terror.”  Vice President Dick Cheney stated on Meet the Press, “If we’re successful in Iraq we will have struck a major blow right at the heart of the base, if you will, the geographic base of the terrorists who have had us under assault for many years, but most especially on 9/11.”

   Prior to 2002, the CIA was the Bush Administration’s main provider of intelligence on Iraq.  In order to establish the connection between Iraq and terrorists, in 2002, the Pentagon established the “Office of Special Plans” which was, in reality, in charge of war planning against Iraq, and designated by Defense Secretary Donald Rumsfeld to be the provider of intelligence on Iraq to the Bush Administration.  Its head, the Undersecretary of Defense, Douglas J. Feith, appointed a small team to review the existing intelligence on terrorist networks, in order to reveal their sponsorship states, among other things.  In 2002, Deputy Secretary of Defense Paul Wolfowitz wrote a memo to Feith entitled, “Iraq Connections to Al-Qaeda,” which stated that they were “not making much progress pulling together intelligence on links between Iraq and Al-Qaeda.”  Peter W. Rodman, the Assistant Secretary of Defense for International Security, established a “Policy Counter Terror Evaluation Group” (PCTEG) which produced an analysis of the links between Al-Qaeda and Iraq, with suggestions on “how to exploit the connections.”[5]

   “In February 2003, when former secretary of state Colin Powell addressed the U.N., he described “a sinister nexus between Iraq and the Al-Qaeda network,” stating that “Iraq today harbors a deadly network headed by Zarqawi’s forces, an associate and collaborator of Osama bin Laden,” and that Zarqawi had set up his operations, including bioweapons training, with the approval of the Saddam Hussein regime.  This has since been discredited as false.  However, in October 2004, due to the fact that the Iraqi insurgency was catching on as a cause in jihadist circles, Zarqawi pledged his allegiance to Al-Qaeda.  This was after his group had exploded a massive bomb outside a Shiite mosque in August 2003, killing one of Iraq’s top Shiite clerics and sparking warfare between the Shiite and Sunni communities.  The tipping point toward a full-blown civil war was the February 2006 attack on the Golden Mosque in Samarra, which is credited to Haythem Sabah al-Badri, a former member of Saddam Hussein’s Republican Guard, who joined Al-Qaeda after the US invasion.  This gave birth to the AQI, Al-Qaeda in Iraq[6] 

   General Wesley Clark, the former NATO Allied Commander and Joint Chiefs of Staff Director of Strategy and Policy, stated in his book, Winning Modern Wars, “As I went back through the Pentagon in November 2001, one of the senior military staff officers had time for a chat.  Yes, we were still on track for going against Iraq, he said.  But there was more.  This was being discussed as part of a five-year campaign plan, he said, and there were a total of seven countries, beginning with Iraq, then Syria, Lebanon, Libya, Iran, Somalia and Sudan.”

   In 2004, John Negroponte, who had served as ambassador to Honduras from 1981 to 1985, was appointed as ambassador to Iraq with the specific mandate of implementing the “Salvador Option,” a terrorist model of mass killings by US-sponsored death squads.[7]

   In 2004, Donald Rumsfeld sent Colonel James Steele to serve as a civilian advisor to Iraqi Paramilitary special police commandos known as the “Wolf Brigade.”  Steele was a counter-insurgency specialist who was a member of a group of US Special Forces advisors to the Salvadoran Army and trained counter-insurgency commandos in South America, who carried out extreme abuses of human rights.[8]  The Wolf Brigade was created and established by the United States and enabled the re-deployment of Saddam Hussein’s Republican Guard.  The Brigade was later accused by a UN official of torture, murder and the implementation of death squads.[9]  The techniques used by these counter-insurgency squads were described as “fighting terror with terror,” which was previously done in other theaters, such as Vietnam and El Salvador.[10]

   The use of death squads began in 2004 and continued until the winding down of combat operations in 2008.  In addition to the death squads, regular military units were often ordered to “kill all military age males” during certain operations; “dead-checking” or killing wounded resistance fighters; to call in air strikes on civilian areas; and 360-degree rotational fire on busy streets.  These extreme measures were justified to troops in Iraq by propaganda linking the people to terrorism.[11]

   Colonel Steele, with the help of Col. James Hoffman, set up torture centers, dispatching Shia militias to torture Sunni soldiers to learn the details of the insurgency.[12]  This has been attributed as a major cause of the civil war which led to the formation of ISIS.[13]

   The operation of death squads as counter-insurgency measures was also common knowledge at the time.[14]

   Private contractors, such as Steele, were often subject to different rules than the military forces they served and, in some cases, served with.  As of 2008, an estimated 155,286 private contractors were employed by the US on the ground in Iraq, compared to 152,275 troops.  The estimated annual cost for such contractors ballooned to $5 billion per year by 2010.[15]

   In August 2006, four American soldiers from a combat unit in Iraq testified in an Article 32 hearing that they had been given orders by their commanding officer, Colonel Michael C. Steele, to “kill all military age males.”[16]

   The “targeted killing” program that has been developed under President Obama’s watch is being hailed as the most effective tool against fighting terrorism.[17]  Unfortunately, no mention is made in the mainstream media of the innocent victims (collateral damage) caused by this assassination program, nor its lack of authority under international law.[18]  According to the journalist Glen Greenwald, all military age males in strike zones of the latest drone aircraft strike programs are considered militants unless it can be proved otherwise.  Some say this has resulted in more civilian casualties than has been reported by the government.[19][20] 

   This book is a fictional story, but it is based on hundreds of hours of Internet research and it postulates that death squads are specially formed for covert and clandestine operations of the United States and that, when the government is faced with a scandal, it selects a benign soldier as a scapegoat is not far-fetched, given the atrocities we have seen committed in the name of fighting terrorism.

   I would like to acknowledge First Sergeant George Gonzalez (Retired), formerly from New York City and now living in Michigan. Though 1SG Gonzalez did not fight in either Iraq or Afghanistan he helped me understand the spirit of the Warrior.  He taught me many things; soldiers follow orders, they will never surrender as long as they have a means to resist, no man gets left behind and, most importantly, soldiers will come to each other's aid even though years have passed since they last served together.  1SG Gonzalez helped me to understand the substantial responsibilities of wearing the uniform of a soldier.  He was my technical advisor and is my friend.  Thanks to him for helping me “keep it real.”  

   I highly recommend Lieutenant General Hal Moore’s book, “We Were Soldiers Once and We Were Young,” which inspired me for the battle scenes in this book.  I would also like to acknowledge the sacrifices of whistleblowers like Chelsea Manning, who exposed FRAGO 242 and other violations of the law of armed conflict and Geneva Conventions at her own personal risk.  

Finally, this book, like the first in the series, was a departure from the typical legal thriller.  It also launched a new character, Robert Garcia, who is the main protagonist in the “Paladine Political Thriller Series.”  Robert, the assassin who could not return to society, returns to what he knows best – killing terrorists, in “Paladine,” a 2017 RONE Award winner and 2016 finalist in Publisher’s Weekly’s BookLife competition.  It is free for a limited time only, and I hope you enjoy it.

 One more thing…

   I hope you have enjoyed this book and I am thankful that you have spent the time to get to this point, which means you must have received something from reading it.  I would be honored if you would post your thoughts, and also leave a review.  Also, please visit my website for paperback discounts, advance sale notifications, and the best part – a free ebook.  Just go to: https://www.kennetheade.com/free-download/. I will never spam you.

Best regards,

Kenneth Eade

info@kennetheade.com 

 

CONTINUE THE ADVENTURES OF ROBERT GARCIA IN PALADINE

 “Beyond All Recognition” was the prequel to the award-winning “Paladine Political Thriller Series,” which continues the story of Robert Garcia.  
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 "In this well-written and fast-paced thriller, the author demonstrates skill not only with plot, but with character -- and character is what makes this book stand out. An ill-fated love story and an irresistible dog only deepen what could be just another hit-man-killing-jihadists story." --Publisher's Weekly

From the best-selling & award winning author critics hail as "one of the strongest thriller writers on our scene" comes the unforgettable story of an unlikely "anti-hero" in Book 1 of the five-book Paladine Series. Robert Garcia was an unremarkable man, tapped out of a promising military career to become a death squad assassin for the CIA. Retirement was not in the cards for Robert, so he disappeared instead. After he comes out of the cold to answer the call to aid a fellow soldier facing a bum rap, he is thrust back into the spotlight when he kills a terrorist, thereby saving dozens of lives. He finds gainful employment in the slaughter of jihadists, which sparks an urban legend that Robert, a dangerous and unfeeling assassin, is a living paladin, whose mission is to rid the earth of evil for the betterment of mankind. Social media gives him the name: "Paladine" and God help whoever gets between him and his next target.

 

Excerpt

 





 
  


 CHAPTER ONE 
The apartment obviously belonged to a bachelor, but it was neat and orderly, like a military man’s freshly made bed.  The cushions on the couch were soft and comfortable and the Colonial style furniture practical and functional, rustic but not antique.  The décor was earth tone and neutral, and the walls were peppered with tasteful framed prints, replicas of art that said nothing about the occupant.  They were just hanging there so the walls would not be bare.  There were no framed family photos on the tables, no stacks of well-worn books and no magazines.  It was almost as if nobody lived there.

   Robert Garcia finished putting all his essential things in his backpack and took one last look around, not for sentiment, but to make sure he left no evidence of his real identity behind.  He was an unremarkable man.  Other men, the exceptional types, could never be forgotten.  Men of striking, imposing persuasion, or those with a certain superior intellect or cleverness.  Robert held none of those attributes but, if you had the misfortune to have him touch your life in any way, and were fortuitous enough to live after the experience, he would be indelibly etched in your memory.

  Robert’s characteristics were fine-drawn, precise.  He could drift in on the night air with only a whisper of the wind, and then disappear into the shadows, the only place where he ever felt secure and content.  At five-foot-eleven, dark-haired with a touch of grey around the edges, he was a chameleon that blended in with most crowds. But under the ordinary clothing he wore he had the body of a herculean powerhouse, chiseled and ripped.  Née John Richards, Jr. to an American military career man who had taken a Lebanese  wife.  Since Robert had been old enough to walk, he had marched in the footsteps of his father, a military man.  When his country came calling, John Richards, Jr. proudly answered that call and served with pride as his father’s son, the nephew of his Great Uncle Sam.  There was never any question of it.  Working up the ranks the hard way, he made Captain, and it wasn’t long before his special traits and abilities landed him his first secret assignment, along with his first alias – Malik Abdul.

   Malik was a name that had fit Robert well.  He never did look or behave like a John Richards.  That was a name his Anglo Father, John Richards, Sr., had insisted on giving the child and his mother dutifully went along with it.  Eventually, it was adept profiling that helped Malik recognize his destiny.  His swarthy skin and his second language – Arabic – made Malik a valuable asset to his country.   Beyond his language prowess and physical attributes, Malik possessed a unique set of special skills, forged by intensive training and honed to perfection with experience.  Malik and his band of assassins were utilized only in the most extreme of circumstances – covert operations for well-known agencies who called themselves by three-letter acronyms – and the unknown ones as well.  

   He had tried to retire, tried his hand at transforming his life into the “normal” one of Robert Garcia, and had dutifully taken the number 4 train Monday through Friday, from his little apartment in El Barrio to Two Penn Plaza, where he worked at a “regular  job.”  But Malik’s past had beckoned.  It was a call he could not resist.  He had come out into the open to testify for a fellow soldier in a court-martial trial who had been given a bum rap.  About the only thing Malik had left which resembled a conscience was the soldier’s creed.  He had no morals, no principles, except for those which were burned into his hardwiring like a brand on a cow: The mission comes first; never accept defeat; never quit; and never leave a fallen comrade.  

   Robert had come back from the court-martial trial on the coast a ball of nerves, constantly looking over his shoulder.  Now that the record had been set straight, Robert’s life was in a state of distress and disquietude.  

 I can’t go back to the job.  They’re probably watching for me there.  

   Robert also couldn’t return to the woman he had been seeing regularly, and who had given him hope that he actually could rejoin society after all that he had seen and done, and he couldn’t go back to this quaint little brownstone on 118th Street, between 2nd and 3rd Avenues in Spanish Harlem that he had called home for the past five years.  

 I only have to come back one last time, he thought, as he shut the door behind him.

***

Now that Robert had exposed himself and his new identity to set the record straight it was, once again, time to slide back into the shadows.  Without a glimpse of emotion, he left everything behind that he had collected over the years –the furniture, the clothing, the little knick-knacks reminiscent of the life he had simulated.  He also left something in the apartment that had never been there before, a product of his life’s work – something that he had not produced for the past five years – the body of a dead man, five-foot-eleven, olive-skinned and dark-haired, a dead-ringer for Robert.  He took one last look at the life of Robert Garcia as he threw the match on the floor and then slipped away.    








 
  


 CHAPTER TWO 
Robert checked his wallet and leafed through the bills that he had saved up.  

 Need to think, need a plan.  

   No operation, including the one he called his own life, could ever move forward without one.  His stash would only last so long, and he would need money.  He had spent a good chunk of the currency he had saved on his new driver’s license and passport.  He pondered the idea of using the passport to go to war zones or conflict areas – anywhere he could pick up some mercenary work – the kind of jobs he was really good at.  

   Robert looked at the passport and chuckled as he thought of his new name – Julio Ignacio.  

 Sounds like two first names.  

 Now that he had a Spanish name, he made a mental note to perfect his Spanish, and considered his next move as he sat in the orange, molded plastic bench, hunched over his Big Mac at the greasy, sticky orange table at McDonald’s.  

   It was the busiest hour of the day, full of the laughter and shrieking of children, the wailing of babies, and the shuffling of businesspeople trying to fit a quick bite into their busy workday.  He watched a young mother push her toddler down into his seat and spoon-feed him bites of a hamburger while he was playing with the action figure that came with the happy meal. 

   Another baby was crying and banging the metal tray of his high chair, but Robert only heard one sound, – the metallic click of a weapon being cocked back.

   In a fraction of a second, in one well-oiled motion, Robert withdrew his 9mm Glock, which he kept on his person at all times, turned in the direction of the sound with lightning speed, and fired three shots at the young man standing between the glass doors who was holding an AK-47 assault rifle aimed at the crowd – one in head and two in the chest.  The man crumpled to the floor before he was able to shout “Allahu Akbar” and the AK-47 clacked down in front of his lifeless body.

   Amid the screams and frantic movements of the throng, Robert again slipped away into oblivion.  He would soon discover there would be no need to think about a plan anymore – in that one twist of fate, it had been made for him.  

***

While the conventional news media was trying to get a handle on what had happened, dozens of people were texting and tweeting their version of what they had witnessed.  Instagrams of the dead terrorist and videos of his body on the floor with the assault rifle in front of it went viral.  

   The final story was pieced together from bloggers, who reported that the attempted “McDonald’s massacre” had been foiled by a miracle man, a lone, armed soldier who had somehow spotted the 22-year-old terrorist, neutralized him before he could deliver his deadly payload, and slipped away like a super hero without claiming any of the accolades.  Internet reports melded with the eyewitness accounts and social media gossip.  The mysterious rescuer was hailed as a hero, a paladin in the urban folklore culture of the Millennials, whose minds infused what most people knew as real with the virtual reality of video gaming.  

   Robert’s identity was unknown, but that didn’t stop a prominent blogger from giving him the name of: Paladine.  It was an honorable name, but Robert didn’t deserve it.  In the underground pop culture of the lost generation, a paladin was a holy knight, a class of warrior that was fully devoted to kindness and ridding the universe of evil.  Paladins are said to fear nothing because evil fears them.  That much may have been true about Robert, but he would never be this person, this Paladine.  He would never be the man in the white hat or the knight in shining armor.  A warrior, yes, that he was, but he could not be one of the “good guys.”  Robert had seen too much, done too much.  Killing had turned into just a way of life for Robert.  He simply killed whomever his instincts told him to.  He had tried to fit into society, and what did it do for him?  He was disillusioned and discouraged, and that made him even more dangerous than he normally was.  Robert was an assassin, plain and simple, a killer who could waste five police officers while going after his target without batting an eye and chalk it up to “collateral damage.” 

   But there was something else that made Robert even more treacherous.  He had this itch that he had not scratched in a very long while.  With the McDonald’s shooter, Robert had scratched that itch until it had festered and burned, and now the only remedy was to kill again.








 
  


 CHAPTER THREE 
The conference room at the NCTC, the National Counterterrorism Center in McLean, Virginia, was filled with the suited chiefs of the “who’s who” of government alphabet soup – the heads of the NSA, CIA, FBI, Department of Homeland Security and Department of Defense were all there.  The only one missing was the president, who had issued an order to examine the nation’s readiness against “homegrown” terrorist attacks, and the McDonald’s attack was right on the top of the list.  Getting them to talk to one another was no small task for NCTC Director Nathan Anderson.  

   Anderson did not look like any of his acronymic counterparts.  Except for his G-Man style grey suit, which one usually expected to see worn by an FBI agent, he could have passed for a businessman in any executive office in New York.  He was a career bureaucrat who had come originally from the State Department, and had served in various capacities at the center since its inception after 9/11.  He had also done a stint advising the president and the National Security Council on counterterrorism.  Under Anderson, the agency had built the best database of suspected terrorists in the world, but there was one problem with it – they could not go after terrorists themselves.  They had no enforcement capability.  All they could do was pass the data on to appropriate enforcement agencies, like the FBI and the CIA, who considered the NCTC to be superfluous, and Anderson no more than a data manager.  

   Tall and with an imposing frame, Anderson had a permanently serious look on his face.  After all, his work was vital and indispensable to the security of the United States of America, and he felt emasculated to have all this data and be powerless to do anything with it.  Once again, in the meeting, he tried to impress upon his colleagues the need to make regular use of the data to sweep up suspected terrorists for questioning and step up surveillance.  The McDonald’s attack showed that the United States was vulnerable to the so-called “homegrown” lone-wolf terrorist attacks, where, instead of being planned by ISIS or Al-Qaeda, a young, recently radicalized jihadist would take matters in his own hands to kill as many infidels as he possibly could, finishing the act with his own death.  Traditional law enforcement methods did not encompass looking for and apprehending these new domestic jihadists, who were either recruited by or answered the 2014 call of ISIS to: “Kill any salibis you can find.  You can use anything.  For example, a car.  Process your target.  The bigger the better.  But if it’s difficult, it’s more important in jihad to simplify it and to do it sooner… Video the process.  Run over them while passing… If you can kill a disbelieving American or European – especially the spiteful and filthy French – or an Australian, or a Canadian, or any other disbeliever … including the citizens of the countries that entered into a coalition against the Islamic State, then rely upon Allah, and kill him in any manner or way however it may be.”

   “Didn’t you have a file on this kid – Abdul Moussef?” asked Bill Carpenter, Director of the FBI.

   Anderson sighed, and ran his hand through his grey moustache and beard, then shook an accusatory hand at the group.  “That’s the problem with our procedures, Bill.  We do have a report on Moussef and it went out to everybody, including the FBI and local law enforcement in New York.  He’s listed in TIDE[21] and in your own TSDB[22].”

   That accusatory hand came crashing down on the table.  

   “God damn it, doesn’t anyone pay attention to these things?”

   Anderson could see that his outburst was not well taken.  Each of the men at the table had been appointed by the president, and each thought his own job to be the most important.  They did not take kindly to being criticized by a man they considered to be nothing more than a data collector.

   As the meeting proceeded, Anderson became more and more impatient.  This show and tell wasn’t going to help him with his directive – to lead the nation’s effort to combat terrorism and integrate all instruments of national power to ensure unity of effort.  Pointing fingers and passing the buck were not going to ensure any kind of unity – only dissension.  

   “You got anything on this ‘Paladine’ fella?” asked Carpenter.  

   “Our databases are coming up with nothing.  He’s a ghost.”

   “Well, he’s a ghost we have to catch.  We don’t want vigilantes out there running around with guns, shooting down suspected terrorists.  We’ll get him.  I’ve got my best agents assigned to the job.”

   “With all due respect, Bill, he did you guys a favor.”  Anderson bit his lower lip.  They just couldn’t change their mindset.  To them, the “case” was Paladine, the murderer of  a young jihadist – never mind that he had prevented the murder of dozens of innocents – instead of the next terrorist, lurking out there, with his finger on the trigger or detonator switch, waiting to make his next deadly move.  That’s how the FBI worked, on a case-by-case basis.  In the war on terrorism, Anderson felt a more broad-stroke approach was warranted.

***

Bryce Williamson had built his empire from the ground up.  He had invested well, weathered all the major financial crises of the late 20th and early 21st centuries, and was able to retire a rich man.  His $30 million penthouse apartment in the city of San Francisco was ultra-modern, but garnished with classical French and Italian furniture that had been purchased from Christie’s and Sotheby’s.  Once handcrafted for royalty, the richly ornamented antiques from the Ancient Regime of varnished wood and sleek, slender, delicate legs were works of art in and of themselves.  To match the period, on his walls hung the true artistic masterpieces of Van Gogh, Monet and Pissarro.  Hidden in a masterfully hand-painted cabinet was an instrument that tied Williamson’s furnishings to the modern world – a television, which was spewing out entertainment called “news.”  All the talk was about the mysterious vigilante they were calling: Paladine.

   Williamson’s ears perked to the story as he attempted to drown his sorrows with shots of expensive scotch.  This had been his pastime since retiring.  That and a long battle with lung cancer, to which he had eventually gracefully conceded.        

   Williamson had reached a pinnacle in his professional and financial life, only to find that he had nobody to share that wealth, or life, with.  His only son, John, had died in a horrible terrorist attack in San Francisco in 2006.  His beloved flesh and blood, the heir to his legacy, had been wiped out by a jihadist who had run down a bunch of people on a crowded San Francisco sidewalk.  Bryce couldn’t cope with the loss and it didn’t take long for grief to turn to outrage.  He pulled all his well-paid strings for action – the police, his congressman, even his local senator – but the scum who killed his son was found not guilty by reason of insanity and was now languishing in a state mental hospital instead of the gas chamber.  Bryce’s anger, like his cancer, had metastasized and incensed him to the point of action.  Others, his peers, had amassed great wealth and had created their own charitable foundations.  Start a cancer foundation!  Do something good for the world!  They all had told him the same thing.   Coughing, he pushed the glass away, grabbed the remote control, and flipped around, searching for more news reports about the foiled McDonald’s’ attack and the mysterious, elusive Paladine.

   Bryce turned his attention to the screen.  The news commentator, an above-average looking woman, was summarizing the comments from ISIS about the stymied McDonald’s attack.  She was interpreting the videotaped comments of the ISIS spokesman, who said Abdul Moussef was a hero, a martyr, and called upon every jihadist to kill as many American infidels as possible.  He also vowed that they would hunt down, crucify and behead the one known as Paladine.  Williamson decided right then and there what legacy he would leave to the world, while at the same time extracting his revenge against the killer of his son and his mentors. 
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